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Our new store is a reflection not just of our innovative spirit, but also our belief in the future and our respect
and commitment to our customers and the next generation of jewellery lovers.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (CONTINUED)
HBHME(E)

For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year

ended ended ended ended ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HZE2024%F | #HZE2023F  HZE202F  #HE2021F  EHE20204F
3A31AH 3A31H8 3A31H 3A318 3A318
LLEE IEFE IEFE IFFE IEFE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (HK$’M
FEBERR(BEEERT)
Turnover EER 2,655 2,591 2,768 2,649 2,914
Profit/(loss) before tax BBAER,(BR) (348) (47) 61 M (60)
Profit/(loss) for the year REFRF(FE) (374) (72) 15 (44) (90)
Profit/(loss) attributable to  ANA B A AEIEREF]
owners of the company (E#8) (374) an 16 (44) (90)
PER SHARE (HK$)
SR (Bx)
Earnings/(loss) BH(58) (1.50) (0.29) 0.06 (0.18) (0.36)
Dividend [N Nil Nil 0.020 Nil Nil
Dividend payout ratio R B L& Nil Nil 32% Nil Nil
Net assets attributable to RAREA ANEEFEE
owners of the Company 2.22 3.59 4.21 3.78 3.61
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (HK$’M)
FREMBRRER CB¥EER)
No. of shares ('M Shares) BRHRE (BER) 249 249 249 249 249
Total equity iyt 553 893 1,048 942 900
Borrowings B 1,076 1174 920 989 1,014
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEED 180 348 355 379 337
Net gearing ratio FRELE 109% 51% 17% 31% 49%
Market capitalisation & 212 336 262 209 224
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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COMPANY NAME
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Chui Chi Yun, Robert (retired on 27 September 2023)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Yeung Yuk Lun (appointed on 27 May 2024)
Ng Yi Kum, Estella (resigned on 27 May 2024)
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Yau On Yee, Annie
Yeung Yuk Lun (appointed on 27 May 2024)
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Chow Chee Wai, Christopher (Chairman)

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael
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Chui Chi Yun, Robert (retired on 27 September 2023)
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Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Yau On Yee, Annie

Alex Chan (appointed on 21 June 2023)

Chui Chi Yun, Robert (retired on 27 September 2023)
Ng Yi Kum, Estella (resigned on 27 May 2024)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman)
Chow Chee Wai, Christopher
Yau On Yee, Annie
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Yau On Yee, Annie (Chairman)
Ng Yi Kum, Estella (resigned on 27 May 2024)
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery
(International) Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”), | hereby present the annual report and consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year”).

Following the progressive worldwide scraping of pandemic restrictions in
2022, a degree of normalcy gradually resumed across the majority of sectors
in 2023 resulting in most economies showing some degree of positive growth
during this period. This was assisted by such things as the revival of grand-
scale events worldwide which contributed to the rejuvenation of tourism.
However, notwithstanding the above, the business landscape remained
intricate and volatile during this time with negative factors emerging such as
weaker-than-expected consumer spending growth, a post pandemic change in
consumer habits, the greater-than-ever decline in demand for natural diamonds
in Mainland China, heightened geopolitical tensions and the persistence of
high interest rates and gold prices all of which, when taken together, created
headwinds for existing and future growth prospects. These macroeconomic
challenges and uncertainties have overshadowed the market’s recovery and
made it difficult for the jewellery retail industry.

The Group was not immune from the above and its businesses were inevitably
negatively impacted by the same during the Year. Given all the negative factors,
the Group has been taking various measures to stabilize its financial situation,
in particular, profitability and cash flow. The process has been strenuous, but
with concerted efforts, we have made desirable progress. Moreover, looking on
the bright side, the Group is not only moving towards a manageable situation
but also undergoing a major transformation which will provide a sustainable
business model for the Group to flourish in years to come. One of the key
focuses has been the prioritization of the 24-karat gold jewellery business
across all operating regions driven by the current substantial market demand
for pure gold as a safe investment haven. The aim is to leverage gold jewellery
to mitigate the risks associated with the declining sales of natural diamonds
and other gem-set jewellery to restore fiscal balance. Another key focus is the
transitioning of our business strategy from self-operated stores to an aggressive
network expansion through franchising. This strategic move aims to create a
resilient business model capable of withstanding external uncertainties and
fostering sustainable long-term growth. | am committed to leading the Group
to realize these strategic directions and work conscientiously and diligently on
sharpening our core competencies - trendsetting craftsmanship and excellent
customer service, as well as investing in digital technology development for
enhancing customers’ shopping experience and internal operating efficiency.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)
B EAEREF(E)

The Group’s unwavering commitment extends to ensuring the well-being of
both employees and customers with stringent health and work standards
being meticulously upheld across all our workplaces and stores to create a safe
environment for all. In addition, the Group actively embraces corporate social
responsibility and sustainability, with these endeavors meticulously documented
in a dedicated Environmental, Social, and Governance Report. Another
related commitment of mine is the involvement in the Carbon Neutrality and
Sustainable Development Council of the HKSAR Government, where | contribute
my humble opinions out of my retail and other experiences. | also contribute
to the recovery of HK tourism by being a member of the Tourism Strategy
Committee under the Culture, Sports and Tourism Bureau. Last but not least, the
“TSL | #¥m#E Foundation” section highlights the Group's profound dedication
to fostering creative industries in Hong Kong through impactful charitable
initiatives.

As a final note, | would like to thank Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella, our former
executive director, deputy chairman, chief strategy officer & chief financial
officer and company secretary, who retired from her positions in May 2024 for
her dedication and countless contributions to the Group over the years. | would
also like to express my appreciation to my fellow directors for their unwavering
dedication and guidance provided to the Group throughout the Year. On behalf
of the Board, | also extend sincere gratitude to all our staff members, business
partners, loyal customers, other stakeholders, and the broader community for
their steadfast support and trust. Moving forward, the Group remains committed
to generating sustainable returns for our shareholders and achieving long-term
growth.

Yau On Yee, Annie
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RESULTS OVERVIEW

It was a very challenging year to the Group for the past financial year ended 31
March 2024 (the “Year”). Following the easing of pandemic and its associated
restrictions around the world, especially in Mainland China and Hong Kong
in early 2023, the Group observed a mild recovery of retail industry at the
beginning of the Year. However, the worldwide geopolitical tension and the
persisting deterioration of the global economy arising from high inflation rate
and increasing financing costs had inevitably affected consumers’ spending
behaviour and sentiment throughout the Year. Accordingly, the performance of
the Group was greatly affected by the significant decline in consumer demand
for natural diamond jewellery products, especially in Mainland China market, and
the diminishing profit margins arising from the adjustment of sales mix to 24
karat gold products with a relatively lower profit margin.

Despite the unfavorable factors encountered, the turnover of the Group
recorded a slight increase of 2.5% to approximately HK$2,655 million for the
Year. The gross profit margin decreased to 29.6% for the Year, as compared to
35.1% for the year ended 31 March 2023 (“Year 2022/23"), resulting from the
increasing sales mix of 24 karat gold products during the Year.

Starting from the second half of the Year, the Group had taken a series of
immediate actions to mitigate the negative impact of reduced gross profit. In
order to cope with the drastic adjustment of sales mix to 24 karat gold products
as mentioned above, the Group implemented various cost control measures
including streamlining organization functions by relocating staff resources,
substantial reduction of staff costs, restructuring of the retail store network and
also reduction of inventory level. Consequently, the Group incurred an additional
restructuring cost of approximately HK$75 million during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
% E/EE EFHH& MT % )

The surge in interest rates together with certain adjustments to comply with
applicable accounting standards had brought negative impact to the Group’s
profitability for the Year. After taking up some non-cash fixed assets impairment,
provision for inventories and investment properties revaluation amounting to
approximately HK$139 million in total, the Group recorded a loss attributable to
owners of the Company of HK$374.2 million for the Year, as compared to loss
of HK$71.4 million for Year 2022/23. The loss per share attributable to owners
of the Company for the Year was 150.2 HK cents (Year 2022/23: loss of 28.7 HK
cents).

BUSINESS REVIEW
Retailing Business
Hong Kong and Macau

The Hong Kong and Macau Special Administrative Region governments had
initiated extensive campaigns and collaborated with various stakeholders
through a variety of cultural and entertainment programs in order to attract
tourists from all over the world including the target visitors from Mainland
China during the Year. We observed certain improvement to Group’s sales
performance on year-on-year basis at the beginning of the financial year, due
to the release of accumulated consumption power when the borders were just
reopened. However, the local retail industry started to remain stagnant or even
deteriorating since the beginning of 2024, resulting from the continuous shifting
of local consumer spending northward to Mainland China or to other countries
and the post-pandemic change of visitors’ shopping habits.

The Group had addressed this critical downturn in retail sales especially
in jewellery sector by proactively negotiating with landlords to reduce the
retail shops rental cost, restructuring the retail sales networks, adjusting the
manpower to optimize the labor cost at retail level and more aggressively,
closed 5 non-perform retail shops in Hong Kong market during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Given the ultimate execution of above critical measures and recent
announcement of extension of the Individual Visit Scheme to further 8 cities
of Mainland China, the Group expects the sales performance in these two local
markets will be improved progressively. The continuous evaluation of retail
shops rental cost and the optimization of the store-level manpower is expected
to enhance the overall profitability of both retail markets in coming year.

Mainland China

Amidst a challenging economic environment resulting from continuing
consolidation of property markets in Mainland China, consumer spending
sentiment showed surprising restraint during the Year despite that the Chinese
Government had taken proactive measures to stimulate the overall economy.
In 2023, the Group observed a slight uptick in sales performance of its
self-operated stores, but witnessed a decline in the turnover of its franchising
stores. This was mainly due to considerable decline of market demand for
natural diamond jewellery, in contrast to a significantly increasing consumer
demand for 24 karat gold products.

Given such dramatic change in its largest market of Mainland China, the Group
reacted proactively and adapted to this evolving shift in market dynamics
by enhancing the sales in 24 karat gold jewellery products. This includes
improvements in inventory and supply chain management, sales network
enhancement and also uplifting the overall operational efficiency to better
support the merchandising capabilities and consistency. The increasing sales
of 24 karat gold products with comparatively lower gross profit margin to that
of natural diamond jewellery products, however, contributed to a significant
reduction of gross profit margin as a whole during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEEMNBEAT(E)

The Group currently operates 391 stores in Mainland China, of which
approximately 77% are franchised stores. By continuous leveraging the
opportunities arising from expanding the sales network of franchised stores
during the Year, the Group targets to maintain a robust mix of self-operated
stores and franchised stores. Moreover, the Group will continue to enhance its
24 karat gold inventory for a more balanced inventory mix based on the latest
sales mix.

Besides enhancing the overall profitability of Mainland China market, the Group
will adopt a prudent approach in expanding the franchise network with optimal
capital investment.

Malaysia

The Group’s retail business in Malaysia showed a mild growth in turnover
during the Year, reflecting a conservatively positive trend in this market. The
improvement in sales performance was resulted from the increasing domestic
demand for 24 karat gold jewellery products, while observing a gentle upward
trend of inbound tourism to this country in times to come.

During the Year, the Group achieved a remarkable milestone with the grand
opening of a new store at The Exchange TRX, a prestigious shopping mall in
the heart of Kuala Lumpur, alongside other esteemed international brands.
The Group remains prudently positive and will continue to realize the market
potential by gradually expanding the sales network.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Wholesale Business

The Group’s franchising network in Mainland China showed a slowdown in
business expansion leading to a decrease in turnover, mainly due to the
significant decline in demand for natural diamonds during the Year. The poor
market sentiment coupled with other prevailing business challenges, significantly
affected the pace of expansion of wholesale business during the Year.

Amid the sluggish recovery in retail sector and overall business environment, the
Group is committed to enhance and optimize the franchising model by actively
exploring opportunities to expand its franchise network in the near future. The
Group is keen to engage potential franchisees to cultivate sustainable long-term
partnerships, aiming to boost the presence of franchise domain in Mainland
China and to foster collaborative synergy across major cities of different tiers.

e-Business

During the Year, the e-business turnover in Mainland China showed a
year-on-year mild decline as the Group deliberately adjust the sales strategy
by focusing on product categories with higher profit margin. Besides, a slight
increase in turnover of e-business in Hong Kong was recorded, through
TSL e-shop platform.

The Group always recognizes the importance of e-commerce in digital landscape
nowadays. It remains committed to diversifying its online sales channels,
expanding its market presence beyond its traditional brick-and-mortar stores
and also maximizing the return from the growing trend of digital commerce.
The e-platform enables the Group not only to foster a deeper connection with
customers but also to provide valuable insights of customer preferences and
accordingly, to deliver its tailored promotions precisely for individual needs. The
Group aims to elevate the overall customer experience, cultivate brand loyalty
and drive sustainable growth in the competitive e-commerce landscape.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to focus on its core strengths and
proactively enhance the Group’s performance by expanding its retail stores
network through franchising. Moreover, in view of the increasing uncertainty
of economic environment globally and domestically, the Group will also focus
on optimizing the product mix as well as the profitability of different product
categories.

At the backend, the Group will continue to prioritize cost control measures
across all operational aspects, streamline the organization for a simple structure
and shorten inventory turnover cycle. In addition, the Group will continue
its prudent approach of financial and treasury management by maintaining
adequate cashflow to meet operations needs and monitoring any capital
investments with reasonable return.

FINANCIAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s total outstanding interest-bearing bank
borrowings and gold loan amounted to HK$1,076.4 million (31 March 2023:
HK$1,173.6 million), which comprised mainly bank loans and trade finance
facilities. All borrowings of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars
and Renminbi. Interest on bank borrowings is calculated on either the inter-bank
interest rate or the prime rate or the benchmark interest rate.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had pledged time deposits, cash and bank
balances of HK$474.1 million (Year 2022/23: HK$714.5 million), which were
mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States dollars.

Internally generated funding and borrowings have mainly been applied during

the Year to finance the enhancement of the Group’s inventory mix on 24 karat
gold products and capital expenditure incurred.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The Group was in a net debt position of approximately HK$602.3 million as at
31 March 2024, as compared to approximately HK$459.1 million as at 31 March
2023. As at 31 March 2024, the net gearing ratio was 108.9% (31 March 2023:
51.4%), which was calculated based on the amount of net debt position (sum
of total interest-bearing bank borrowings and gold loan less cash and cash
equivalents) as a percentage of total equity.

During the Year, the transactions of the Group were mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States dollars. Renminbi is not a freely
convertible currency and any significant exchange rate fluctuation of Renminbi
may have financial impacts on the Group. The Board is of the view that such
foreign exchange exposure is manageable by using natural hedges that arise
from holding assets and liabilities denominated in the same foreign currencies
and that the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange fluctuation remains minimal.
The Group will continue to closely monitor its foreign exchange position.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2024, the total number of employees of the Group was
approximately 1,891 (31 March 2023: 2,360). The change was with due regard to
the Group’s business strategies and the market conditions. There were no major
changes in human resources policies.

The Company offers competitive remuneration packages including salary,
allowances and discretionary bonus. Employees are rewarded on a performance
basis with reference to market rates. Other employee benefits include medical
cover and subsidies for job-related continuing education. Retail frontline staff
are provided with formal on-the-job training by internal senior staff and external
professional trainers. There are discussion forums and in-house seminars for
experience sharing.

EEESNBEAIT(E)

M2024F3A3NH  REBZFEBMRRABHABE
602,300,0007C *© ¥ M2023FE3A31TH BHBE
459,100,0007T » 20243 A318 » F A BT A108.9%
(20233 A31H : 51.4%)  WAZBFEERIO SR
(BFBRTERLECBEFRERS LB SEDEM)
BB B DLLETE -

AEERAFERATEZUAEBT ARBRETIRRFSE
i - ARBIWIFAEHEBNEE  MEMERHARE
ER KR EHAREEXT EZE - EEERR/UFIN
ERRZNER  EBFAENERNMNEHENEENE
BEEEAED  AUERKDHHAEENTEEFE
B8 o RNEE S BB ) B B OMNEAR M o

ANER

M2024F3A31H - REBHEIEEAL1,891%EE (2023453
A318 :2,360) o A& B4 EE E B 515 8 A % i e
HZEE - ANERBERIEEKES -

ARRRPEAEBRFINFHEE - EhefEse 28
MEBIEAL - EEFBRIERREZENHKFETE
Hibfg BBF EBERR R TERBITEEERR - A
MEABERINEEFELMERARTES TIREEAE
BIEA - RRINHTERERSZTEALMATE -

017



THE FOUNDER
RN

TSE, SUI LUEN

i I Bk

Tse Sui Luen, aged 87, is the Group’s Founder. Mr. Tse provides general advisory
& strategic advice to the Group. He was the Chairman of the Group from 1987
to 2000 and re-joined the Group in September 2011. He is a veteran jewellery
expert having over 52 years of experience in jewellery industry. He has a wide
range of experience in gem setting, quality control, administration, operations,
management and marketing. He also has very good personal networks with the
peers and suppliers, which facilitate the Group’s business development. He is the
father of Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and the
controlling shareholder of the Group, and the father-in-law of Ms. Yau On Yee,
Annie, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Group.
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DIRECTORS PROFILE
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YAU, ON YEE ANNIE
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Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
FR OITHEHRRATES

CHOW, CHEE WAI CHRISTOPHER
D=l -

Independent Non-Executive Director
BYFEWITES
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CHAN, YUE KWONG MICHAEL

Independent Non-Executive Director CHAN, ALEX
BIFRTES BR & BB

Independent Non-Executive Director
BILFHTES
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CHAIRMAN & CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

T B NAITIH AR

YAU, ON YEE ANNIE
B %2 &

Yau On Yee, Annie, aged 53, is the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the
chairman of the Executive Committee and a member of both the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. She joined the
Group in 2002, and became an Executive Director of the Company in 2006. She
is also a director of most subsidiaries of the Company. In the early years at the
Company, she pioneered the Group’s Jewellery ERP discipline and modernised
the Company’s management through business process reengineering. Prior to
joining the Group, she worked for multi-national companies such as Motorola
Semiconductors and IBM. She has over 31 years of management experience in
the USA and Hong Kong. She is a director of each of Partner Logistics Limited
and Blink Technology Limited which have discloseable interests in the Company
under provisions of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”). She
graduated from Boston University, USA and holds a Bachelor of Science degree
in Computer Engineering. Ms. Yau is the spouse of Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy, the
Deputy Chief Executive Officer and the controlling shareholder of the Group,
and the daughter-in-law of Mr. Tse Sui Luen, the Founder of the Group.

Ms. Yau is currently a member of the 2021 Election Committee of the
HKSAR (Wholesale and Retail Subsector), the chairman of Hong Kong
Retail Management Association, a nominated member of Hong Kong Brand
Development Council, and the convenor of Retail Industry Consultative Networks
of Employees Retraining Board. She is also a standing committee member of the
Eighth Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Hainan Province,
and a member of Hainan-Hong Kong Economic Cooperation and Development
Advisory Committee, Jewellery Industry Training Advisory Committee and
the Council for Carbon Neutrality and Sustainable Development. She was
appointed as an advisory group member of Digital Transformation Support Pilot
Programme under Cyberport with effect from 25 September 2023, a member
of the Sub-Committee on Youth And Capacity Building under the Council for
Carbon Neutrality and Sustainable Development with effect from 1 December
2023 and a member of Tourism Strategy Committee of Culture, Sports and
Tourism Bureau with effect from 22 January 2024.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)

BEEREMEBABEN(E)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 72, is an Independent Non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of both the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company, who joined the
Group in 2010.

Mr. Chan was the former chairman and is currently a non-executive director
of Café de Coral Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 341), and is a non-executive
director of Tao Heung Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 573) and an independent
non-executive director of each of Pacific Textiles Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 1382), Starlite Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 403), Modern Dental Group
Limited (Stock Code: 3600) and Human Health Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1419), all companies whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan
has worked as a professional town planner with government bodies in Hong
Kong and Canada. He holds a double major degree in Sociology and Political
Science, a Master degree in City Planning from the University of Manitoba,
Canada, an Honorary Doctorate degree in Business Administration, as well as
being bestowed the Honorary Fellow from Lingnan University. Mr. Chan has
many years of professional experience in the public sector and over 39 years
of management experience in the food and catering industry. He is the Adviser
of the Quality Tourism Services Association and the Honorary Chairman of the
Hong Kong Institute of Marketing.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Chow Chee Wai, Christopher, aged 57, is an Independent Non-executive
Director, the chairman of both the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company, who
joined the Group in 2013.

Mr. Chow is the Founding Partner of TCC Capital, an advisory and private equity
fund management company. He holds a Diploma of Investment and Finance
from The Securities Institute of Australia, a Bachelor of Economics degree from
The University of Sydney and is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chow has over 20 years’ experience in
auditing and merger and acquisition advisory. Prior to founding TCC Capital,
he worked for two of the “Big Four” international accounting firms in Sydney,
Hong Kong and Beijing and was the Partner in charge of the mergers and
acquisitions practice. He possesses in-depth understanding of financial and
capital markets and has built up substantial experience in advising multinational
companies, state owned enterprises and private companies in Hong Kong and
Mainland China on a number of direct investments, and mergers and acquisitions
transactions.

Alex Chan, aged 56, is an Independent Non-executive Director and a member of
both the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company,
who joined the Group in 2023.

Mr. Chan is a director of Artellex Limited which provides high-quality art and
photography printing and trading services. He holds a Bachelor of Science
degree in Computer Science from McMaster University. From September 1999 to
November 2001, he built extensive telecommunications marketing experience in
Hong Kong CSL Limited. From 2001 to 2007, he was responsible for Hong Kong
retail business, branding strategies and development of the Group and served
as an Executive Director of the Company between June 2004 and February
2007. Subsequently, he held various senior positions at The Hong Kong Jockey
Club from March 2007 to June 2021. Mr. Chan, as a versatile leader with
cross-industry expertise, has over 20 years of diverse management experience
in sales operations, brand marketing, stakeholders engagement, and social
media governance.
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DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

TSE, TAT FUNG TOMMY
i 2 I

Tse Tat Fung, Tommy, aged 56, is the Group’s Deputy Chief Executive Officer.
He is responsible for the Group’s sales and operations in all markets plus the
Group’s creative directions and supply chain management. He joined the Group
after returning from the USA in 1994. He was the Chairman of the Group from
2000 to 2008 and was, during that time, responsible for the Group’s overall
strategy and business development. During his absence, his life had been
enriched through touching the hearts and souls of the inmates. He re-joined
the Group in September 2011. Mr. Tse graduated from Boston University and
holds a Bachelor of Science (Business Administration) degree, Bachelor of
Science (Mathematics) degree, and Master of Arts (Mathematics) degree. He
is a director of Partner Logistics Limited and Blink Technology Limited which
have discloseable interests in the Company under provisions of the SFO. He is
the son of Mr. Tse Sui Luen, the Founder of the Group, the spouse of Ms. Yau On
Yee, Annie, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Group, and is the
controlling shareholder of the Group.
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A\/\/ARDS AND ACCOLADES
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SERVICE AWARDS
The Hong Kong Retail Management Association

HKRMA Quality Service Programme

2023 Quality Service Retailer of the Year - Flagship Stores (Gold)

2023 Quality Service Retailer of the Year - Watch & Jewellery Category Award
Flagship Service Recognition

2023 Excellent Service Retailer of the Year - Chain Stores

2023 Service Talent Award
Outstanding Flagship Service Brand
Excellent Service Star

MTR Corporation Limited

Total Service Assurance Regime 2023
Quality Service Scheme Top Award - Category of Watch, Jewellery, Optical and
Gifts
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AWARDS AND ACCOLADES (CONTINUED)
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SILVER WINNER

2023 INTERNATIONAL

ARC AWARDS

2023 INTERNATIONAL

ARC AWARDS

SILVER WINNER

ANNUAL REPORT AWARDS

ARC Awards 2023
Gold

Silver

Honors

Galaxy Awards 2023
Silver

Honors

Honors

Cover Photo/Design: Jewelry
Written Text: Jewelry
Non-Traditional Annual Report: Jewelry

Annual Reports - Print: Jewelry
Design - Annual Reports: Non-Traditional - Asia/Pacific
Design - Covers: Annual Reports - Special Treatment

Muse Design Awards 2024

Gold

Conceptual Design: Communication

Graphis Design Awards 2024

Silver

Annual Reports - Print
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THE TSL | Fiftmi FOUNDATION

TSL | il E 2

The TSL | #t¥sBE Foundation (“TSLF”) was originally established by the Group
to preserve the heritage of the traditional jewellery making techniques so as
to create sustainability of jewellery industry. TSLF later expands its support
to cultivate variety of talents to bring more inspiration and muse to the
development of creative industries in Hong Kong.

Music is a fundamental element of every human culture. TSLF has been actively
contributing to the “Cantopop” culture in Hong Kong. Besides, TSLF has
continued to focus on astronomy for the Chinese community in order to educate
the public about the latest developments in both the professional and amateur
astronomy arenas.

CANTOPOP PRESERVATION

The high time of Cantopop was from the 1980s to the 2000s where many
masterpieces were being created. As time progresses, Cantopop was not as
flourishing as in the late 20th century. Cantopop preservation therefore plays
a vital role in the substantiality of the Hong Kong culture. With the advances
in information technology, the preservation of Cantopop is no longer a difficult
task. In the past, people reached Cantopop through television or optical discs;
but for now, people can simply play the songs anytime they want via digital or
streaming platforms. The spreading of pop music is being accelerated by the
cause of globalization.
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During the dispirited pandemic, our society has experienced significant changes.
Not just about the global health and economic crises, mental health concerns
are on the rise. To bring hope in such a downcast moment, TSLF has been the
title sponsor of various physical concerts held in Hong Kong during the Year,
including Mr. Cheng Kwok Kong's concert held in May 2023. Mr. Cheng is a
mighty and respectful lyricist who created numerous famous songs, earning him
the name of “One of the Three Great Lyricists in Hong Kong”. The concert paid
tribute to his valuable contribution to the local music industry over the past 50
years. Iconic singers of different generations performed the signature songs of
Hong Kong superstars written by Mr. Cheng that resonated with the audiences.
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THE TSL | #imE FOUNDATION (CONTINUED)
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Renowned local singers were invited to perform in Mr.
Cheng’s concert, recalling the childhood memories of
audiences.

ZAMERFRB A ELEEREE LRE - DEERA
BFEE -

031



TSLF also sponsored the concerts of Mr. Albert Au, who is known as the “Prince
of Hong Kong Folk Songs” with many popular songs devoted to helping those
in need through music. An example was the concert held in November 2023
celebrating Mr. Au’s 50th year in the music scene while cooperating with various
charitable organizations to benefit vulnerable groups; another concert was
held on Boxing Day last year as a gift for audiences in which a series of classic
English songs were performed with harmonious accompaniment. All these
initiatives show the continuous support of TSLF for Cantopop preservation.
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TSLF sponsored Mr. Au’s concert to celebrate a milestone
of his 50-year music career and his first English songs
concert on Boxing Day to warm the soul.

B ET B ERB I ES0F 5L L EBIEEN RIS
E o URMPREE R (EHEEH) B5MEEA OB EH
RIS



ASTRONOMY EDUCATION

Astronomy is a science that continues to search for meanings and explanation
of universe dating back to beginning of time. In ancient times, the human
could only observe the heaven through their naked eyes. Cosmos or space has
inspired technological innovations, as people are curious about it. Along with the
ongoing research and development, astronomical instruments are much more
advanced nowadays, which can let us dig deep into mysterious space. By using
telescopes to observe celestial objects and analyzing available data, people
get to know and learn more about the universe. Exploring the possibilities of
other habitable worlds in our galaxy satisfies human curiosity. These humans
search for meanings encouraging scientific advancements and technological
improvements beyond astronomy.

The twinkling stars in the sky are just like our sparkling diamonds that attract
attention. TSLF sees the brightness of the stars as precious and appealing as the
shine of our jewellery so we are committed to astronomy education. Following
the end of the pandemic, major events gradually resumed and TSLF continues
its efforts in support of sharing astronomical expertise with the public.

THE TSL | @i FOUNDATION (CONTINUED)
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TSLF backed the Hong Kong Astro Forum to jointly organize with the Hong
Kong Space Museum the open lecture named “We Touched Infinity. The JWST
Mirror Makers! ” on 2 December 2023. As an orbiting infrared observatory,
the James Webb Space Telescope (JWST) is the largest and most powerful
telescope ever launched into space. It is well known that mirrors are the heart
of telescopes assisting astronomers in discovering the cosmos. Mr. Glen Cole,
the former Chief Engineer for Mirror Polishing of JWST, shared with over 100
attendees the behind-the-scene creation of JWST mirrors and the challenges
encountered. It was an insightful lecture for the participants. TSLF will continue
to sponsor similar events in the future.

2.12.2023
@ 17:30-19:00
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Mr. Cole shared the

Lecture Hall;Hong Kong’lduseum
=Y Al B

syl inside story of JWST

rved

Q W= Speaker

)

mirror-making and his
passion for astronomy.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure in presenting their
report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2024 are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages
89 to 236 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was declared during the Year, and the Directors do not
recommend the payment of final dividend for the Year (2022/23 total dividend:
Nil).

The Board has adopted a dividend policy with the principles and guidelines as
follows:

(@) In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain
adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements and
future growth as well as the value of the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”);

(b)  The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio;

(c)  The Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the
Shareholders, subject to the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”)
and all applicable laws and regulations as well as the factors set out
below;
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The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Group when considering the declaration and payment of dividends: (i)
financial performance, (ii) cash flow position, (iii) business conditions and
strategies, (iv) future operations and earnings, (v) capital requirements
and expenditure plans, (vi) market benchmark, (vii) the Shareholders’
interests and (viii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant;

Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and
the factors as set out above, the following dividends may be proposed
and/or declared by the Board for a financial year or period: (i) interim
dividend, (ii) final dividend, (iii) special dividend and (iv) any distribution
of net profits or contributed surplus where applicable, that the Board may
deem appropriate;

The Board may from time to time pay to the Shareholders any interim
dividends as appear to the Board to be justified by the Company’s
profits. Save as the foregoing, payment of dividends will be subject to the
Shareholders’ approval;

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or
by other means that the Board considers appropriate; and

Any unclaimed dividend shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company
in accordance with the Bye-laws.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

An overview and the outlook of the Group’s business are provided in the
sections headed “Letter to Shareholders” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report. Certain financial key performance indicators can
be found in the section headed “Financial Highlights”.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

An account of the Group’s relationship with its key stakeholders and discussions
on the Group’s environmental policies and performance are included in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report, and in a
separate Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report. The ESG Report
will be published under the sub-section “ESG Reports” of “Investors” section
on the Company’s website at ir.tslj.com and the Stock Exchange’s website
in compliance with the stipulations under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 29
August 2024 to Tuesday, 3 September 2024 (both days inclusive), for the
purpose of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 3
September 2024 (the “2024 AGM”). During the above closure period, no transfer
of shares will be registered. In order to be entitled to attend and vote at the
2024 AGM, all completed transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited of Shops
1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. (Hong Kong Time) on Wednesday, 28 August 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or the laws
in Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report of the Directors and in note 30
to the consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Group during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

There were no charitable donations made by the Group during the Year
(2022/23: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment as well as
investment properties of the Group during the Year are set out in notes 14 and
15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Particulars of the major properties of the Group are shown on pages 239 to 240
of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981 (as amended from time to time) (the “Bermuda Companies Act”) and the
Bye-laws, amounted to approximately HK$326,884,000, which represented the
contributed surplus and retained profits of the Company.
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Under the Bermuda Companies Act and the Bye-laws, the contributed surplus of
the Company is available for distribution. However, the Company cannot declare
or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of this contributed surplus if: (i) it
is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become
due; or (ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby become less than its
liabilities.

Details of the above are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers in aggregate accounted for less than 30% of the
Group’s turnover for the Year. The five largest suppliers in aggregate and the
largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 65.1% and 35.9%
respectively by value of the Group’s total purchases.

Rosy Blue Hong Kong Limited, one of the Group's five largest suppliers, is
a fellow subsidiary of Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited, which is the
preference shareholder of Partner Logistics Limited (the Company’s immediate
holding company).

Except for the above, none of the Directors or any of their close associates or
any of the Shareholders (which, to the knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
major customers and suppliers noted above.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Yau On Yee, Annie (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Ng Yi Kum, Estella* (Deputy Chairman, Chief Strategy Officer &
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael
Chow Chee Wai, Christopher
Alex Chan**

Chui Chi Yun, Robert***

Remarks:

* Resigned on 27 May 2024
= Appointed on 21 June 2023
e Retired on 27 September 2023

In accordance with the provisions of the Bye-laws and to comply with the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix Cl to the Listing Rules, Ms.
Yau On Yee, Annie and Mr. Chow Chee Wai, Christopher shall retire from their
office by rotation at the 2024 AGM, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election as an executive Director and independent non-executive Director
respectively for a term of three years. All other Directors continue in office for
the ensuing year.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from each of
the independent non-executive Directors and as at the date of this report still
considers them to be independent. Please also see page 59 of the “Corporate
Governance Report” for assessment by the Company in this regard.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM has a service contract
with the Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to the Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the Year are set out in note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the Human
Resources Department and the employees” emoluments are determined on the
basis of their qualifications, experiences and areas of expertise.

The emoluments of the executive Directors and senior management of the
Company are determined by the Remuneration Committee of the Company
having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual expertise, professional
experience and comparable market statistics.

The emoluments of the independent non-executive Directors, are decided by
the Board as recommended by the Remuneration Committee of the Company
having regard to comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities.

The emoluments of the Directors and employees of the Group include a share

option scheme, details of which are disclosed in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” of this report of the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive and/or their respective associates of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required to be entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
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section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company SHIZESTR| ([1ZX#ESFE ) e A QB LB S ez L
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions JABIIT :
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”), were as follows:
Interests and long positions in ordinary shares of the Company RARBINEBIR 2 Em TR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each
EFREEEB2THEER
Approximate
Derivative percentage of
Personal Family Corporate interest Other total issued
Name of Director interest interest interest (share options) interest share capital*
e 8T
PTETIAEER IRA A8
EEME BA R Rk AR (BB E) HihiEm BHABED
Yau On Yee, Annie 130,553 180,691,775 - - - 72.57%
22 {5 (Note KizE)
5,219
(Note F##H)
* The percentage was calculated based on 249,182,030 ordinary shares of the * AL RIRR2024F3 A3THA R AE #17249,182,030
Company in issue as at 31 March 2024. f&E BT E -
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Note:

180,691,775 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Partner Logistics Limited,
a company which is owned and controlled by Blink Technology Limited. Blink
Technology Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy,
the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, an executive Director. By virtue of the SFO, Ms.
Yau On Yee, Annie is deemed to be interested in all the shares of the Company held
by Partner Logistics Limited.

5,219 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy. By virtue
of the SFO, Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie is deemed to be interested in all the shares of the
Company held by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors, chief
executive and their respective associates of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which required notification to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO to be entered in the register maintained by the Company, or which were
required pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, the interests, all being long positions, of any substantial
Shareholders or other persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company) in the shares and/or underlying shares of the Company which have
been disclosed to the Company pursuant to the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO and have been recorded in the register required to be

IN SHARES AND
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kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

()

D)

(iv)

V)

(i)

(vii)

Name

£
Partner Logistics Limited (Note Bff&E1)

Blink Technology Limited (Note Fff&F1)

Tse Tat Fung, Tommy (Note FtEED)
st

Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited (Note fizE2)
Rosy Blue Jewellery (HK) Limited (Note Fff5E2)
Prime Investments S.A. (Note Hf5E2)

Elmas Hong Kong Limited (Note Bft3£2)

REMERHE -

Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each
BREEE¥0.2STHNEER

Capacity

&5

Beneficial owner

EnEAA

Interest of controlled corporation
et NG

Interest of controlled corporation
SR NG £

Interest of spouse

feBsE AR

Beneficial owner

EnEEA

Interest of controlled corporation
el NI

Interest of controlled corporation
ZYEHI N A

Interest of controlled corporation
R NGRS

Trustee

=rEA

Number of
ordinary shares

EERROHE
180,691,775

180,691,775
180,691,775
130,553
5,219
180,691,775
180,691,775
180,691,775

180,691,775

EFRWE(R)

FTERRREMATREQTARG REBERS
MRERER A

HZE2024F3A318 - A EBRIKEMA L (WIEES
KARNBZRBITRAL) EARAB MG K&,/ KABRE RN+
BACBEES MG EMNEXVEE2RID MR T BA
MERIEES R BEEAEIZ6KALA
RARBEFHELMANEZ ORITE)WT

Approximate
percentage of
total issued
share capital*
HEBRITRA
BEBANF D
72.51%

72.51%

72.57%

72.51%
72.51%
72.51%

72.51%

The percentage was calculated based on 249,182,030 ordinary shares of the  * BALRIZR 202453 A3 B AR T2 317249,182,030

Company in issue as at 31 March 2024.
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Notes:

1. 180,691,775 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Partner Logistics
Limited, a company which is owned and controlled by Blink Technology
Limited. Blink Technology Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Tse
Tat Fung, Tommy, the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, an executive Director.
By virtue of the SFO, Blink Technology Limited, Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie (her
deemed interest is disclosed under the section headed “Directors” and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company”) and Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy are deemed to be
interested in all the shares of the Company held by Partner Logistics Limited.

130,553 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie. By
virtue of the SFO, Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy is deemed to be interested in all
the shares of the Company held by Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie.

5,219 ordinary shares of the Company are held by Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy.

2. These ordinary shares of the Company, relating to the same block of shares
mentioned in note 1 above, are held by Partner Logistics Limited, a company
which is owned and controlled by Blink Technology Limited. Rosy Blue
Overseas Holdings Limited is the preference shareholder of Partner Logistics
Limited. Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Rosy Blue
Jewellery (HK) Limited, which in turn is wholly owned by Prime Investments
S.A.. Elmas Hong Kong Limited is the trustee of a discretionary trust, which
holds all interests of Prime Investments S.A.. By virtue of the SFO, each of
Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited, Rosy Blue Jewellery (HK) Limited, Prime
Investments S.A. and Elmas Hong Kong Limited, is deemed to be interested in
all the shares of the Company held by Partner Logistics Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Company had not been
notified of any persons who had interests or short positions in the shares and/
or underlying shares of the Company, which were required to be recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO.

046

=F
i
Ry

1. NATF]180,691,775 8 E @A Jh R Partner Logistics
Limited# 48 * Z A B HABIEEREE (BRITERBLE
7w+ 27 FE) 2B B A ZBlink Technology Limited
A IR o RIEFESHRHE KD - Blink Technology
Limited * BREZ+ (BERAFTBERO 2Em 2B
FREERESTHRABRAATZRG - HERGD
DEEENEZ AR —6) RFHEBRLENRARE
mHPartner Logistics Limited AR RAGIEHH 2B KD Z
S o

RAFN30,553 E B IR LR EL A - RIEES
LS HEA - FiEEEEHRABAHBLELZLTINA
RAFAEZFBERMD Z#E

RARS 29 EBARAEAIEERSTAERE ©

2. WEARR BB A LK F1FTIR XA B Partner
Logistics Limited358 ZHRB KD - Z 2 FI#HBlink
Technology Limited# 8 &3%# - Rosy Blue Overseas
Holdings Limited&Partner Logistics Limited 898
SR AEE - Prime Investments SABBEEEHEE
BRosy Blue Jewellery (HK) Limited% & # & Rosy
Blue Overseas Holdings Limited ° f1EImas Hong
Kong Limited B—BWIEELZETLA F FHHBPrime
Investments S ABFTE#Ez © BRIBEFESHRBAEKD -
Rosy Blue Overseas Holdings Limited * Rosy Blue
Jewellery (HK) Limited * Prime Investments S.A. &
Elmas Hong Kong Limited¥J#R A A i Partner
Logistics Limited R AR BB 2 TE M 2 ek ©

B EXATIREEIN  HE2024F3A31H AR AW EE
FRALRA  HEAREBESRBEKRNEIZI6KER
ARRBEFEOELEMAZARRR KD &, AR5 &

HESOAA -



CHANGES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of the
Directors since the last published interim report are as follows:

Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie, an executive Director, has been appointed as
an advisory group member of Digital Transformation Support Pilot
Programme under Cyberport with effect from 25 September 2023, a
member of the Sub-Committee on Youth and Capacity Building under the
Council for Carbon Neutrality and Sustainable Development with effect
from 1 December 2023 and a member of Tourism Strategy Committee of
Culture, Sports and Tourism Bureau with effect from 22 January 2024.

Changes in Directors’ emoluments during the Year are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme at its annual general meeting
held on 21 July 2016 (the “2016 Share Option Scheme”). The following is a
summary of the principal terms of the 2016 Share Option Scheme:

1.

Purpose:

The purpose of the 2016 Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
or rewards to participants thereunder for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees
and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and any entity
in which the Group holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”).
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Participants:

(a)

()

(©

(d

(e)

®

(9

()

any employee(s) (whether full time or part time employee(s),
including any director or executive director but not any
non-executive director) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity;

any non-executive director (including independent non-executive
directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development or
technological support or other services to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity
or any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have contributed or
may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other
business and/or financial arrangement to the development and
growth of the Group.

()

(©

D)

(e)

)

(9
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Total number of shares available for issue and the
percentage of issued shares as at the date of this annual
report:

Pursuant to the terms of the 2016 Share Option Scheme, the total number
of ordinary shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the total number of shares in issue on 21 July 2016 (the “Adoption Date”)
(i.e. not exceeding 21,033,622 shares (representing approximately 8.44%
of the issued shares as at the date of this annual report) on the basis that
the total issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date
is 210,336,221 shares). Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the 2016 Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the 10% limit.
However, the maximum number of ordinary shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company must not exceed 30% of the total number of shares in
issue from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant:

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
total number of shares in issue of the Company. For any grant of options
to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director,
or any of their respective associates, the Company’s shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person
within any 12-month period shall not exceed 0.1% of the issued shares of
the Company in aggregate and with an aggregate value (based on the
closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of
HK$5 million.

Any further grant is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in general
meeting with the grantee, his/her/its associates and core connected
persons of the Company abstaining from voting in favour.

3.
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Period within which the option may be exercised by the
grantee:

The period would be commencing from the date of grant of an option and
ending on such date as the Board may determine in granting the option
but in any event not exceeding 10 years from the date of grant.

Vesting period of options granted:

The Board may at its discretion determine the minimum period for which
the option has to be held or other restrictions before the exercise of the
subscription right attaching thereto.

Amount payable on application or acceptance of the option
and the period within which payments must be made:

Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HK$1 to the
Company by way of consideration for the grant. Any offer may be
accepted in respect of less than the number of shares for which it is
offered provided that it is accepted in a board lot for dealing in the
Company'’s shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof.
An offer is open for acceptance within 28 days from the date of offer
provided that no offer shall be open for acceptance after the expiry of the
2016 Share Option Scheme or after the 2016 Share Option Scheme has
been terminated.

Basis of determining the exercise price of options granted:

The exercise price of the option shall be determined by the Board and
such price must be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the offer date, which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the five trading days immediately preceding the
offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.
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9. Remaining life:

The 2016 Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10
years, which will expire on 21 July 2026.

As at the beginning and the end of the Year, the number of options available
for grant under the 2016 Share Option Scheme is 21,033,622, representing
approximately 8.44% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as
at the date of this annual report. As at the date of this report, no share option
has been granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme since it was adopted.
During the Year, no material matter relating to the 2016 Share Option Scheme
was brought to issue requiring the review or approval of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Apart from the share option scheme operated by the Company as disclosed in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements, neither at the end of nor at any time during the Year did
there subsist any arrangement to which the Company, its holding company
or subsidiaries, was a party, and the objects of or one of the objects of such
arrangement were/was to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DEBENTURES IN ISSUE

The Company did not have any debentures in issue during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

With effect from 1 September 2011, (i) Mr. Tse Tat Fung, Tommy (“Mr. Tommy
Tse”), the substantial Shareholder and the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie
("Ms. Annie Yau”), the executive Director, has been employed by a subsidiary of
the Company as the Chief Merchandising Officer (subsequently, re-designated
as the Deputy Chief Executive Officer with effect from 1 November 2016)
("“Tommy Tse Employment”); and (ii) Mr. Tse Sui Luen, the father of Mr. Tommy
Tse and father-in-law of Ms. Annie Yau, has been employed by a subsidiary
of the Company as the Founder (“Tse Senior Employment”). Both Tommy Tse
Employment and Tse Senior Employment have been revised on 22 June 2012,
further details are disclosed in the announcement dated 22 June 2012. Both
Tommy Tse Employment and Tse Senior Employment constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the Year, the amounts in respect of Tse Senior Employment is below de
minimis threshold for the purposes of Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules, Tse
Senior Employment is fully exempt from Shareholders’ approval, annual review
and all disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.

The roles and functions of the senior management of the Group have changed
due to the continued development of the Group in 2016. Mr. Tommy Tse
has taken up the role in supply chain and wholesale business, as well as the
leadership of China retail, travel trade, alternate channels and the Group’s
branding and creative directions. On 31 October 2016, the Company through
its subsidiary entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Tommy Tse
("2016 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement”), which superseded his previous
employment agreement. On 29 March 2018, a renewed employment agreement
was entered into for a further term of 25 months commencing on 1 March 2018
and expiring on 31 March 2020 (“2018 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement”) in
light of the change of the Group’s financial year-end date. Further details are
disclosed in the announcements dated 1 November 2016 and 29 March 2018.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules, 2016 Tommy Tse Employment
Agreement and 2018 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement and the annual caps
were only subject to the disclosure in annual report, announcement and annual
review by independent non-executive Directors and auditor requirements,
but were exempt from the circular and independent Shareholders” approval
requirements as all of the relevant percentage ratios for the aggregate annual
package of Mr. Tommy Tse was less than 5%.

On 26 March 2020, a renewed employment agreement was entered into for a
further term of 2 years commencing on 1 April 2020 and expiring on 31 March
2022 (“2020 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement”). Subsequently, on 28 March
2022, a renewed employment agreement was entered into for a further term
of 3 years commencing on 1 April 2022 and expiring on 31 March 2025 (“2022
Tommy Tse Employment Agreement”), which is terminable on three months’
notice in writing by either party. According to 2020 Tommy Tse Employment
Agreement and 2022 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement, the total amount
(including basic salary and discretionary bonus) payable to Mr. Tommy Tse for
any financial year shall not exceed the de minimis threshold of HK$3,000,000
under Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules; any excess amount shall be payable
to Mr. Tommy Tse upon the Company having re-complied with the relevant
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In view of Mr. Tommy Tse’s valuable contribution to the Group, the
improvements of the Group’s performance and the market condition during
2021/22, the Board has approved to revise the annual cap of the total amount
payable to Mr. Tommy Tse under 2020 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement for
2021/22 to HK$3,200,000. Further details are disclosed in the announcement
dated 21 June 2022.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules, all of the relevant percentage
ratios for the total amount payable to Mr. Tommy Tse for 2021/22 was less
than 5%. As regards 2021/22, 2020 Tommy Tse Employment Agreement and
the revised annual cap were only subject to the disclosure in annual report,
announcement and annual review by independent non-executive Directors
and auditor requirements, but were exempt from the circular and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements.
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The total amount paid to Mr. Tommy Tse under 2022 Tommy Tse Employment
Agreement for the Year is below de minimis threshold for the purposes of Rule
14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules, Tommy Tse Employment is fully exempt from
Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under
the Listing Rules. During the Year, the Company has complied with the relevant
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above and disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, there was no connected transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company, its holding company or subsidiaries was
a party, and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director, either
directly or indirectly, had a material interest, nor any interest in competing
business, whether directly or indirectly, nor contract of significance between
the Company or its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or its subsidiaries,
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year and up to the
date of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year, which do not constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules, are disclosed in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed as at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every Director or other officers of the Company shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all losses or damages which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage, which is currently in force and was in force throughout the Year, for
the Directors and officers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the Year.

BANK LOANS

Particulars of bank loans of the Group as at 31 March 2024 are set out in note 26
to the consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 237 to
238 of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

Acting as guarantor for the facilities agreement with Hang Seng
Bank Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited, United
Overseas Bank Limited, Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, Bank
SinoPac, Hong Kong Branch and China Construction Bank (Asia)
Corporation Limited

On 6 May 2022, the Company and a subsidiary of the Company as guarantors
and another subsidiary of the Company as borrower (the “Borrower”) entered
into a facilities agreement (the “Facilities Agreement”) with Hang Seng Bank
Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited, United Overseas Bank Limited,
Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited, Bank SinoPac, Hong Kong Branch and China
Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited acting as mandated lead arrangers
and original lenders, pursuant to which certain loan facilities, comprising a term
loan and a revolving loan, in the aggregate amount of HK$820,000,000 (the
“Facilities”), has been granted to the Borrower for a term of 3.5 years from the
date of the first utilisation of the Facilities.

Pursuant to the Facilities Agreement, it will be an event of default if Ms. Yau On
Yee, Annie, the spouse of Mr. Tommy Tse (being the controlling Shareholder)
ceases to be the chairman of the Board; or Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie and her
immediate family members (including any child, stepchild, parent, stepparent,
spouse, sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law,
brother-in-law and sister-in-law) taken as a whole cease to (i) be, directly or
indirectly, the single largest Shareholder; or (i) have control of the Company
(where “control” is defined as meaning the power (whether by way of ownership
of shares, proxy, contract, agency or otherwise) to: (a) appoint or remove all,
or the majority of, directors on the Board or such other persons who may be
charged with or entitled to exercise central management and control of that
corporate person; or (b) directly or indirectly to otherwise direct or cause the
direction of management and policies of that corporate person) (which, for
the avoidance of doubt, includes the right to determine the composition of
a majority of the Board); or Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie and her immediate family
members taken as a whole cease to remain as the direct or indirect, legal and
beneficial owner of at least 36% of the issued share capital of the Company
which is free from any Security (as defined in the Facilities Agreement).
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Upon the occurrence of such an event of default which is continuing, the agent
under the Facilities Agreement may, and shall if so directed by the Majority
Lenders (as defined in the Facilities Agreement), cancel the Commitments (as
defined in the Facilities Agreement) or any part thereof, and/or declare all or
part of the loans outstanding under the Facilities, together with accrued interest,
and all other amounts accrued or outstanding under the Finance Documents
(as defined in the Facilities Agreement) be immediately due and payable, and/
or declare all or part of the loans outstanding under the Facilities be payable
on demand, and/or exercise or direct the security agent to exercise any or all
of its rights, remedies, powers or discretions under the Finance Documents (as
defined in the Facilities Agreement).

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules. Throughout the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has been in compliance with the code provisions set out in the CG
Code, save and except for code provision C.2.1, details of which are set out in
the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors and
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code
throughout the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group continues to comply with the relevant laws and regulations, such
as the Bermuda Companies Act, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), the SFO, the Listing Rules and other rules and regulations
implemented in relevant jurisdictions. During the Year, the Company has
complied, to the best of the knowledge of the Directors, with all relevant rules
and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of
the Group.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any relief and exemption from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have been
audited by Ernst & Young (“EY"). EY will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of EY as
independent auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2024 AGM.

By Order of the Board
Yau On Yee, Annie
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has committed to achieving high corporate governance standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are essential
in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.

During the Year, the Company has applied the principles and complied with all
the code provisions, except for code provision C.2.1, as set out in the CG Code
contained in Appendix C1 (formerly Appendix 14) to the Listing Rules.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The offices of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company
are held by Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie. The Board believes that Ms. Yau On Yee,
Annie can provide the Company with strong and consistent leadership and
allows for effective and efficient planning and implementation of business
decisions and strategies. The Board also considers that the current structure
of vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive in the same person will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the
management of the Company.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND CULTURE

A robust corporate culture is vital for effective corporate governance which is
essential for the sustainable success of the Group in the long term. The Board
plays a leading role in aligning the corporate culture with the Company’s vision,
mission, and values, guiding employees’ behaviors, business practices, and
strategies.

Through setting the tone and molding the Company’s corporate culture based
on core values embraced at all organizational levels, the Board plays a pivotal
part in fostering a culture that emphasizes lawful, ethical and responsible
behavior. Recognising the significance of stakeholders throughout the Company,
the Board strives to deliver superior products and services, creating value
through sustainable growth and ongoing development.

_\LII_/\—/-\—\

TEERRSE

EREARR
EESHNERBKFNEEERR
EFEME ERARAREH L‘M%@HQ%TUET&?%BHE’J 3

RBFOCEMENBEOIIRT - SAFHOEE A
WA D o

RAFER - NRA—ERA_EMRBIMERC (AT EE A+
79) KZEE R ST R Pl 2 R A K8 7 2 8B s AR - 1
SFRIMERSCE C2MER I o

REERTAZTFAKRXEC2UERTE - E/FRITHEH
MWABEDRHR  TEAR - AEE - ARRIZFERITHAE
BZBBEHABZELLET -EFRA  BRHELL
AERRBEERAR —BMAETEE - TR ARLDHE
HREMEEEBARRKE - ELGNAL - BAlARA
—ABEERERITRESNEBTEWERARARESS R
BEEZENELTE -

RERMENL

BEMNGEMCRERRFECEEANERKRS - MR
CEERHAKEERUKENRUKNERER - BT
B e ECEARTNESR o MEEHRES
& BERGUETIGEMIESI R THHRTNTR  UEE
TEIEEFISR AR o

BEEeRmEWBETARANMEL  NEEEEE®
MROEBEAER YRGS HEBENESRRESE &
FEEMBEENEEBRNCEXXL - FBAEESTEEM
EEEERBIFOENEZN AR NREHRSRE
MAIENERMRE  TEBKELERRERAFNEL
EEE -

059



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

TEERARE(E)

With a firmly established vision, mission and values framework, the Company
directs employee conduct and business endeavors, ensuring their integration
into overarching business strategies.

Vision

Bring a transformative voice to the traditional world of fine jewellery, redefine
luxury by unique individuality, self-actualization and exceptional craftsmanship.
Mission

Create delicate pieces to articulate feelings and capture vital moments, inspire
versatile designs that break boundaries and go beyond sex, ages, skin colors and
cultures.

Values

Diversity - Embrace diversity and respect differences.
Integrity - Be open, truthful and ethical consistently.

Excellence - Demonstrate persistent commitment and make every endeavour to
achieve excellence while keep reflecting, improving and innovating to reach new
heights.

Sustainability - Make decisions taking into consideration their potential impacts
in the long run.

People - Offer customers the most genuine and distinguished service and
experience.

More information about the Group’s vision, mission and values is available on the
Company’s website at ir.tsl.com (About TSL | ¥ section).

The Group has continued to strengthen its cultural framework throughout the
Year, details of the strategic initiatives are disclosed in the sections headed
“Letter to Shareholders” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report and in a separate ESG Report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the Directors and all the Directors have
confirmed their compliance with the Model Code throughout the Year.

The Company has also established written guidelines no less exacting than the
Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines™) for securities transactions by
employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information
of the Group. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees was noted by the Company during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Board during the Year and up to the date of this annual report comprises
the following directors:

The Board

Executive Directors:
HITES :
Ms. YAU On Yee, Annie
(Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)
Rzt
(FERITBABE)
Ms. NG Yi Kum, Estella*
(Deputy Chairman, Chief Strategy Officer &
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
hamEL =+
(BIEFE - BERBEENBFERARIWE)

Remarks:

* Resigned on 27 May 2024
o Appointed on 21 June 2023
e Retired on 27 September 2023
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Independent Non-executive Directors:
BYFEHITES !

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael
BRIA S S

Mr. Chow Chee Wai, Christopher
FEaB L

Mr. Alex Chan**

PR {E FR SR A

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert***

BB AL

B -

* 202495827 BEHT
= M2023F6 A2 BEZE
2023% 9 A27 BB

EETY
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The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual report. None of the
members of the Board is related to one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

The offices of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company are held
by Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie. The Board considers that the current management
structure has operated efficiently. According to the Company’s practice, all
major strategic decisions are taken by the Board, or relevant committee of the
Board, as duly constituted.

The Board considers that the current structure of vesting the roles of chairman
and chief executive in the same person will not impair the balance of power and
authority between the Board and the management of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors, representing one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. All of them are not connected with any Director or substantial shareholder
of the Company. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael and Mr. Chow Chee Wai, Christopher have served
the Board as independent non-executive Directors for more than nine years.
Notwithstanding their long term services, given their extensive experience
as professional accountant or seasoned business leader would significantly
contribute to the strategy development and continuous improvement on
internal controls and other relevant financial and corporate governance matters
of the Company, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that they demonstrate
complete independency in character and judgement to fulfil their designated
roles, and the Board is of the opinion that they continue to bring independent
and objective perspectives to the Company’s affairs. Mr. Alex Chan was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 21 June 2023.

Mechanism has been established to ensure independent views and input
are available to the Board. Independent non-executive Directors exercise
independent judgement and provide constructive challenge for the executive
Directors and the management, annual meeting with the Chairman is also a
direct and effective channel for the independent non-executive Directors to
express independent views. Any Director may seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense.

In accordance with its clear terms of reference, the Nomination Committee
will access the independence of all independent non-executive Directors
annually and make sure that they are free from any relationship which may
affect their independent judgement. During the Year, the Board reviewed the
implementation of the said independence mechanism and considered that it
remains effective.
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Re-election of Directors

Pursuant to bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws, any director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election. Code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code states
that every director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the Directors is appointed for a specific term of three years and is
subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising its affairs. The Directors make decisions objectively in the
interests of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a
wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the Company
as well as the services and advice from the Company Secretary and senior
management. The Directors may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by them

and the Board regularly reviews the contribution required from each Director to
perform his/her responsibilities to the Company.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, risk management and internal control, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational matters
of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company are delegated to the management.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. All Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.

A summary of training received by Directors during the Year according to the
records provided by the Directors is as follows:
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Attending briefings/
trainings/seminars and/
or reading materials

HEENE E

Directors BE Mgk, SEESH
Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie P& E T L v/
Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella* h&EEL L v/
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael FR¥E LI v
Mr. Chow Chee Wai, Christopher ELRE LA v
Mr. Alex Chan** FoR (& J S A v
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert*** BEERC g A v

065



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
G EERRE(H)
Remarks:

* Resigned on 27 May 2024
o Appointed on 21 June 2023
e Retired on 27 September 2023

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All the said Board committees of the Company are established with
defined written terms of reference, which are posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange and are available to the Shareholders upon
request.

All or the majority of the members of the said Board committees are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman and
members of each Board committee is set out in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include the following:

. to review the financial statements and reports and consider any significant
or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible for accounting
and financial reporting function, internal auditor or external auditor before
submission to the Board;

. to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control systems and
internal audit function; and

. to review the relationship with the external auditor with reference to the
work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of engagement, and
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of external auditor.
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The Audit Committee oversees the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, reviews the internal audit report submitted by the Group's
Internal Audit Department (the “IA Department”), reports to the Board on any
material issues, and makes recommendations to the Board.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the Year, a summary of work
performed is set out as follows:

. reviewed the final results and annual report for 2022/23;
. approved the audit fee quotation from external auditor for 2022/23;
. reviewed the significant issues on financial reporting and compliance

procedures, risk management and internal control systems, as well as the
effectiveness of internal audit function;

. reviewed the interim results and interim report for the six months ended
30 September 2023;

. reviewed the audit plan for the Year; and

. reviewed the scope of work and re-appointment of external auditor with
reference to audit fee market data.
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Remuneration Committee

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include the
following:

068

to make recommendations to the Board on the establishment of formal
and transparent procedures for developing the remuneration policy and
structure for all Directors and the senior management, which shall ensure
that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding
his/her own remuneration;

to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and the senior management with reference to the
performance of the individual and the Company as well as market practice
and conditions;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of the non-executive Directors with reference to the performance of the
individual and the Company as well as market practice and conditions;

to review and approve the compensation arrangements for the executive
Directors and the senior management in connection with any loss or

termination of their offices or appointments; and

to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes.
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The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Year, a summary of
work performed is set out as follows:

. reviewed and approved the discretionary bonus to the executive Directors
and the senior management for 2022/23:

. reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and the senior management for the Year;

. reviewed and recommended to the Board on the remuneration of the
additional independent non-executive Director for the Year;

. reviewed and recommended to the Board on the remuneration of the
independent non-executive Directors for the Year; and

. noted the remuneration package of Mr. Tse Sui Luen for the Year.
The emolument policy and remuneration packages of the Directors, senior

management of the Company and employees of the Group are disclosed in the
section headed “Report of the Directors” of this annual report.
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The remuneration of the members of senior management of the Company by ARG SHEREAERRNEEZNFMEBE LT :
band for the Year is set out below:

Number of Persons
Range of Remuneration HENEE AE
HK$2,000,000 to HK$2,999,999 12,000,000 E % #2,999,9997T 1
HK$3,000,000 to HK$3,999,999 13,000,000 2 %% 3,999,999 7T 0
HK$4,000,000 to HK$4,999,999 714,000,000 T E ¥ 4,999,999 7 0
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Nomination Committee

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include the following:
. to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

. to make recommendation to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors;

. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; and
. to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various diversity aspects under the Board Diversity
Policy that complement the Company’s corporate strategy, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, talents, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments would be based on meritocracy, and candidates would be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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The Board has adopted the Director Nomination Policy, which aims to set
out the procedures, process and criteria for nomination and appointment of
Directors, and to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business and succession
plan. In identifying, evaluating and selecting suitable candidate for directorship,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidates’ character and
integrity, potential contributions to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills,
knowledge, experience and time commitment, diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy, independence (for independent non-executive Director)
and other relevant criteria before making recommendation to the Board. The
Nomination Committee would also rank the candidates by order of preference
based on the Company’'s needs and the candidates’ reference check where
required.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Year, a summary of
work performed is set out as follows:

. reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board, the Board
Diversity Policy and the Director Nomination Policy;

. assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

. nominated and appointed an additional independent non-executive
Director; and

. recommended the re-election of Directors at the 2023 AGM and the role
of Directors in various Board committees.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The following table shows the gender ratio in the Board and the Group’s
workforce (including senior management) respectively as at 31 March 2024:

EENALEEEE (BIESHREEAR)RN2024F3 A31
BEMRIEE IR TR

Female Male

i Bt

Board e 40% 60%

Workforce BE 75.2% 24.8%
The Board considers that during the Year, the Board composition of two females ZEZERE RAFENEESHMBLUMEETN =2
and three male Directors with diverse professional background and industry ZEEAANK @ FEEENTREESSMITELRERST

experience maintained an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives. Gender
diversity has been achieved at board level with at least one female Director
throughout the Year and up to the date of this report. It is therefore not
necessary to set any target or timeline for enhancing gender diversity on the
Board for the time being. To maintain gender diversity, both male and female
candidates will be shortlisted for consideration before appointing a new Director
where possible.

The Company values diversity (including gender diversity) across all levels of
the Group. All employees are provided equal opportunities regardless of their
gender, age, nationality and religion. Taking into consideration of the industry
norm, the Board is of the view that the gender diversity in workforce is currently
balanced, and no immediate plan or measurable objective for enhancing gender
diversity in workforce is required. Further details on the gender ratio in the
Group’s workforce are set out in the ESG Report.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Employees Written Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEE
MEMBERS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board committees
meetings and the general meeting of the Company held during the Year is set
out in the table below:

Directors Board
B= B
Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie 4/4
it

Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella* 4/4
hESrt-

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael 4/4
BRM YR

Mr. Chow Chee Wai, Christopher 4/4
EREELE

Mr. Alex Chan** 3/3
BRIEREL

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert*** 2/2

BRI AL
Remarks:

* Resigned on 27 May 2024
. Appointed on 21 June 2023
e Retired on 27 September 2023

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors
during the Year. All the relevant Directors attended this meeting.
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AN M s oA R A (4EE )
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the Year.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, inside information announcements
and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and information
as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the
Company'’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yeung Yuk Lun has been appointed to succeed Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella as
the Company Secretary with effect from 27 May 2024. During the Year, Ms. Ng
Yi Kum, Estella had duly complied with the relevant training requirement under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual report.

The remuneration paid/payable to EY, the external auditor of the Company,
was approximately HK$2,700,000 for audit services during the Year. No other
assurance services fee was paid/payable to EY. The remuneration paid/payable
to EY was approximately HK$206,000 for non-assurance services during the
Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness at
least annually through the Audit Committee. The Group’s executive management
and the IA Department have been delegated the responsibility of identifying and
evaluating the risks faced by the Group (including ESG risks) and of designing,
operating and monitoring an effective internal control system that covers
governance, compliance, risk management, financial as well as operational
control.

The risk management process includes risk identification, risk evaluation,
risk management measures and risk control and review. The management is
delegated to identify, analyze, evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate
risks associated with any activity, function or process within its scope of
responsibility and authority. It is endeavored to evaluate and compare the level
of risk against predetermined acceptable levels of risk. For risk control and
monitoring, it involves making decisions regarding which risks are acceptable
and how to address those that are not. Any material risk identified by the
management or the IA Department will be reported to the Audit Committee and
the Board. The management and the IA Department assist the Audit Committee
and the Board to manage and control such risks by ensuring an effective risk
management system is maintained and operated within the Group.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance on the effectiveness and efficiency of operations in achieving the
established corporate objectives, safeguarding the Group’s assets, providing
reliable financial reporting information and complying with the applicable
laws and regulations. Systems and procedures are also established to identify,
measure, manage and control, rather than eliminate, different risks arising from
different business and functional activities.
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The IA Department plays an important role in enhancing internal control
system of the Group. It assists the Board in determining whether sound internal
control system is maintained and operated in compliance with the established
processes and standards by performing periodic audits over all major operations
of the Group, under a rotational cycle. An annual audit plan (comprising annual
audit focus and audit frequencies) is prepared based on the IA Department’s
independent risk assessment. Such work plan is discussed and agreed with
the Audit Committee at the beginning of each financial year. If any material
risks or internal control defects are found, the IA Department will discuss with
respective department heads to have actions agreed and subsequently followed
up, in order to ensure that satisfactory controls are maintained. Major internal
audit findings will be submitted to the Audit Committee for review and all
improvement actions will be properly followed up by management to ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable period of time.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent consulting firm to assist the
|A Department to provide professional internal audit services to the Group. Such
appointment aims to provide leadership to and enhance professionalism and
independence of the IA Department.

The Group complies with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules.
The Group will disclose inside information to the public as soon as reasonably
practicable unless the information falls within any of the “safe harbours”
provisions and satisfies the conditions under the SFO. Before the information is
fully disclosed to the public, the Group will ensure that the information is kept
strictly confidential.

The Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of confidential or inside
information and established and implemented procedures for responding to
external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so that only the executive Directors
are authorized to communicate with parties outside the Group.
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Through the Audit Committee, the Board has conducted annual review of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems for
the Year, covering all material financial, operational and compliance controls,
ESG performance and reporting and considered the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems to be effective and adequate. There were no
suspected material irregularities found or significant areas of concern identified
during the Year that might affect the Shareholders.

The Group has established a whistleblowing policy and system for employees
and those who deal with the Company, such as customers and suppliers, to raise
concerns in confidence and anonymity that they may have regarding any act of
misconduct, malpractice, or irregularity in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters. The Audit Committee will ensure that proper arrangement is in
place for fair and independent investigation of the possible improprieties.

The Group is committed to maintaining a high standard of integrity and ethical
operation. Anti-corruption policy and reporting mechanism of suspected
corruption practices are in place and communicated to all employees and
business partners of the Group, which provide clear guidelines on preventing
corruption, bribery, money laundering and terrorist financing. Further disclosure
on how the Group promotes and supports anti-corruption laws and regulations
is made in the ESG Report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene a Special General
Meeting ("SGM")

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws and the Bermuda Companies Act,
registered shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-tenth (10%)
of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company (“SGM Requisitionists”) can deposit a written request
to convene a SGM at the registered office of the Company (the “Registered
Office”). The SGM Requisitionists must state in their request(s) the purposes of
the SGM and such request(s) must be signed by all the SGM Requisitionists and
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
the SGM Requisitionists.

The share registrars of the Company will verify the SGM Requisitionists’
particulars in the SGM Requisitionists’ request. Promptly after confirmation from
the share registrars of the Company that the SGM Requisitionists’ request is in
order, the Company Secretary will arrange with the Board to convene a SGM
by serving sufficient notice to all the registered shareholders of the Company
in accordance with all the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. On
the contrary, if the SGM Requisitionists’ request is verified not in order, the SGM
Requisitionists will be advised of the outcome and accordingly, a SGM will not
be convened as requested.

The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a SGM if within
twenty-one days of the deposit of the SGM Requisitionists’ request, the Board
does not proceed to duly convene a SGM provided that any SGM so convened
is held within three months from the date of the original SGM Requisitionists’
request. A SGM so convened by the SGM Requisitionists shall be convened in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to be
convened by the Company.

078

R SRAER
Hé%@%ﬁﬂﬁ%#%%‘J 2 ([EREFMNRE]) 22
=

BEQARMAUESSKERARERARE  HAARAME
BNARARBABRRAGREZHREBRATIR 22—
(0% ZARRFRER (BRRFHIAGZFEAL - AIAK
NELZEMMER ([EMRER]) RREEZEH
RBRRESRAE - BRRBHIAGE2FAMBEEELZFDT
PABRRFERIARGZBN  MAEBEBLERAERREH
EEFAFEE  UAHETHERBAZXHAERK - &8
AR—BRALBRREAGEBARE -

==
BRE

ARARZENETESRERRBIAGEFARRZE
BAOIZBRERAGZ2BAEN - —EEEARRZK
NELEEARREIRG2FAZEFZTEEF - A F
WEBZANREMBERBEELREEREARREZ2ME
BLERELARBNTREEZS LA HRRRR KR
gl HERBIARE2FAZZFLLERETE
B ARAHEARREIASEFARBER - ME
BIREFERARBRFEIAE -

HEESGXERRREIAGEFARREFLA -+ —
FAEXARERENAE  AIRRBIAE2FA (K
TREZBEFABRRELBALZEMAL) TETAE
RRRESRIAE MR TR BRZERRRSIAEA
RERFHIARE2FAERR2H 2 AR =EARE
17 RRENAGE2BAKILBHZBRSRI ARG AER
BN ARREREHRZ TG -



Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a
general meeting

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act, either any number of the registered
shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company (“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such registered
shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders
of the Company entitled to receive notice of the next annual general meeting
notice of any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be
moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to shareholders of the Company
entitled to have notice of any general meeting any statement of not more than
1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the Requisitionists; and
it must be deposited at the Registered Office with a sum reasonably sufficient
to meet the Company’s relevant expenses, not less than six weeks before the
meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than
one week before the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided
that if an annual general meeting is called for a date six weeks or less after the
requisition has been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the
time required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes
thereof.
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Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in
writing through the Company Secretary whose contact details are as follows:

The Company Secretary

Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited
Ground Floor, Block B, Summit Building

30 Man Yue Street, Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2356 0215

Email: enquiry@tslj.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of
the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted the Shareholders Communication Policy with the
objective of ensuring that the Shareholders, potential investors as well as
analysts reporting and analyzing the Company’s performance are provided with
ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company. Information is communicated mainly through the
Company’s website, financial reports, announcements and other corporate
communications as well as general meetings and investors’ meetings. The
Chairman of the Board and the chairmen of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee attend general meetings to answer
Shareholders’ questions. Taking into account of the communication channels
available, the Board has reviewed the implementation of the Shareholders
Communication Policy during the Year and considered that it remains effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company’s constitutional documents have been posted under the
sub-section “Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws” of “Corporate
Governance” section on the Company’s website at ir.tsl.com and the Stock
Exchange’s website. There are no changes in the constitutional documents of
the Company during the Year.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

e

Bz BAD S =

Ernst & Young LG RN SE AT Tel EE: +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place EBHIREREEOTON  Fax §H: +852 2868 4432
979 King's Road K —RE2TIE ey.com

§j¢ Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tse Sui Luen Jewellery
(International) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 89 to 236, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA™) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSASs™) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that the Group incurred a loss for the year of HK$374 million during
the year ended 31 March 2024, and as of 31 March 2024 the Group had cash
and bank balances (including pledged time deposits) of HK474 million while
total interest-bearing bank borrowings amounted to HK$1,060 million, of which
HK$569 million was classified as current liabilities. These conditions, along with
other matters as set forth in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter
RARETSEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B R BE s E(F)

B ETEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
REEEE PR NMELDY

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

Y -~ B RREREHEEEZHENS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group recorded property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets amounting to HK$138 million and HK$135 million,
respectively. Management had performed impairment assessment on individual
cash-generating unit and asset with impairment indicators and the Group
recorded impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
amounting to HK$37 million and HK$58 million, respectively, during the year to
write down the carrying amounts of these assets to the recoverable amounts.
The recoverable amounts were determined based on the higher of fair value
less cost of disposal and value in use calculation. Management has estimated
the fair value less cost of disposal of certain properties with the assistance
of independent professional valuers. For value in use calculation, significant
judgement is required to determine the value in use amounts based upon the
expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit estimated.
The estimation process is highly based on assumptions, which are influenced
by projected future market and economic conditions.

R-ZZB-_MFE=ZA=+—H  EKEBEIVE BEEIEREREEED R
BENRBS—B=T\BEIREE—BE=THEET - EEERBERED
SETEREELRUNEEZRERN S - ERERAFERANE  BE
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CHREEZREERETREIRE - ATKEIRE N RE R A EER L EK AR
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The accounting policies and disclosures of the impairment of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets are included in notes 2.4, 3, 14 and 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

ERME BMERIBREREEEZRESTERREALBEEENSARNGZE Y
BREMTE2.4 3 145%16 °

Our audit procedures included evaluating the Group’s
policies and procedures in identifying impairment
indicators and assessing management’s significant
assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecasts by
reviewing the Group’s business plan and evaluating the
growth rate by comparing to market data. In addition,
we involved our internal valuation specialists to assist
us in assessing the fair value less cost of disposal of
certain properties, and assessing the methodology and
the discount rates used to determine the recoverable
amounts of the property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets. We also compared the cash flow forecasts
with historical data of the Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
B B R EE(E)

Key audit matters (continued)

Key audit matter
BREETEE

FARETEEE®)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
ZEEEE R NAEEK

Net realisable value of inventories
i TR FE

As at 31 March 2024, the Group recorded inventories of approximately
HK$1,382 million before provision for impairment of approximately HK$129
million. The write-down of inventories to net realisable value is estimated
by management through the application of judgement and the use of highly
subjective assumptions. During the year ended 31 March 2024, a provision for
impairment of inventories of approximately HK$37 million was debited to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss based on management’s assessment.

R-ZE-_mOFE=A=+—QH "
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JC ©

The accounting policies and disclosure for the impairment provision on
inventories are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Our audit procedures included reviewing the Group’s
procedures in identifying and valuing obsolete,
damaged, slow-moving, excess and other inventory
items whose costs may not be fully recoverable;
evaluating inputs and assumptions used by the Group in
calculating the impairment; and assessing the adequacy
of the impairment recorded by reviewing subsequent
sales after the year end and comparing with historical
sales records.
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B BE R EE(E)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B B R EE(E)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B B R EE(E)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Lai Ho Yin.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

,iﬂ/_\:l\/
IQ\\/\D ,\ﬁﬁ%

2024 2023
Year ended 31 March 2024 Notes 2024 20234
HE2024F3A3NAILFE Bt HK$’000 B#¥F T HK$'000 ¥ T T
Turnover = 0] 5 2,654,627 2,590,936
Cost of sales SHERK AR (1,868,962) (1,682,093)
Gross profit EY 785,665 908,843
Other income and gains, net B A Rifas - SRR 6 16,774 52,246
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (873,591) (782,302)
Administrative expenses THREHR (185,777) (156,589)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS K (FR) B (256,929)
Finance costs s EA 8 (90,893) (69,375)
LOSS BEFORE TAX R %1 A 5 1B (47,177)
Income tax expense FECE 0= 1 (26,524) (24,366)
O OR AR 7K o [E Er 1S Vi 46 4
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: LT
Owners of the Company KARHER A (374,198) (71,435)
Non-controlling interests JEIE R (148) 108)
(374,346) (71,543)

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO &2 F#HA AL

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY SRER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EARREE (BIL) 13 150.2 28.7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

et EW aRE

Year ended 31 March 2024
HZE2024F3ANEIEFE

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/
(LOSS)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
that will not be reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods:

Gain on property revaluation

Remeasurement gain on defined
benefit plan

Income tax effect

Net other comprehensive income that
will not be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods

Other comprehensive loss that may
be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

Net other comprehensive loss that may
be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests
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Notes
BT
AFEEEER

Hit2EWA A/ (ER)

ARETEENIBERERZ
HitzmEWE (&BE)EE :

MEE G2 WS
ARERFFEMNE-HKA

27
TEE - 28

ARBTEEHIBERER
ZEMEEBAFE

ARAEEHR D BEERTERZ
Hib 2 HEEIEER :

BREGINETS 2 [E R 2R

ARAEEHRDEERTERZ
Hiv 2 HEESEFHE

REEHMEEK

PEfL 458 -
ZNNSIE SN
ESE G

2024
20245

HK$’000 ¥ F 5T
(374,346)

2023
20234
HK$'000 % Tt

85,141 35,063
496 51
(82) ®

85,555 35,106

(51,711) (113,160)

(51,711) (113,160)
844 8,054

40.50 49 59
(340,333) (149,437)
(169) (160)
(340,502) (149,597)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POS

At 31 March 2024
20243318

TION

ARA B IR 0 R R

2024
20244
HK$’000 ¥ F T

2023
20234
HK$ 000 E# T T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Other asset

Prepayments and deposits
Deferred tax assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Notes

B aE
FERENEE
W - BERZHE 14
WEWHE 15
FRAREE 16(a)
mEE 17
HEtEE 18
AR REE 21
IR IR E B 28

RBEE

138,418 151,725
151,910 69,300
135,030 208,721
99 99

500 500
28,145 32,672
34,518 34,081
488,620 497,098

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Tax recoverable

Pledged time deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

TE
R BR 3
B - E AR A

AU EIFE IR
B EHEFER
RekReEEY

22
22

1,253,246 1,469,770
77,447 78,575
62,325 72,133

5,524 12,144
294,143 366,216
179,967 348,282

1,872,652 2,347,120

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Gold loan

Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

Tax payable

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

nRBRE

SRR

HAt N Rt E R
BE2EX
FTRRITER
HERE

FEfSTRIR

RBEEFE
MEERRBAEE

16(b)

(337,981) (328,537)
(231,532) (257,679)
(16,185) -
(568,527) (571,822)
(73,515) (93,927)
(5,866) (7,623)
(1,233,606) (1,259,588)
639,046 1,087,532
1,127,666 1,584,630




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

HEMBRABER(E)

At 31 March 2024
R20244E3A318

2024
20245
HK$’000 ¥ F 5T

2023
20234
HK$'000 B8 Tt

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Employee benefit obligations
Lease liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company

Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2024.

Yau On Yee, Annie EBZ

NN NG AN

Notes
B
HEEN R B E R 24
FFERITER 26
EERAES 27
HEaE 16(b)
ELERIEAE 28
BEFRE
R
BEITARAR 29
[k 3
AATHEEAELER
IR ER
EHBE

Director %

(1,938) (1,957)
(491,682) (601,755)
(3,407) (3,894)
(43,412) (59,732)
(34,265) (23,828)
(574,704) (691,166)
552,962 893,464
(62,296) (62,296)
(491,429) (831,762)
(553,725) (894,058)
763 594
(552,962) (893,464)

FEEN20245%6 28 BAZEIL FFAT )3 o



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAREZBE

%

Year ended 31 March 2023 Attributable to owners of the Company
HEWBFIANALER RARERAEE
Capital Non-
Issued Share and other Retained Proposed controlling Total
capital premium reserves profits dividend Total interests equity
EXR
BEARE  RHEE EfhikE BRM B AR HIREZR  EagE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BSTr  B¥Tr  B¥Tr BETr A¥Tr AETn AfTr A%t
(note 39 (note 39
(note 29) (GIO)] (o))
(W39 (HH39
(H5£29) ©0) @)

At 1 April 2022 R202F4A18 62,296 122,01 247291 611,897 4984 1,048,479 (434) 1,048,045
Loss for the year TEERE - - - (71.435) - (71435) (108) (71543)
Other comprehensive KEEEMZARA
income/(loss) for the year: (E#8)
Exchange differences on translation BERNEBNELZE
of foreign operations - - (113,108) - - (113,108) (52) (113,160)
Gain on property revaluation MEBRG 2N - - 35,063 - - 35,063 - 35,063
Remeasurement gain on defined RERMFEIMERDKE -
benefit plan, net of tax NBHE - - - 43 - 43 - 43
Total comprehensive loss for the year rEEZA/RBER - - (78,045) (71392) - (149,437) (160) (149,597)
Dividend paid BIRRE - - - - (4,984) (4,984) - (4,984)
At 31 March 2023 20233 A3 62,296 122,01 169,246* 540,505 - 894,058 (594) 893,464
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Year ended 31 March 2024
H22024F3831ALEE

AtT April 2023

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive
income/(loss) for the year:
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations
Gain on property revaluation
Remeasurement gain on defined
benefit plan, net of tax

Total comprehensive
income/(loss) for the year

At 31 March 2024

*

position.
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202354 AR
AERBR
AERAMEE

YA/ (BR) -
RESNRBNERZE

nxEfhza

RERMAEINE S N

pilie

TEERERA/(BR)
28

R2024E3 /3R

ONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRR NEE
Capital Non-
Issued Share and other Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserves profits Total interests equity
BAR
BRITRE BB EE Hb e REEF AR FERER BREAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BRI BETT BETT BETT BETT
(note 39 (note 39
(note 29) ()(i) (c)(ii))
(K39 (K39
(K&F29) (©)) (c)(ii))
62,296 122,01 169,246 540,505 894,058 (594) 893,464
- - - (374,198) (374,198) (148) (374,346)
- - (51,690) - (51,690) (21 (51,711)
- - 85,141 - 85,141 - 85,141
- - - 414 414 - 414
- - 33,451 (373,784) (340,333) (169) (340,502)
62,296 122,011 202,697* 166,721* 553,725 (763) 552,962

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$491,429,000  *
(31 March 2023: HK$831,762,000) in the consolidated statement of financial

hEREFBAXNGAVBRRARZGBARBEE
491,429,0007T (202343 A31H : /#1831,762,0007T) °



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

melREeRER

Year ended 31 March 2024
HZE2024F3 8318 1EFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Loss before tax

Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income

Loss on disposal of items of property,

plant and equipment
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Gain on lease modification

Impairment/(reversal of impairment)

of trade receivables, net
Impairment of other receivables
Impairment of property, plant and
equipment
Impairment of right-of-use assets
Fair value losses/(gains) on
investment properties
Provision for impairment of
inventories, net
Fair value loss on gold loan

SERBRONE
BB AT
wE

B
FIBMA

BEWF BELRBARAER
EREEENE

e E 2 W
JEURFORE,CRER ) - F5E

H At e WAR BORLE
WE -~ BB RERERE

EREEERNE
BEWMENAABEBE (W)

Notes
Bt

2024
20245
HK$’000 ¥ F 5T

2023
20234
HK$ 000 E# T

(347,822) (47,177
90,893 69,375
(8,671) (10,612)
2,985 289
41,136 40,723
100,532 14,177
(7,434) -
301 (634)
1,067 -
36,782 4,200
58,490 14,800
7,390 (4,574)
36,595 2,847
3,492 -
15,736 183,414
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

HeRaRER(E)

Year ended 31 March 2024 Notes
HE2024F3A318 1EFE B 5
FERD /(Em)

FEURBR R (32 :0), R

FEARTRR ~ E A R IR E A8 B Rk

Decrease/(increase) in inventories

(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables

Decrease in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets

Increase in trade payables FESBRFRIZ AN

Decrease in other payables and accruals — Hth JB {7k & fE 5T 5 AR

Increase in employee benefit obligations 1 & %8 |3 7518 10

REXBETHRSE

B GRR),/ EENEH
ERNEEUIMNERIEIE
HEMN KR S50

REXEBEL 2R REFH

Cash flows generated from operations
Hong Kong profits tax refund/(paid)
Taxes paid other than Hong Kong
Interest element of lease payments

Net cash flows from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETBHZ2EHESRE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B U F 8 6

BHEMREBEFIORD (4Z0)

Decrease/(increase) in pledged time

deposits
Purchases of items of property, plant BEWE HERZEEER

and equipment 14
Purchases of items of prepaid land lease BB+ E 16

REWME  BFEMRERBMSHOR

Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

REBZBFA RS REFHR

Net cash flows used in investing
activities

096

2024 2023
20244 20234

HK$’000 &% F T HK$'000 & # T 7T
138,089 (177,023)

(1,554) 7,540

1,259 41,857

11,440 85,167
(13,430) (13,139)

9 2,644

161,549 130,460
6,242 (11,382)
(13,863) (23,386)
(7,889) (9,105)

146,039 86,587

8,671 10,612

61,556 (13,935)

(77,730) (105,410)

- (24,428)

2,382 881

(5,121) (132,280)




Year ended 31 March 2024

HZE2024F3 8318 1EFE

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

HeRaRER(E)

METBH 2 RSRE

Notes
Bt

2024
20245
HK$’000 ¥ F 5T

2023
20234
HK$'000 /&% T 7T

Proceeds from interest-bearing bank

borrowings
Repayment of interest-bearing bank
borrowings
New gold loan
Principal portion of lease payments
Interest paid
Dividend paid

Net cash flows (used in)/from financing

activities

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

HIBEBERTTERANSA

MIBESER
HENROEL D
BEARAE

BERRE

MEED (A EEzRE2RE
R

RERBREEEYZ (L), 1Em
T

32(b)
32(b)
32(b)
32(b)

12

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning

of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,

net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT

END OF THE YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents

RENZRERREEEY

SMEEESDYE - FE

RERZRERAESEEY

RERBESEB/UEEIT

RekBeEEY

22

79,562 753,577
(192,930) (500,409)
12,693 -
(115,807) (129,369)
(83,004) (60,270)
- (4,984)
(299,486) 58,545
(158,568)
348,282 354,507
(9,747) (19,077)

179,967

179,967

348,282

348,282
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 ¥ & MY &

098

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office
of the Company is located at 3 Floor, Sofia House, 48 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company
is located at Ground Floor, Block B, Summit Building, 30 Man Yue Street,
Hunghom, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture, sale and
marketing of jewellery products and the provision of service.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company is Partner
Logistics Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
("BVI”), and the ultimate holding company is Blink Technology Limited,
which is incorporated in the BVI, and the ultimate controlling party is Mr.
Tse Tat Fung, Tommy (“Mr. Tommy Tse”).

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

ARREBER

HEBMARE (BE)ARAF(TAQA]) DREE
EAMKI2EBERSEERAR - ARzt E
BALFA3rd Floor, Sofia House, 48 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda ° "ABIZ X B EE A
EBNEAMRBEIOREZE T AREH B -

REEBzFEEBARE  HE  HERKZEERNK
R -

EERE  MEBEREIBEEM A Partner Logistics
Limited BEBIZEBR AR RRIERAGANRABRE

LB E M BIBlink Technology Limited » &%
IR AT BB A -

B AR Z &R
ARTEEMBARZFBET -

Percentage of equity

Issued ordinary/ attributable to the

registration and business registered share capital Company
Name BWRAL M BRILEE/ A F L Principal activities
% RE£EHY SR A REBALL TEER
Direct  Indirect
HiE i
TSL Investment (B.V.1.) Limited BVI HK$1,000 100 - Investment holding
RBRZES ##1,0007T RAER
Ankenne Jewelry Co. Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Jewellery trading
BEHREBRAA £ BT KEE S
Beijing Tse Sui Luen Jewellery Company Limited** The People’s Republic of United States dollars - 100 Jewellery
It RHmBRE AR AR China (“PRC") (“US$") 2,000,000 manufacturing and
g AR AME (R ) 2,000,000%7T trading

BERERES



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEMECE)

AAIREEER (#®)
B AR ER (&)
AAREBMBLRZHBHT ()

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(continued)

Percentage of equity

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  attributable to the

registration and business registered share capital Company
Name BB ER BRITEE/ RAT L Principal activities
g REEE AR AR REFSL TEER
Direct  Indirect
HE i

Concepts Management (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Trademarks holding
BISERE (BE)ERAA i BT and investment in

trademarks

FAERERRARE

Edwine Jewellery Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100 Investment holding and
NHHERRAA B BE10007T provision of advisory

services

BB ER RIS AR

%
Excellent Ford Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Jewellery trading
BHERERARA & ##10,0007T KEEH
Gold Fast Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
SHRREBRAA &t BT BEER
Guangzhou Tai Yi Trading Company Limited** PRC HK$8,000,000 - 100 Jewellery trading
BMNEEEEERAR H 7 #8,000,0007C KEES
Guangzhou Xi Yun Jewellery Company Limited#** PRC RMB2,000,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
BINEERERRAR" H AR#2,000,0007T KETE
Guangzhou Xiang Yun Jewellery Company Limited®* PRC RMB3,000,000 - 100 Jewellery trading
BMNEEREERAF H AR®3,000,0007T KEES
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MBEWMEME(E)

1.  CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

100

Name

28

Monster Telescope Engineering Company Limited

ARENETRERAT

Infinite Assets Corp.

Liberty Mark Limited

Richfun Enterprises Limited

BEPEBRAR

Shanghai Fu Yun Jewellery Company Limited***

EREREERAR

Shenzhen Qianhai Tse Sui Luen Logistic Company
Limited**

ARSI B AR A E]

Tse Sui Luen Jewellery Company Limited (“TSLJ")#

ARBARB AR LR ([HRBKE])

Tse Sui Luen (Guangzhou) Jewellery Company
Limited*

Wink (BM) AEBERAR"

Place of incorporation/
registration and business

BB T

e

Hong Kong
0

BVI
RERXES
BVI
RERZES
Hong Kong
aE

PRC

FE

PRC

FE

Hong Kong
e

PRC
HE

1. RAREEER @
BB ARz &R (&)
ANDEEMBRARZHBOT - (&)

Issued ordinary/

registered share capital

DRTLE/
HEN

HK$10,000
##10,0007T

HK$277,254
7E#277,2547C
US$1

[EV

HK$1

BT
RMB1,000,000
AR®1000,0007T

RMB100,000
AK#100,0007T

HK$46,982,090
H146,982,0907T

HK$21,000,000
#121,000,0007T

Percentage of equity
attributable to the

Company
NG g
REESL
Direct  Indirect
HiE %
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100

Principal activities

FREK

Telescope research and
manufacturing
ZREMRREE
Investment holding
REER
Investment holding
REER
Investment holding
REER
Jewellery retailing
KETE
Logistics and supply
chain management
Wi R EREE
Jewellery trading and
retailing
KEBIRTE
Manufacturing and
distribution of
jewellery and
franchising
HRERE  HHEENE
%%



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(continued)

Name

&%

Tse Sui Luen Investment (China) Limited
HRRE (PE) BRAR
Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (China) Limited*#

HIRBRE ST (FE) ARAR ([HIHEERE])
Tse Sui Luen Jewellery Retailing Sdn. Bhd.

Tse Sui Luen (Hainan) Jewellery Limited***

S8 C8m) KEARAF"

Tse Sui Luen (Shanghai) Commercial Consultancy
Limited®*

Hn (L8 BBEARRAR

Tse Sui Luen (Shenzhen) Jewellery Company
Limited*

Wi ORI HEER A

Tse Sui Luen (Shenzhen) Trading Limited®**
#imit ORI BEARAR

TSL Jewellery (Export) Company Limited
HIMEAE (W A) BRAF

Place of incorporation/
registration and business

ABHL

RERBE

BVI
HBRREHS
Hong Kong
e
Malaysia

S i

PRC
HE

PRC
HE

PRC
HE

PRC
hE

Hong Kong
5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AAIREEER (#®)

B AR ER (&)

Issued ordinary/
registered share capital
BRTEE/
FE AR A

US$6,863

6,863 T

HK$201,000
B#201,0007T

Malaysian Ringgits
3,300,000
BRAETEZH3,300,0007T

RMB1,000,000
AR¥1,000,0007T

RMB500,000
ARH#500,0007T

HK$12,500,000
#1#12,500,0007T

RMB1,000,000

AR #1,000,0007T
HK$19,824,775
#1£19,824,7757L

Percentage of equity

attributable to the
Company

KT
READL

Direct  Indirect

HiE ke

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

- 100

MHBEMECE)

ARREEMBRRZFBOT : (B)

Principal activities
TEER

Investment holding
REER
Property holding
SE2ERYES
Jewellery retailing
KEZTE

No business
commenced yet

YRR EE

Cash management
service

ReEERG

Manufacturing and
distribution of
jewellery

HRERER D

Jewellery trading

KEES

Jewellery trading and
retailing

KREBIRTE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1. 2ATFR&EEEH @)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) WEARZER (@)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: ARAREBHBARZFFBEOT « (8)
(continued)

Percentage of equity

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ attributable to the
registration and business registered share capital Company
Name ZWRY R BRITLEE/ AT AL Principal activities
8 REEE SR A REESL TBER
Direct  Indirect
HE %
TSL Jewellery (Macau) Limited Macau Macau Pataca - 100 Jewellery retailing
TSLIRE (BFT) BRAFA] BP9 (“MOP") 100,000 KEZTE
SEP9#100,0007T
TSL Jewellery Retailing (Macau) Limited Macau MOP100,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
TSLAKEZE CRF) R RE R RFI#100,0007T KETE
TSL Jewellery Commercial (Macau) Limited Macau MOP100,000 - 100 Jewellery retailing
TSLIRE R ORI R AF R JRP9%100,0007T KETE
TSL Jewellery (HK.) Co. Limited Hong Kong HK$42,000,390 - 100 Jewellery retailing,
HIRBIAE (B8) BRARA BE #142,000,3907T trademarks holding,
investment in
trademarks and
Management and
administrative
services
KETE  WEHE
EERERERRT
B AR
TSL Management Services Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Management and
HIHBEERBAERAR B8 BT administrative
services
EERITHRS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEMECE)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 1. PEIREEBER &)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) B AR ZER (&)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: ARREBHBARZFFIBOT « (8)
(continued)

Percentage of equity

Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ attributable to the
registration and business registered share capital Company
Name BB R BRITEE/ RAT G Principal activities
g REEHE AR AR REFSL FTEXK
Direct  Indirect
HE i
TSL Manufacturing and Distribution Limited Hong Kong HK$67,000,000 - 100 Investment holding,
B ER A HAR AR i #167,000,0007C procurement,
manufacturing
and distribution of
jewellery
BEER R g
kA HU%E
TSL Properties Management Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 100 Property holding and
B EEEERATF a4 BE10007T investment
RENERRE
TSL Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Property holding
BB BT BEME
TSLJ Kabushiki Kaisha*** Japan Japanese Yen - 96.5  Jewellery retailing and
TSLUtA gat AR 75,000,000 wholesales
75,000,0008 7T KETERIE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

104

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(continued)

# Unofficial translation

i In addition to the ordinary shares, the issued deferred share capital of
TSLJ is HK$36,574,000

i In addition to the ordinary shares, the issued deferred share capital of
Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (China) Limited is HK$200,000

* Registered under the laws of the PRC as a foreign enterprise

o Registered under the laws of the PRC as a limited liability company

. Registered under the laws of Japan as a limited liability company

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

AAIREEER (@)
BB ARz &R (&)
ARREEWBLBZHBHOT - (8)

: FEXESR

i REBR WK BE ZEERA RSB
36,574,0007T

e RREBBRS  SImBTEZETERARBE
200,0007T

. REFBUEEZMAINERZE

o REFEREEMABRALAF

o REARNREEMABBRAETAF
EFRBRERMIHARBZHBRARRETELE

AEEEERBRAEEFEETIZHDNAA -
EERRRHEMHBARZHBEBERRREBE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs™) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment properties and gold loan which
have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (*HK$”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern

The Group incurred a loss for the year of HK$374 million during
the year ended 31 March 2024, and as of 31 March 2024 the
Group had cash and bank balances (including pledged time
deposits) of HK$474 million while total interest-bearing bank
borrowings amounted to HK$1,060 million of which HK$569 million
was classified as current liabilities. The jewellery industry has
continued to experience a downward trend mainly contributed
by significant decline in consumer demand for natural diamond
jewellery especially in the Mainland China market. Further, the
Group also breached certain financial covenants for some of its
bank borrowings and banking facilities for which bank waivers
were obtained before the end of the financial reporting period.
The related bank borrowings continued to classify as non-current
liabilities in view of the waivers were obtained prior to year end.

2

MBBEMECE)

B BE

2.

ImBIERE

WEFBRRDVIERBEGMASBEMD
BRUBREEN (BEMAT B REE

A - BB G ER R RE) REE R RGHIH
BERBEMBRE - RARABEFEZRE
MERBELETIN  WERBHRRERELK
RERERE - LEVBRRUETEH K

BRIHA - MABEORBREREAN TR

2 o
HFEARE
RARFE - AEEERBHER374,000,000T

B8 - E2024%F 38318 £ENR S
LEETHES (REEEBERTR) AFE
474,000,0007T * MaT BIRITERBTEABE
1 O6O 000,0007T Eﬂhﬁéﬁ%w 000,0007¢

iﬁi\%muﬁgﬁ ° fi ?T%?%ZEET/E@
27, EEEEEEC/%;E%Q%%%EER%E’WX
K TRE - RERBEAMTS - B -
EJrE R ED %Emﬁ‘)*&fﬁﬁmméﬁ"*m%%%ﬂ
WS AMP RS RERAIE ESBRTT
e c EREFHEBIIDESHE - BEARTT
fﬁgzﬁﬁ g/\iﬁﬁéh/lb@gf °©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B IS sk R M 52 ( )
2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 2 EETBGE @)
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2 IRBUELE ()

Going concern (continued) FFEAAE (|
In view of the above circumstances, the directors of the Company BEREMIBER  AAREFETHEAEEE
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity and LERHYBERFECER DREEESE
performance of the Group and its available sources of finance in EARRTHESRRE UREATARER
assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources TR o BIEMREMENREEMEHRN - ANE
to continue as a going concern. The following plans and measures B 2 REUA T8 K76 -

have been undertaken to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to
improve the financial position of the Group:

(@) The Group continues to transform its business model (a) SEBFEETEBEAERN (LHERSF

(especially in the Mainland China market) and restructure the
store network to improve the sales;

(b)  The Group will actively manage inventory to an optimal level
by monitoring market demands, thereby minimizing carrying
excess stock while preventing shortages;

(c)  The Group has implemented various cost control strategies,
such as streamlining organization functions by relocating
staff resources and substantially reducing staff headcount;
and

(d)  The Group will continue to closely monitor its compliance
with financial covenants for banking facilities and bank
borrowings and will actively negotiate with banks to obtain
waivers as needed in order to avoid banks from requesting
immediate repayment of any outstanding bank borrowings
drawn under the banking facilities, such that the facilities and
bank borrowings will continue to be available to the Group.
The Group will also proactively engage in discussions with
banks to negotiate renewal of banking facilities with more
favourable financial covenants.

Bl 45 ) [ B4R P T A4S 4% DAIR A8
€=

(b) AEEFFEBEATSHER  BHEERE
BRFEREKTE - T KRER D
EFAFE - REP IR

(© AEKECERZEKSESEE - 135
BABBHEE - Kﬂlmﬁﬂ,@\l/\%{%
T AR AR ERAE ¢ AN

() FEESEETYERANRITRER
ERRITERMBRENETFIER - I
BERHERFEGERITHHHRR - U
BRRTERLTAEECRTRERE
TEMAREERITER - ARETHE
BREIRITHER - UEBENVBERHER
RITREER -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Going concern (continued)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections prepared by management, which cover a period of not
less than twelve months from 31 March 2024. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, taking into account the anticipated cash
flows to be generated from the Group’s operations as well as the
above plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to meet its financial obligations and commitments as and
when they fall due for a period of not less than twelve months
from 31 March 2024. Accordingly, the directors of the Company
consider that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments
may have to be made to write down the carrying values of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for further
liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2024. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

BRI ECE)

FHFREKLE (&)

ARREECDERERERENEB2024F
SANEERAORtT —EANEERBSRETRE
Bl e ARRESERA - SELE R FiustEIR
BMEEANESSEEBERANEEELE S
BITE20244E3 A3 BB DR+ — {8 B RS
BB R ISAAR - Bt - ARAIEER
BURELREREMBRRANVEREREE
E’\] °

INRFELEBRRTIEE - BT 2HETH
B SAKEEENREEETREAKES
B RARELMNE - FAGEMER XD
EHAHERBDEENERDEBEZRDE
EMRBEE - SLHENTEIT RARMRER
BHABIHRT -

LEHEZE

NG AP HBRRBEARBREMBRR (4
TEAIAER])EE2024F3831BILFEZ
PIEHE - WBARAKQR A EKBEE
FlrER(BEEEEER) SARAEERHE
PEBEHRMEAI S ERESAIZEE - I
Bl NABHBREHRZEN (A FAEE
EEREHSHEBEH BN I 2B AR
F)FEERR - BNEGIEHE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

2

108

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

2

2EBUR (®)

2.1

IRBLELE ()
HEEE (#)
—RWE  BEEE RSB EA 2

o WARFHEALRIRERE T K B RE
SIELUER - REBEGNHEEERHREE
THEREHIEREEMBERBEERER &
ECIE

(a) HEEBEHRZAEMKREESEAZEZ
BRI

(b) REMEHNZHHERZER &
(© AEHRZRERLBCRERE -

B8 R R B IS R IR AN A B 2 AR R s A
FRBEARR-—BNEHAEERE - HEAR
Rz XEEARERS R HEGFA A
R EAMEGIELILEZALE -

BEMEMEEKERR 2 SAEKHS HER
ARARERARFERB R ER - EEed
BOFERR R AMRE R R TER - A%
BARRRZERE  BELERED  URABA
SEKRB AR ZRZHHRA - X ERER
B OREARE AR B -

(CES-DSAEPR &bl =Nk 156
Pl =IRiE G LR 2 b — A Z AR E
B AEESEEMAGERSDAUERESR
ZHHE o Np RREEIRZMEBRRMARE
RmEE) - QSRS AREE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit
or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a single Transaction
International Tax Reform - Pillar
Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

22 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(a)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it
can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
The Group has disclosed the material accounting policy
information in note 2 to the financial statements. The
amendments did not have any impact on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. Since the Group’s approach and policy
align with the amendments, the amendments had no impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

22 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

(©

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope
of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these transactions.

Prior to the initial application of these amendments, the
Group applied the initial recognition exception and did not
recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences for transactions related to leases. The
Group has applied the amendments on temporary differences
related to leases as at 1 April 2022. Upon initial application
of these amendments, the Group recognised (i) a deferred
tax asset for all deductible temporary differences associated
with lease liabilities (provided that sufficient taxable profit
is available), and (ii) a deferred tax liability for all taxable
temporary differences associated with right-of-use assets as
at 1 April 2022.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group has
determined the temporary differences arising from right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately, which have been
reflected in the reconciliation disclosed in note 28 to the
financial statements. However, they did not have any material
impact on the overall deferred tax balances presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position as the related
deferred tax balances qualified for offsetting under HKAS 12.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)
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n2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

22 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

(@

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform -
Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary
exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred
taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. The amendments also introduce
disclosure requirements for the affected entities to help users
of the financial statements better understand the entities’
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including the disclosure
of current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes separately
in the periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective and
the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable information
of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in
which the legislation is enacted or substantively enacted but
not yet in effect. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall within the scope
of the Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did not have
any impact to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.
The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable,
when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)'*
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the 2022 Amendments”)4

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements'
Amendments to HKAS 21

Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022

Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements - Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised
to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute
a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’'s profit or loss only to the extent of
the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise
any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it
retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively
to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 April 2019). Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as
an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date
affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The amendments
shall be applied retrospectively with early application permitted.
An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of
such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of
the amendments is permitted. The amendments provide certain
transition reliefs regarding comparative information, quantitative
information as at the beginning of the annual reporting period and
interim disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether
a currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it
shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require disclosures of
information that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity cannot
restate comparative information. Any cumulative effect of initially
applying the amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and gold loan at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or
the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best
use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for a non-financial asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and investment properties), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person:

O] has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

() the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 2% to 5%

3to 7 years

1to 10 years

4 to0 10 years

Buildings

Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement
of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. Such properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year of the retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property
becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property,
plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/
or accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated
under “Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use asset
up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that date
between the carrying amount and the fair value of the property is
accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with HKAS 16.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The
cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as

follows:

Prepaid land lease

Motor vehicles

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Buildings

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the

estimated useful life of the asset.

410 10 years
1to 10 years
2 to 3 years
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g.,, a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of furniture and fixtures
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified
as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit
or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for
as finance leases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised
cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or
. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 90
days past due.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit
risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables and accruals, gold loan, interest-bearing bank borrowings
and lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of
recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains
or losses on liabilities designated at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except for
the gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which
are presented in other comprehensive income with no subsequent
reclassification to the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-
bearing loans borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there is
a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis for homogenous
items while it is determined on an actual unit cost basis for certain
unique or specific items and, in the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid
deposits with a maturity of generally within three months that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts which
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset,
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense
relating to a provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss
net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to the income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either same taxable entity or different taxable
entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

2

MBBEMECE)

SEBUR (®)
24 ERXZEBOR (8

Frig# (#0)

EEBBEERBEAEMERR SR EER
BEBBZEMMEGFE - RNESERS IR
EEERIABEEEER 2B (RBUE)
REAE -

BREEAREEGENNITENS N IE
BEANMMEAERE  AEEHBREER
BN BRAERR —HEREYR - ERNE
BT RERREREKNSHIERN -« ik
ETRMERRERR S RRBEERENE
EEBBBEREER TRESBER - fiR
FREEZENRNBAEREEXRRAREIR
BERGEAE  ARLERAEELRTNA
BfEAFHEHE -

ON
KEEFEKZ Wa

KAFPAH WG INE mBRBIRR A
SEENREEE RRREMERESHRE
SHEBTEPRER o

BANTHRESSTESER  RESEN
AEERERERIRBETFPMERERSR
BB hEr - IEREESORBR[EILZH
RBEEAERENEBETEERZSIRR
K RN RA R EeBE IR ERERK
RO -

139



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

2

140

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Sale of jewellery products

Revenue from the sale of jewellery products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the jewellery products.

Some contracts for the sale of jewellery products provide
customers with rights of return giving rise to variable
consideration.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)

Sale of jewellery products (continued)

M

(i)

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right
to return the goods within a specified period, the
expected value method is used to estimate the goods
that will not be returned because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to
which the Group will be entitled. The requirements
in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied in order to determine
the amount of variable consideration that can be
included in the transaction price. For goods that are
expected to be returned, instead of revenue, a refund
liability is recognised. A right-of-return asset (and
the corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also
recognised for the right to recover products from a
customer.

Customer loyalty programmes

The Group maintains loyalty points programmes within
its retail shops in Hong Kong and the PRC, which allow
customers to accumulate award credits upon purchase
of goods in the shops and joining the programmes.
The award credits can then be redeemed for goods
or other gifts, subject to certain terms and conditions.
Under HKFRS 15, the customer loyalty program gives
rise to a separate performance obligation because
it provides a material right to the customer and the
Group will allocate a portion of the transaction price to
the loyalty credits awarded to customers based on the
relative stand-alone selling price.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(b)  Service income

Service income is recognised over the scheduled period on
a straight line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover
the goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset is
measured at the former carrying amount of the goods to be
returned, less any expected costs to recover the goods and any
potential decreases in the value of the returned goods. The Group
updates the measurement of the asset for any revisions to the
expected level of returns and any additional decreases in the value
of the returned goods.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund some or
all of the consideration received (or receivable) from a customer
and is measured at the amount the Group ultimately expects it will
have to return to the customer. The Group updates its estimates of
refund liabilities (and the corresponding change in the transaction
price) at the end of each reporting period.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 30 to the financial
statements.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit
or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where
an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for
the award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the
PRC, Malaysia and Japan are required to participate in central
pension schemes operated by the local municipal government.
Contributions are made based on the requirements of the respective
local municipal government. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension schemes.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)
Long service payments

The Group’s statutory obligation to pay long service payment is
a defined benefit plan. The cost of providing benefits relating to
long service payment is determined using the projected unit credit
method. The liability recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position in respect of long service payment is the net
obligation, representing the present value of the future long service
payment benefits reduced by entitlements from accrued benefits
arising from MPF contributions made by the Group.

Remeasurements, comprising actuarial gains and losses, and
investment returns associated with the MPF employer contributions
and other experience adjustments (excluding amounts included
in net interest on the net defined benefit liability), are debited or
credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in
which they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier of:

. the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and
. the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related
costs
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)
Long service payments (continued)

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the
net defined benefit liability. The Group recognises the following
changes in the net defined benefit obligations under “cost of sales”
and “administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss by function:

. service costs comprising current service costs, past-service
costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine
settlements

. net interest expense or income

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Interim
dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the
directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when
they are proposed and declared.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item
whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries located other than
Hong Kong are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements
of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of
the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates or the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly affect the
determination of the amount and timing of revenue from contracts with
customers:

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration and assessing
the constraint for the retail of jewellery

Some contracts for the sale of jewellery products provide customers with
a right of return that give rise to variable consideration. In estimating the
variable consideration, the Group is required to exercise judgement to
determine the use of either the expected value method or the most likely
amount method based on which method better predicts the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the expected value method is the appropriate
method to use in estimating the variable consideration for the sale of
jewellery with rights of return, given the large number of customer
contracts that have similar characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration and assessing
the constraint for the retail of jewellery (continued)

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the transaction
price, the Group considers whether the amount of variable consideration
is constrained. The Group determined that the estimates of variable
consideration are not constrained based on its historical experience,
business forecast and the current economic conditions. In addition, the
uncertainty on the variable consideration will be resolved within a short
time frame.

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property
generates cash flows largely independently of the other assets held
by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or leased out
separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an
investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.
Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.

MHBEMECE)

FTESHHE R A @)

HIET (&)
KEEFEHZNE (E)

BEGFTATZREZTARFIEHRETEZRF
(&)

REERAUTERESEAARSERN  AEES
ERAERECEEREXRG - REBELR
B REMQEMRN  AEEREANLREZ
AEFLESBIR S o pboh - ATER(E 2 PHEE A
RERERR

KREYEBEHYEZ DE

AEERHEMERTEBRRENE - URARH
B HIET2ER - R EMETIFEREVE S SHERE AR
THEEMEZYE - Bt FAEEZEE-—NERST
REBINAEEMBEGCEESKRERE -
LWE MO FERRESREREARTHE - 5—
MoREEESHBERIIRBRAETHEBE ©
WEHO B IHERRERERNEBHE - A
SEBZFADEHALR - Wz FabD AR B
& ERFEESIHEERIMBRETRREZ
BOTK - BREMESAINEREYE - EHED
MERIMEELHE  NEEEHRERERTE
RERNEZODESTAINERENMEZ B

151



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

152

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography and
customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are expected
to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults in the retail sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At
each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group's historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs
on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Useful lives and depreciation of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation
charges of its property, plant and equipment. These estimates are based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives, and will write off or write down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic
lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result
in a change in depreciable lives and, therefore, depreciation charge in the
future periods.

Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

The Group determines whether property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets are impaired when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
values of these assets exceed their recoverable amounts, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The
calculation of the fair values less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for
disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
losses can be utilised. Significant judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
estimate and the level of future taxable profits. The carrying value of
deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 March 2024
was HK$7,023,000 (2023: HK$6,558,000). The amount of unrecognised
deferred tax assets at applicable tax rates relating to tax losses at 31
March 2024 was HK$187,732,000 (2023: HK$125,999,000). Further details
are contained in note 28 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and
variable selling expenses. These estimates are based on the current
market conditions and the historical experience of manufacturing and
selling products of a similar nature. It could change significantly as a
result of changes in customer taste or competitor actions in response to
a significant downturn in the industry sector. The directors reassess the
estimations at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a lease,
and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure
lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security,
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when no
observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not
in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the IBR
using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available
and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the
subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on business nature and has four reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@)  Retail Business (including Hong Kong, Macau, Mainland China and
Malaysia);

(b)  Wholesale Business;
(c)  E-Business; and

(d)  Other Businesses.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Retail Business includes direct retail sales of jewellery products to end
consumers through the physical outlets carrying the trademark of TSL |
FiE B DUO by TSL and TSL TOSI. It also includes the service fee income
received from the provision of retail management services to other
retailers.

Wholesale Business includes wholesale sales of jewellery products to
customers, including franchisees.

E-Business includes sales of jewellery products to customers on
e-commerce platforms.

Other Businesses includes others.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted
profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s loss before tax except that unallocated
expenses, fair value gains/(losses) on investment properties and non-
lease-related finance costs are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets and tax recoverable as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude gold loan, interest-bearing bank borrowings,
tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and employee benefit obligations as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the
selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEMECE)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. REITER @
Other
Retail Business  Wholesale Business E-Business Businesses Total
SEEK BRER ETHEEY HitE# gt
Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ2024F3F3ALEE | HKS000 BHTFr  HKS000 EMTFr  HKS000 BEFm  HK$'000 BT  HKS000 E¥Tx
Segment revenue PHERE
Sales to external customers HETHIEF 1,846,206 378,442 328,114 9,285 2,562,047
Service income from external customers  $5M 2P Z RESYA 92,580 - - - 92,580
1,938,786 378,442 328,114 9,285 2,654,627
Segment results PHEE (216,879) 56,452 (4,498) 2,793 (162,132)
Reconciliation: e -
Unallocated expenses RARTM (91,804)
Fair value loss on gold loan E2ETNLAEERR (3,492)
Fair value losses on investment REMENDIABEFE
properties (7,390)
Finance costs (other than interest HEER(TeRHE
on lease liabilities) BENHE) (83,004)
Loss before tax BGiAIER (347,822)
Income tax expense FiEHER (26,524)
Loss for the year rEEER (374,346)
Segment assets FHEE 2,167,836 56,522 92,967 3,905 2,321,230
Reconciliation: 0 -
Deferred tax assets EREREEE 34,518
Tax recoverable RERE 5,524
Total assets BEE 2,361,272
Segment liabilities FHEE (609,490) (66,986) (11,062) (840) (688,378)
Reconciliation: -
Gold loan B2 (16,185)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ATBRITER (1,060,209)
Tax payable iR (5,866)
Deferred tax liabilities ERHEER (34,265)
Employee benefit obligations EERFIZER (3,407)
Total liabilities BafE (1,808,310)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MBEWMEME(E)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. REFHER @)
Other

Retail Business ~ Wholesale Business E-Business Businesses Total

BZ2024538318 BEEH HEER ETHEER Hib¥H @t

Year ended 31 March 2024 (continued) L (%) HK$'000 B%T  HK$000 BT  HKS000 BETZT  HK$000 B¥Tx  HK$000 B%T 7

Other segment information HihAHER

Depreciation of: FE:

Property, plant and equipment n% - BERXE 34,312 172 1,845 4,807 4,136

Right-of-use assets FREEE 90,072 - - 10,460 100,532
Impairment of; e -

Property, plant and equipment 0% BERLE 36,782 - - - 36,782

Right-of-use assets FRELE 58,490 - - - 58,490

Capital expenditure* BARY: 72,867 - 1,550 3,313 71,730

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * EABXBEANEDE  MENEE -

equipment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. REITER @
Other
Retail Business  Wholesale Business E-Business Businesses Total
TEER WEER BETHBEH Hi @t
Year ended 31 March 2023 BZ20353831ALEE HK$000 BT HKS000 BETr  HKS000 BETFL  HK$000 BEFT  HK$000 BETFI
Segment revenue AHEEE
Sales to external customers HEFHNEP 1595114 484,578 422628 9,046 2,511,366
Service income from external customers  #5VEE 2 RBUA 79,570 - - - 79570
1,674,684 484,578 422,628 9,046 2,590,936
Segment results ﬂ%ﬁ#ﬁ (48,611) 91,599 11,944 5825 60,757
Reconciliation: -
Unallocated expenses fS) Eﬂiﬁ (52238)
Fair value gains on investment properties X &WEE AR EBENS 4574
Finance costs (other than interest VHER(TREHERE
on lease liabilities) MH L) (60,270)
Loss before tax BHAER 47177)
Income tax expense FEHER (24,366)
Loss for the year rEEER (71,543)
Segment assets AHEE 2,642,115 35677 14322 5879 2,797,993
Reconciliation: 8
Deferred tax assets BREREEE 34,081
Tax recoverable ARERE 12,144
Total assets BEE 2844218
Segment liabilities FHEE (647,161) (79,709) (13,875) (1,087) (741832)
Reconciliation: 8 -
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STRETER (1173577)
Tax payable JERE (1623)
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE (23.828)
Employee benefit obligations EERTER (3894)
Total liabilities BEfk (1950,754)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Retail Business

4.

Wholesale Business

g MER (@)
Other
E-Business Businesses
BETHEER Hth
HK$000 BT HKS000 A% T T
1,354 5284
- 10,240
2979 8,097

Total
3t

HK$'000 BT

40,723
14177

4200
14,800
129,838

TEEK WEEHR
Year ended 31 March 2023 (continued) HZ2023E3A31RILER (H) HKY000 BT HKS000 BT
Other segment information Hitp HER
Depreciation of; g
Property, plant and equipment nE - BERX 33760 325
Right-of-use assets FREEE 103,937 -
Impairment of; A
Property, plant and equipment g BERSE 4,200 -
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14,800 -
Capital expenditure* BARX" 118,762 -
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and *

equipment and prepaid land lease.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

BRI ECE)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) RE D HER (90
(a) Geographical information (a) HEEES
Revenue from external customers B EFEZWA
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 &#¥ F T HK$ 000 BT T
Hong Kong and Macau BB KRR 821,390 654,762
Mainland China AR 3 1,687,152 1,809,064
Other countries HiER 146,085 127,110
2,654,627 2,590,936

The revenue information above is based on the geographical
locations of the customers.

BEREENDIREPAEMIBLES S

Non-current assets FREEE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$’000 &% F T HK$'000 BT T
Hong Kong and Macau B MR 267,785 192,968
Mainland China AR 3, 162,675 234,775
Other countries HEMER 5,289 11,219
435,749 438,962

The non-current asset information above is based on the FIERBEEER YR EEMEIENE S
geographical locations of the assets and excludes rental deposits o UABEAERe RIEEREEE -
and deferred tax assets.

BRATEEFPZEM

RAFERARNFE  REARBESAEFPZ
BEBREB R L LR LR0%

(b) Information about major customers (b)

The turnover from the Group’s largest customer amounted to less
than 10% of the Group’s total turnover for the years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

5.

162

TURNOVER

An analysis of turnover is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

Sales of jewellery products
Service income

Revenue from contracts with customers

)]

Disaggregated revenue information

Year ended 31 March 2024
Segments

Types of goods or services
Sales of jewellery products
Service income

Total revenue from contracts with
customers
Geographical markets

Hong Kong and Macau
Mainland China
Other countries

Total revenue from contracts with
customers

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time

Services transferred over time

Total revenue from contracts with
customers

5. EHEH
EEBIOWWAT :
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$’000 ¥ T T HK$'000 BTt
HIE FEFTRIA ATRA
HEKRE B 2,562,047 2,511,366
BR 75 UL A 92,580 79,570
2,654,627 2,590,936
HERBERETHE WA
(i) DEURZEH
Wholesale Other
Retail Business Business E-Business Businesses Total
BZ202453831BLEE TEEK HBER ETHEER Hi#% @i
i HK$'000 BT HK$'000 BEFR  HK$000 BEFR  HK$000 BEFR  HK$000 BETF T
ERREER
HEGERH 1,846,206 378,442 328,114 9,285 2,562,047
FREBMA 92,580 - - - 92,580
REZFPEH MiE
1,938,786 378,442 328,114 9,285 2,654,627
bl
BERLAM 808,680 - 4,018 8,692 821,390
RERL, 984,614 378,442 324,096 - 1,687,152
HER 145,492 - - 593 146,085
REZFPEH MiE
1,938,786 378,442 328,114 9,285 2,654,627
KBNS
FERERE 1,846,206 378,442 328,114 9,285 2,562,047
&R —BREER 92,580 - - - 92,580
RERFPAHI WS
1,938,786 378,442 328,114 9,285 2,654,627




5.

TURNOVER (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

()

Year ended 31 March 2023
Segments

Types of goods or services
Sales of jewellery products
Service income

Total revenue from contracts with
customers
Geographical markets

Hong Kong and Macau
Mainland China
Other countries

Total revenue from contracts with
customers

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at a point in time

Services transferred over time

Total revenue from contracts with
customers

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEMECE)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

5. EEFEumW)
HERBERITHNE WA (&)
() ZDEKZEZER (E)
Wholesale Other
Retail Business Business E-Business Businesses Total

HE2023E3R3NALEE TEEK BEER BYEEER O b
28 HK$'000 BT HKS000 BEFr  HK$000 BT  HKS000 BEFL  HK$000 BT
EmBRBER
HEREEH 1595,114 484578 422628 9,046 2,511,366
REBLA 79570 - - - 79570
REZPAH Ma

1674,684 484,578 422628 9,046 2,590,936
HETS
BEREN 645,569 - 1262 7,931 654,762
HREIM, 903,120 484,578 421366 - 1809,064
HfER 125,995 - - 1115 12710
REEFANZNE

1674,684 484,578 422628 9,046 2,590,936
KERREE
EEmERE 1,595,114 484,578 422628 9,046 2,511,366
Rz —BEER 79,570 - - - 79570
REZPAH Mia

1674,684 484,578 422628 9,046 2,590,936
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

5.

164

TURNOVER (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

()]

(i

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
in the current reporting period that were included in the contact
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:

Revenue recognised that was included in contract

]]1’1

(|

EE PR A AUA (8)

)]

RIEHVIRIIAA LD

liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: BfEr BRI :
Sales of jewellery products HEKREEM
Performance obligations (ii)

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sales of jewellery products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the goods
and payment is mainly on cash and credit card settlement for
retail business, e-business and other businesses. For wholesale
business, payment is generally due within 30 days. Some contracts
provide customers with a right of return which gives rise to variable
consideration subject to constraint. The performance obligation is
satisfied upon delivery of the goods.

Service income

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered and short-term advances are normally required before
rendering the services. Service contracts are for periods of one year
or less, or are billed based on the time incurred. All the performance
obligations are expected to be recognised within one year.

ZEUZEEH (F)
TRETRA SRS AR AR B R & %R
JIANEHBEZRESRE  AEHBEHRET

R BHETERZ S
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 &¥F T HK$'000 B+t
16,488 19,434

BHYEE
AEERHBEEZBEERRANT -

HEKEEH
BHBEERZINEREFER - HERBETEN

RehERAREE - BN RTPREHERRE
o BHUEERORZATERE - BORY

REMRTRET

IRIFHA

BHEERRERBEEER - PR A
—REBERMEHEN - RESRZFHI—
FRDR—F » HIRERRHEREE - 2HEL
BERHAIR —FRER -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6.

Interest income F 2l A

Foreign exchange differences, net FENERR
Government grants* and rent concessions B ke RS
Gain on sales of scrap gold HEFESERKRA

HEERNWAABERRE
REMENAREE(BE),/
W zs (BT EE15)

Fair value loss on gold loan
Fair value (losses)/gains on investment
properties (note 15)

Repair service income AU
Rental income A2 WA
Others HAh
* The government grants represented subsidies from municipal

governments in Mainland China and the Government of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region. There were no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to these subsidies.

Ht AR Wi - F58

MHBEME(E)

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 &% F T HK$'000 &% T 7T
8,671 10,612
(115) 845
2,047 24,288

- 900
(3,492) -
(7,390) 4,574
978 841
3,443 3,149
12,632 7,037
16,774 52,246

e 7536 B R B A T IR K B B A BT R T
REMFAL - ZEF WM EEARBIT G RY

FERAIME -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MBEWMEME(E)

7. LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of goods sold*

Provision for impairment of inventories, net

Depreciation of:
Property, plant and equipments (note 14)
Right-of-use assets (note 16(a))

Lease payments not included in
the measurement of lease liabilities**
(note 16(¢))

Auditor’s remuneration

Gain on lease modification

Employee benefit expense (including
directors’ remuneration (note 9)):
Wages, salaries and other benefits
Termination benefits
Pension scheme contributions***
Employee benefit obligations (note 27)
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BEFEEr 2 FE - FH
nE
WE - BB R (HEE4)
EREEE (iE16)
SAEHER AR E
BRER 2 MERE
(MtET16(C))
ZERAD B 2
R AW S
EERANRAX (RIFEES
B (H5£9))
TE  HFekEMBERN
BRI
EE TR R B

EERANES (HFE27)

BRELATE 1B
REBEZBRERIEBENSR (GTA) -
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 &¥ T T HK$'000 BTt
1,832,367 1,679,246
36,595 2,847
41,136 40,723
100,532 14,177
10,339 3,020
2,700 2,633
(7,434) -
485,822 473,072
43,336 -
7,022 5,953
645 3,638
536,825 482,663




7.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MHBEMECE)

LOSS BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED) 7. BREAIEE (|
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AEBZBRHATEEE NG, GIA) + (8)
(continued)
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 &#¥ T 5T HK$'000 &5 F 7T
Impairment of; A -
Property, plant and equipment (included in W - BEMEE (EREER
selling and distribution expenses) DHERT) 33,000 4,200
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENEE
(included in administrative expenses) (ERITHEBRF) 3,782 -
36,782 4,200
Impairment of: B
Right-of use assets (included in FRAREE
selling and distribution expenses) (ERIHERDIEERF) 57,000 14,800
Right-of-use assets (included in FAREE (ERTHRERF)
administrative expenses 1,490 -
58,490 14,800
Impairment of other receivables (note 21) H A AR FORE (FtRE21) 1,067 -
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of EUBRFORE  CRER ) -
trade receivables, net (note 20) R (FFEE20) 301 (634)
Loss on disposal of items of property, Z2EME  BEREEEBZ
plant and equipment E518 2,985 289

* Cost of goods sold includes HK$109,340,000 (2023: HK$86,397,000)
relating to employee benefit expense, depreciation on property, plant
and equipment, and depreciation on right-of-use assets, which are also
included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately above
under each of these types of expenses.

Not including commission payments in relation to sales counters in
department stores and shopping malls.

e At 31 March 2024, there were no forfeited contributions available to the
Group to reduce its contributions to pension schemes in future years
(2023: Nil).

*k

SHE R AR B AZE109,340,0007T (2023
& 186,397,000 ) WEEBREAMAL - B
¥ BMERERBHEREAREENE  AH
BIRE D RIS A _EFTHISSEAERIRI S -

TEEXMNTHEZBEHRANEEARNMAS -

R2024F3A318 - ANEE W ED KT
AR TR E KRR KRG BI 1 5R (20234 « &) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Wi R M sE(&)
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. HBER
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: WEBRZ ST
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 &#¥ T 5T HK$'000 7 F T
Interest on bank loans, overdrafts and RITER B RETCERNTE
other loans 79,025 51,446
Interest on lease liabilities HESENFE 7,889 9,105
Other charges HihBA 6,636 8,824
93,550 69,375
Less: Interest capitalised B FBERME (2,657) -
90,893 69,375
9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION 9. EEM&
Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration for the year, disclosed B EHRE - FEQILEMIEI83I(D@A) * (b) ()
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the REOFARAT (REREENEER) ROIFE2E -
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure AREEZEEMESEENT -
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$’000 &% F T HK$'000 ¥ T T
Fees e 706 648
Other emoluments: EHAbEBA -
Salaries and allowances e MoERR 8,029 8,263
Pension scheme contributions VETE HERECRIRET IR 18 23
8,047 8,286
8,753 8,934
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION 9.

(CONTINUED)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEMECE)

Included in the directors’ remuneration were fees of HK$706,000 paid
to independent non-executive directors (2023: HK$648,000) during the

year.

Year ended 31 March 2024
Executive directors:

Yau On Yee, Annie!

Ng Yi Kum, Estella?

Non-executive directors:
Chow Chee Wai, Christopher*
Chui Chi Yun, Robert*

Chan Yue Kwong, Michael*
Chan, Alex**

B1L2024F3A31ALFE
BITEE:

B2

=

FHTES:
EaE
B
PRAA
BRERR®

EEME (@)

EEMERRERNFAINTBIFATEEREE

706,000 (20234 : 7##648,0007T) °

Pension
Salaries and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
EEMR
e  HeRER  BAGHEIMK wE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT T BET T BETT
- 4,443 18 4,461
- 3,586 - 3,586
- 8,029 18 8,047
216 - - 216
106 - - 106
216 - - 216
168 - - 168
706 - - 706
706 8,029 18 8,753
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MBEWMEME(E)

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
(CONTINUED)

EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

9. EEM=mw

Pension
Salaries and scheme
Fees allowances  contributions Total
ETEHIK
we Fe kRl RIKEEIHK FCE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETFIT BT BETIT BT T
Year ended 31 March 2023 B L2023 F3A3ALEE
Executive directors: HITES !
Yau On Yee, Annie' 2 - 4,343 18 4,361
Ng Yi Kum, Estella’ h&=2 - 3,920 5 3,925
- 8,263 23 8,286
Non-executive directors: FHITES
Chow Chee Wai, Christopher* ERE" 216 - - 216
Chui Chi Yun, Robert* Froy 216 - - 216
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael* BRAA e * 216 - - 216
648 - - 648
648 8,263 23 8,934
* Independent non-executive directors * BUFFHITES
g Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie is also the chief executive officer of the ! BEZ T MREARNEENITRRE -
Group.
2 Ms. Ng Yi Kum, Estella resigned as an executive director of the B RHELTN2024F5 A27 BRI AEEHNTE
Group on 27 May 2024. Et]
5 Mr. Chan, Alex was appointed as an independent non-executive : FRZEFRSCER2023F 6 A2 BEZ T BB FEH
director on 21 June 2023. TEE -
4 Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert retired as an independent non-executive 4 B RER2023F9A27 BEETAEBB L IE

director on 27 September 2023. HITESE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION 9.
(CONTINUED)

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-
executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year (2023: Nil).

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10.

The five highest paid employees during the year included two directors
(2023: two), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2023:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

Salaries and allowances e MOER
Performance related bonuses EASRIB AR 2 IEAL

Pension scheme contributions A TE MRGRIRET B K

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration
fell within the following bands is as follows:

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000

BRI ECE)

EEME @

FALEEBME BN THIIFRTES (2023
FE|) -

FRAEFU B ZERNBRERRBRETAHSH
25 (20234 < &) »

LEBRRFMES
FRAEERERSHMIER2F2E (20235 : 2
B)EE - HFMAMSENHN DRME - REE

H#234 (20235 : 34) Be M FES TIFRRT
BABAMSENDT

2024 2023

2024%F 20234

HK$’000 B¥F T HK$'000 ¥+t
5,427 5,062

94 451

54 54

5,575 5,567

MeNFUTERzESHFMIFESREE 2 ABW
T

711,000,001 7T E#%1,500,000 7T
751,500,001 7T £ #2,000,000 7T
712,000,001 2B #2,500,0007T

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
Number of Number of
employees employees
EE A" EB A

- 1

2 1

1 1

3 3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

10.

1.

172

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

No emolument was paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as

compensation for loss of office during the year (2023: Nil).

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group did
not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.
In the prior year, Hong Kong profits tax was provided at the rate of 16.5%
on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during that year.
Taxes on profits assessable in places other than Hong Kong have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the

Group operates.

Current - Hong Kong
Charge for the year
Underprovision in prior years
Current tax - Outside Hong Kong
Deferred (note 28)

Bl — &
NEFEFE
BEFERETR

BNER — HALASN

AT (FI7E28)

10.

1.

TEREFMNES @)
FRAEEBEATARRSSTMES XA

(20234 : &) » {ERBER A A INAAE B
ZHIE - SHERBERAE -

FeHRER

el 2 7 5 A0 2 P 350 5 1A 2 A A SRR
R A AR EERERELEE - AF2ER
RGBT AR 18 47 18 PR BA B 7 2 ft £ B 3R B F 12
Bio16 5% B i - AEBR BB SMNBE LS 2 iR
BORAIBIE - AUREL BB IE A AR 2 BATR R
5 -

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
- 5,644

- 1150
16,167 11,784
10,357 5,788
26,524 24,366




1.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax at the
statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n. FEHRER @

of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax

rate is as follows:

Loss before tax

Tax at the statutory rates
Expenses not deductible for tax
Income not subject to tax
Tax losses utilised from previous periods
Tax losses and temporary differences
not recognised
Effect of withholding tax at 5% on
the distributable profits of
the Group’s PRC subsidiary
Adjustments in respect of current tax of
previous periods

Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate of
7.1% (2023: 51.6%)

B 15 B S 4R

BEERE
AR
BARBB 2 WA

A LA AR 2 R &S 18
AERRRBRLEREZR

SEPENBRARZAIDIREF5%
BIMEHREE

BEOUEEBRD 2 BB (e AR

BAEET I EEH XK
(20234 : 51.6%) 5+ & 2 &

MHBEMECE)

BARRRIEMBARMEEBERS ZEERE
SHEWEARBRRAIERZ REAALT

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
(374,822) 47.177)
(49,506) (3,151
5,158 3,443
(8,526) (5,040)
(2,878) (2133)
70,044 26,797
12,232 3,300

- 1150

26,524 24,366
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

12. DIVIDENDS 12.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE 13.

COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on the loss for
the year attributable to owners of the Company of HK$374,198,000 (2023:
HK$71,435,000), and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
249,182,030 (2023: 249,182,030) in issue during the year.

The Company had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during
the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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RS

EESTEATIREZ2024F £2023F3 /8318 I+
FEKE -

RRARFERABEEBRER

EREABEEBCBENEAFEARREES ARMLE
BB 374,198,000 7T (20234 : 7% 71,435,0007T)
MERNBETEBRZ IMEFHR249,182,030 %
(20234 : 249,182,030%) 5t &

HZE2024F %2023 F3AZAILEFE - ARFIR
EEEBEZERITERK -



As at 31 March 2024

At 1 April 2023:

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

At 1 April 2023

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation provided during
the year

Impairment during the year

Exchange realignment

Surplus on revaluation

Capitalisation of amortisation
of prepaid land lease to
construction in progress

Transfer to investment
properties

At 31 March 2024, net of
accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 31 March 2024:

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2024F3831H

20234 A1R
AR
R HERRE

REFE

7202354 A1H
NE

£
FANERRE

FARE

BE 5 R

BiERH

BN LiEEEHE
AMeREETRE

HEREME

2024437318 -
MR REHTE
FRE

20243 A31H :

XA

R EKIRE

REFE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEMECE)

14. 9% BERR®E
Furniture,
fixtures
Plant and and Construction

Buildings machinery  equipment Motor vehicles in progress Total

&L £B
BF RBERMSE & AE ERIR mE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT BETRT BETRT BT T BET T
32,743 20,743 492,704 6,350 53,886 606,426
(7,528) (17,256) (423,656) (6,261) - (454,701)
25,215 3,487 69,048 89 53,886 151,725
25,215 3,487 69,048 89 53,886 151,725
- 4,181 35,619 - 37,930 77,730
- (319) (5,048) - - (5,367)
(761) (1,793) (38,572) (10) - (41,136)
(3,462) - (33,320) - - (36,782)
- (45) (1,799) (O] (1,760) (3,605)
10,666 - - - - 10,666
- - - - 601 601
(15,414) - - - - (15,414)
16,244 5,511 25,928 78 90,657 138,418
27,799 23,841 471,480 6,313 90,657 620,090
(11,555) (18,330) (445,552) (6,235) - (481,672)
16,244 5,51 25,928 78 90,657 138,418
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

176

As at 31 March 2023

At 1 April 2022:

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net carrying amount

At 1 April 2022

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation provided during
the year

Impairment during the year

Exchange realignment

Surplus on revaluation

Transfer to investment
properties

At 31 March 2023, net of
accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 31 March 2023:

Cost

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

Net carrying amount

M2023F3H31H

M202254 718 -

A
EFHERAE

BEFE

12022454 A1H
RE

e
FRFERRE

FARE
ERTIECES
Bfh A%
BERBEME

M2023F3A318 -

MR RENE
KoRiE

M202353A31A8 -

XA
REHTERAE

fRE#E

14. Y  BEKRFZE @

Furniture,
Plant and fixtures Motor  Construction
Buildings machinery and equipment vehicles in progress Total
ik RE
BF  BE LS & Pk FETRE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BB BT BB BETFT BETFT
31,965 19,732 503,878 6,446 1,407 563,428
(6,866) (17,036) (436,149) (6,343) - (466,394)
25,099 2,696 67,729 103 1,407 97,034
25,099 2,696 67,729 103 1,407 97,034
1,043 2,270 49,506 - 52,591 105,410
- 12) (1158) - - (1170)
(792) (1,343) (38,578) (10) - (40,723)
. - (4,200) - - (4,200)
- (124) (4,251) (4) (M2) (4,491
35,063 - - - - 35,063
(35,198) - - - - (35,198)
25,215 3,487 69,048 89 53,886 151,725
32,743 20,743 492,704 6,350 53,886 606,426
(7,528) (17,256) (423,656) (6,261) - (454,701)
25,215 3,487 69,048 89 53,886 151,725




14.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group’s land and buildings in
Hong Kong and construction in progress in Mainland China were pledged
to secure banking facilities granted to the Group. Further details are
disclosed in notes 33(a), 33(b) and 33(c) to the financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the premises permits in respect of the
property interests held under long term leases in Mainland China have not
been issued by the relevant PRC government authority. The net carrying
amount of the properties was HK$2 (2023: HK$2) at the end of the
reporting period.

At 31 March 2024, the Group’s management identified certain retail shops
which were loss-making and a property with impairment indicator and
performed impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment for
identified retail shops and the property with impairment indicators and
estimated the corresponding recoverable amounts of the cash-generating
units based on the higher of fair value less cost of disposal and value in
use calculation.

An impairment loss of HK$33,000,000 (2023: HK$4,200,000) was
recognised to write down the carrying amounts of certain property, plant
and equipment of certain retail shops to their estimated recoverable
amounts of HK$6,623,000 (2023: HK$24,122,000) as at 31 March 2024.
The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units for retail shops are
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering the remaining useful lives of the
respective property, plant and equipment. The pre-tax discount rates
applied for the cash flow projections ranged from 10.8% to 11.4% (2023:
12.5% to 14.1%).

An impairment loss of HK$3,782,000 (2023: Nil) was recognised to write
down the carrying amount of the property. The recoverable amount of
the building portion of the property of HK$4,200,000 with impairment
indicator is determined based on fair value less cost of disposal.

BRI ECE)

ME - BERRME @)

NEER  AEBEEFBNETEBFUARETER
EER TR EEM UG AEERITREE
5 ESFBEBERYBREMEIZ) - 33(b) K%
33(c) °

REFR - FEABABERFSPIDAAAEEE
TREFSAENMERRBLEEMAESE - AREN
ZEMERFHEANEREFERBE 2T (20235 ¢
BH2TT) ©

M2024F3A3NH » AEBEEE#RALHETHRE
BNZEESLTERBERZODE  THEH
MEEBEMZVENDE BELRZEET TR
Bl HENRSESBUZ Gt kE S8 2
BEAFERHEXNAEFRABEEFAETNRSE
BE-

R2024F3A3HE  ATYWE - BELKRKEEED
BREEMCREE oW @4 285 %6,623,0007T (2023
& B¥24122,000) T EHRBEBRABE
33,000,0007T (20234 : B#4,200,0007T) » &
ERREEEEMNA L EHIREFEAEET
B FHUARESYE  BELZEOTGAFR
FHAEMNMBHBEE 2R RER - M RTEE
FRERARAITEREZE AN T10.8%=11.4% (20234 -
125%ZF14.1%) °

20246 3A3NH  ZMECHERAEEELEE
3,782,0007T (20234 : &) MU Z W E R REE
B AREFRNDEREL DN AIRESEAES
#4,200,0007T * IETIIRIE R FEREEKAETE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B IS sk R M 52 ( )

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 14. 9% - BERRE @
Fair value hierarchy NEBEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy of the TREETAEBUAFEERHERATER I
Group's assets for which the recoverable amount is determined based on EEENEENATFEESL

fair value less cost of disposal:

31 March 2024 2024%3A31H Fair value measurements as at 31 March 2024 using
R-EB-ONF=ZA=+—HEATIEBETHAFETE
Quoted

prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERME BEAUEBERE EAFATHE
HRE [TDN ¢ WA

(5—Bf&K) (B=EBR) (E=B4) st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Residential property: EEWE

- Building portion included in property, —BEEME BEK
plant and equipment B EES S - - 4,200 4,200

- Land portion included in right-of-use —BEEFRBEEED
assets THE S - - 15,800 15,800

- - 20,000 20,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs
to the valuation of the residential property:

MBBEMECE)

ME - BERRME @)
NEEBESH (E)

TXREEVMEGEMANGERTEEIZH AR
EHHE

Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range

R E BT EATAEEN@EABE E

2024

2024 %

Residential property Direct comparison approach  Price per sq.ft (HK$) 17,857 to 24,257
FEMmHE HELBA BEHRE (BE) 17,857 £ 24,257

Under the market approach, fair value is estimated by the direct
comparison method on the assumption of the sale of the property
interest with the benefit of vacant possession and by making reference to
comparable sales transactions as available in the market.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the residential
property, which include the location, size, shape, view, floor level, year of
completion and other factors collectively, to arrive at the market price per
unit.

The key input was the market price per unit, which a significant increase/
decrease in the market price would result in a significant increase/
decrease in the fair value of the residential property.

EWSET A FPEERERROENERERT S
ZEHBOBERLT  UKR2EWE LA#THA
HEREER S  BRERLEVAGRTR -

HERSGRAZEETYENTE - £FmE |
BT REBE RIFNHEFERER - UG
BEMNTISES -

IEHAERSERMNTHES - TIHERENAE
E%E S THRSEREENENATEEARLE
Tk -
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MBEWMEME(E)

15.

180

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Carrying amount at beginning of year FYRIRMEE
Transfer from property, plant and equipment EEB Y% - BEL&E
Transfer from prepaid land lease EEeEMN I EE

NABEABRMEED
FEK Wk (P E6)

FRIBRE(E

Net (losses)/gains from a fair value
adjustment (note 6)

Carrying amount at end of year

The Group’s investment properties consist of industrial properties in
Hong Kong. The investment properties were revalued on 31 March 2024
based on valuations performed by CBRE Advisory Hong Kong Limited,
independent professionally qualified valuer, at HK$151,910,000. Each year,
the directors of the Group decide which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection criteria
include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. Management have discussions with
the valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed at each annual reporting date.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further details of which are included in note 16 to the financial
statements.

At 31 March 2024, the Group’s investment properties with a total carrying
amount of HK$151,910,000 (2023: HK$69,300,000) were pledged as
security for the banking facilities granted to the Group. Further details are
disclosed in notes 33(a) and 33(b) to the financial statements.

15.

BREYE
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BB T T
69,300 26,803
15,414 35,198
74,586 2,725
(7,390) 4,574
151,910 69,300

AEEZREVERFEERBTERAWE - 12024
FIANE AEEZKREMERERBLIEE
AARGEMUEARBLETZHFEEGAEE
151,910,0007C B4 + NR A E F AT A AL EIMNE
HEMBEAEEYENINBHE - MmN - &2
B BUMURREREEEZEREREEN - R
BEFEREAETHER  TRECRGEEMIR
HEBRIURGEEER -

ZEREBMENREHEOETE=E  £—FFHE
B AR A M MR MEE6 ©

R2024F3 A3 AEEREEAB151,910,000
7L (20234 : #&#69,300,0007T) ZIHEWMEDIER
WU AEES TRITHREMEE - E— L1518
TR TR AR M 7E33(a) K& 33(b) °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEMECE)

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15. REWE @)
Fair value hierarchy NEBEER
31 March 2024 2024%3831H Fair value measurements as at 31 March 2024 using
A2024F3ANEMNATFEEFESE
Quoted

prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERBME EATHE EAFATHE
HERE BWAZE BWASE

E-EBR EER E=ZER st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BET T BT T BT BETT
Recurring fair value measurement for: REHENFEBTE
Industrial properties THERYE - - 151,910 151,910
31 March 2023 202343 A31H Fair value measurements as at 31 March 2023 using
20233 A3BM AT EENENE
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RIEREMS  EANBE SEATAEE
KR E oA BUR &8 A SR
FER FER F-ER Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T BT T BT
Recurring fair value measurement for: REMAFEETE
Industrial properties THERYE - - 69,300 69,300
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements FER - AV EHEHRERAE - EERE_BHZH
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023: W O NEEFE S ERE AREL (2023F - &) o
Nil).
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MBEWMEME(E)

15.

182

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

15. BEWE @)
NEBESZH E)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of DEAANFEE-EBRHZ AFFEZAGHNT -

the fair value hierarchy:

Carrying amount at 1 April 2022

Transfer from property, plant and equipment
Transfer from prepaid land lease

Net gains from a fair value adjustment

Carrying amount at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023
Transfer from property, plant and equipment
Transfer from prepaid land lease

Net losses from a fair value adjustment

Carrying amount at 31 March 2024

K20224 4 A1RKEI{E

WEMX - BE R&E
HEEMLEE

NPEHEZ WS

K202353 A31A K2023F4 A1HREE
HEWE - BEKERE
HEEMTHEE

NP EHAEZEE

MR2024F3 A3 HEREE

Industrial
properties
T¥RAME
HK$°’000
BT T

26,803
35,198
2,725
4,574

69,300
15,414

74,586
(7,390)

151,910




15.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 15.

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key inputs
to the valuation of investment properties:

31 March 2024

Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range

& (B i EATUEHERAE £i[E

2024

2024 %

Industrial properties Direct comparison approach  Price per sq.ft (HK$) 4,282 to 10,272
TERAME HELEE BEFRE (BE) 4,282%10,272

Under the market approach, fair value is estimated by the direct
comparison method on the assumption of the sale of the property
interest with the benefit of vacant possession and by making reference to
comparable sales transactions as available in the market.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the investment
properties, which include the location, size, shape, view, floor level, year
of completion and other factors collectively, to arrive at the market price
per unit.

The key input was the market price per unit, which a significant increase/
decrease in the market price would result in a significant increase/
decrease in the fair value of the investment properties.

MBBEMECE)

BREWE (&)

NEBEER (@)
TYAREMEGEMANGEERTREEHAR
BOEE

2024438318

EWSET  AFEERERRLENERRLE
BZEHANBRT  URB2EMG EAETHR
HEREER S  BRERLEVAERTM

HERSEAZERENENTRE  SFE0BE M|
B REBE RIFOHZER UASH
BEMNTISER -

TE2RAERFGEMNTISER - THERNKRE
Bk TR EBIREMEN R T EERE R
TR -
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15.

184

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

15. REWE (&)
NFEBEEZEF (&)

31 March 2023 2023F3H31H
Valuation techniques Significant unobservable inputs Range
R ERM BBATAERE AR &
2023
20234
Industrial properties Income approach Estimated rental value HK$13.1 to HK$16.1
TR &7 - price per sq.ft.
TErtmiEEe B2 EEE16.1T
—BYAIREE
Capitalisation rate 3.0% to 4.0%
BRI E 3.0%%E4.0%
Under the income approach, fair value is estimated by taking into account BEWDE A FTERRBEEYERZNSAIHE
the current rent passing of the property interests and the reversionary SEBEMEENZEHREE - HmEHEEMEFEH
potential of the tenancy. A significant increase/decrease in the estimated REeEEAREM SR eEFEEMEZATE
rental value per square foot in isolation would result in a significant KIER A/ (EhN) o &AL REFAEIE M, O
increase/decrease in the fair value of the investment properties. A ) EHIREWME T AEEAERD g m) o

significant increase/decrease in the capitalisation rate in isolation would
result in a significant decrease/increase in the fair value of the investment

properties.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

1 7 K MY R

(&)

LEASES 16. HE
The Group as a lessee REBERAMEA
The Group has lease contracts for various items of land, offices, retail AEBHEERETH %Eﬂﬁiiﬂl PWAE - TES
shops, warehouses, factory and motor vehicles used in its operations. ﬁ CREECBERAEMNHEASY - BIRAEL—
Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from \iﬁmb{ﬁﬂiiﬂﬂl,ﬁ%*ﬁ%iﬁt THAAS04F + M
the owners with lease periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will *ETEM#j:i‘ME HTA W& M E S SR R
be made under the terms of this land lease. Leases of buildings generally H e HEEFNHEABENTIESF - —RME -
have lease terms between 1and 5 years. Generally, the Group is restricted R E AT A A E AN A iij ﬁ& PHHEEE
from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. There E-ATHEAGYE ﬁ—f“T 5 3KIB - FEIBEY ﬁﬂ
are several lease contracts that include variable lease payments, which are N
further discussed below.
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHELSE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the FRAREEFHEEENREREREFSOT -
movements during the year are as follows:
Furniture,
Prepaid fixtures and
land lease Buildings equipment Total
FEfF L .
bizh- By HERRE PR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T BT T BET T
As at 1 April 2022 FR2022F 4 A1H 75,483 107,792 613 183,888
Additions NE 24,428 47,654 - 72,082
Modification EB - 92,097 - 92,097
Depreciation (note 7) e (ME7) (1,647) (112,307) (223) M4177)
Impairment (note 7) A (FEE7) - (14,800) - (14,800)
Transfer to investment properties HEGEYE (2,725) - - (2,725)
Exchange realignment PE 5% (2,559) (5,085) - (7,644)
As at 31 March 2023 and M2023F3A31A K
1 April 2023 2023F4 A1H 92,980 115,351 390 208,721
Additions nNE - 40,680 - 40,680
Modification E3% - 48,191 - 48,191
Depreciation (note 7) e (ME7) (2,579) (97,730) (223) (100,532)
Capitalisation of amortisation of prepaid TE{f i E#HE
land lease to construction in progress b AEE TR (601) - - (601)
Impairment (note 7) A (BisE7) (1,490) (57,000) - (58,490)
Surplus on revaluation BhAH% 74,475 - - 74.475
Transfer to investment properties [ EN =LY ES (74,586) - - (74,586)
Exchange realignment PE 5 (952) (1,876) - (2,828)
As at 31 March 2024 R2024F3 A31H 87,247 47,616 167 135,030
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16.

186

LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

At 31 March 2024, the Group’s management identified certain retail
shops which were loss-making and a property with impairment
indicator and performed impairment assessment of right-of-use
assets for identified retail shops and the property with impairment
indicators and estimated the corresponding recoverable amounts of
the cash-generating unit based on the higher of fair value less cost
of disposal and value in use calculation.

An impairment loss of HK$57,000,000 (2023: HK$14,800,000)
was recognised to write down the carrying amounts of certain
right-of-use assets to their estimated recoverable amounts of
HK$14,758,000 (2023: HK$20,537,000) as at 31 March 2024. The
recoverable amounts of cash-generating unit for retail shops are
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering the remaining lease
terms plus the anticipated renewal periods of the respective right-
of-use assets. The pre-tax discount rates applied for the cash flow
projections ranged from 10.8% to 11.4% (2023: 12.5% to 14.1%).

An impairment loss of HK$1,490,000 (2023: Nil) was recognised to
write down the carrying amount of the property. The recoverable
amount of the land portion of the property of HK$15,800,000 with
impairment indicator is determined based on fair value less cost
of disposal. Details of the fair value hierarchy of the property are
disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements.

As at the end of the reporting period, some of the Group’s land and
buildings in Hong Kong and Mainland China were pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group. Further details are disclosed
in notes 33(a), 33(b) and 33(c) to the financial statements.

16. HE &)
REBEAERA (8)
(a) EARELE (&)

MR2024F3A3NH - AEEERE#HNDHT
HEEBEENTEESMGFERERRNYE -
HEHNENTEEELERETRNMEE
TEAREERENG  AEMNRSEEEM
ZAEET YA B R AR IR A R L A AN B
FHEEAEFNRREET °

MR2024F3A3H - BT FEAEEENERERE
EHURZE E A G I $ 585 814,758,000
7T (20234 : #$#20,537,0007T) © BRI
B8 A %57,000,0007T (20234 : B
14,800,0007T) » TEE/ENREEL BN
Al EcERREFABETERTEN @ &%
FAEEFEAENEEFSGAE R MR
EFREEENTERETHRNTKEESN
BeREBURET - B mEEAMFEAN
THATHTIR R 210.8% 2 11.4% (20234  12.5% %
14.1%) °

MR2024F3A31H - MECHERBERESE
1,490,0007T (20234F : &) AMURZ M E M BR
HfEE - ERBIRNYE LMK ke
458 578%15,800,0007T * I JHIRIE A FER
HERAET - ZWEANEESLENFEME
BEPBRRM 4P HEE -

RBERR  AEBULREERTEAM 2 +
WEETFEEMTRT  ERERRITEEZ
MR TARE £ FHBBERMBRE
Fi3E33(a) * 33(b) & 33(c) °



16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during

the year are as follows:

Carrying amount at beginning of year

New leases

Modification

Accretion of interest recognised
during the year (note 8)

Payments

Exchange realignment

Carrying amount at end of year

Analysed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

NEY 2 fREE

HMiEE

(3

FEDHERTSILE
(K&E8)

EN

B 54 A

MER 2 REE

DR
B D
FEREED

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 38 to

the financial statements.

16. HE @\
REBWERAFA (1)

(b)

HERE

MHBEME(E)

FRESAENERIELRESNT

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BETT
153,659 149,194
40,680 47,654
40,758 92,097
7,889 9,105
(123,696) (138,474)
(2,363) (5,917)
116,927 153,659
73,515 93,927
43,412 59,732
HEBBENIHADTNEA U BREM T

3BHEE o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

16. LEASES (CONTINUED) 16. #E &)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to
leases are as follows:

REBEAERA (8)
(c) RBBFPEZNHESHBZANT :

2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Interest on lease liabilities (note 8) HEBEMNS (HiE8) 7,889 9,105
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FERAREERE (M)
assets (note 7) 100,532 na4,177
Gain on lease modification AR IE U (7,434) -
Impairment of right-of-use assets (note 7) FREEERE (MiE7) 58,490 14,800
Expense relating to short-term leases G EE MM
(included in selling and distribution GTASHERDHER)
expenses) (note 7) (BF5E7) 7,866 1,736
Variable lease payments not included in the Rt ATHEBETEYN
measurement of lease liabilities AIFAERIE (FGTABEE
(included in selling and distribution RoHBA) (HiE7)
expenses)* (note 7) 2,473 1,284
10,339 3,020
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBRRERH B 169,816 141,102

The Group leased a number of retail shops which contain *
variable payments terms that are based on the Group’s turnover

generated from the retail shops. There are also minimum monthly

base rental arrangements for these leases.

AEBHESETEEHNEL - 25
ERENAREERTEEMEENEHX
AR 2HEETIAGRK - ZEHE
NRAREFEERBE L
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

LEASES (CONTINUED)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(d) The balance of lease liabilities is analysed as follows:

Repayable within one year AR — EWﬂJHHEE
Repayable in the second year AP F NI H(ES
Repayable in the third to fifth years, inclusive %

(e) The total cash outflow for leases are disclosed in note 32(c) to the
financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) in Hong Kong
under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was HK$3,443,000
(2023: HK$3,149,000), details of which are included in note 6 to the
financial statements.

At 31 March 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the
Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its
tenants are as follows:

Within one year —FR
After one year but within two years —F A FERFUR
After two years but within three years MEN FB=ZFUR

= ¢i£¢W§‘Jﬁﬁ &

MHBEMECE)

16. #HE ®)

NEBEEAEA (8)
(d) HEEBEHBEIWHET :
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
73,515 93,927
36,668 49,388
6,744 10,344
116,927 153,659

(e) BAMEELAMNBREMLEENGESUBRMEN
FE32(0)HFE -

AEBESLEA

AEBERBECEHETHEHEMRBEENIKRED
¥ (MisE15) - ZEHENKRATERKBARLIH
ERIZe  UREEHMNRTTAETTHESH
B FRAEBERRNAS WA BB 443,000
7T (20234 : B#3149,0007T) @ FIEEHNGRE K
wEMIEES ©

R2024F3A318 - AEERBEBRI T HERT
BsCEREMENCREIRAER BT ¢

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
2,171 3219
886 972

55 44

3,112 4,235
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17.

The balance represents the Group’s trademarks which are assessed as
having indefinite useful lives because the Group is able to renew the legal
right of the trademarks at insignificant cost indefinitely.

18. OTHER ASSET 18.

Other asset represents the cost of membership for a seat at The Chinese
Gold and Silver Exchange Society which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

19. INVENTORIES 19.
Raw materials R R
Work in progress TR M
Finished goods BURL &

190

BEE

RARRIEAREZ R o ARARE R ANESR X
NEBRRATERALEEEGERE - SRTAEE

RERFE -
HitEE

HBEERSRERZHEENA » THRR AR £

EIRKTIER

i
2024 2023

2024 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT BT T

74,151 99,988

1,757 33,956

1,167,338 1,335,826

1,253,246 1,469,770




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

JE Y AR R
E

Trade receivables
Impairment

The Group’s retail sales are normally made on a cash basis. Credit card
receivables from financial institutions in respect of retail sales are aged
within one month. Apart from retail customers, the Group allows an
average credit period from 30 to 90 days for other customers. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there
is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing in general.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

Within T month HAARA
1to 2 months 122 AW
2 to 3 months 2E3EAN
Over 3 months BiE3EA
Total trade receivables 42 FE IR BR R

20.

MHBEME(E)

2024 2023

2024 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

BETT BT

89,278 90,458

(11,831) (11,883)

77,447 78,575
TEBNTEHE—RURERS - HTE ﬁﬁ’%ﬁﬁ

= XEHAW&T%ZFEW*FHHEMZHEWE

cHRITERFPIN ZISEIWFHJ@%}EM,\%@
30i90izﬁ%§ﬁﬂ & By skOER I AR Y
ZREBEFUREEERR - afilEREHbma R

BERETHRELER - R %M$%IE’\]F§WE§
HEKARBAMZEF  HYBEANEEETEA

o NSRBI Mt K R MOR S SR A R E R R
FHETHM IR EREE - BURR—RE/RE -

RBERR - RUEFREBEERAHAERNRE

BEEZRR OO

2024 2023

2024 % 20234

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

73,807 75,140

1,249 3,046

2,391 389

77,447 78,575
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

20.

192

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 20.

The movements in loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are
as follows:

At beginning of year REH)

Impairment losses/(reversal of BE S CREDR) @ F58
impairment losses), net

Exchange realignment bE 3 A%

At end of year RER

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region and customer type
and rating). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that
is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables
are written off if past due for more than one year and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

FE I BR R (40
MR 2 MBI R B T -

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
11,883 13,441
301 (634)
(353) (924)
11,831 11,883

AEERNEIwE B ERBEREETRED T -
N EFEMEERE - BEXDENAEFRLUEE
B (Planizit R - ERERIAREPRERFR)
ZEBEEFP A BAN 2 BHIREETE - HEAER
BRATREMEDIME AR - B ZBREBEN RN #E R
HAESARBEEH ZAELAIXFHER - 85
AL IA B AR A AR TER - —R T = - BHEH
—FREARRNBRHINITER N EYIRTE T A



20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2024

Expected credit loss rate
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)

As at 31 March 2023

Expected credit loss rate
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)
Expected credit losses (HK$'000)

BHEEBRE
FRmaE (BT
RHEEBEB%TT)

RHEEBEX
SREAECEETT)
EHEEER(BE T

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEMECE)

20. BEWERR (30

TREIAEEE BB ERESENRKERROE

EREBRER

2024F3A31H

Past due
bl
Less than 1to 2to Over
Current Tmonth 2 months 3 months 3 months Total
0HE SRMEAR 1Z28A 2Z3A BB3EA &%
1.4% 1.8% - - 81.4% 13.3%
68,539 7,548 - - 13,191 89,278
952 135 - - 10,744 11,831
2023F 3 A31H
Past due
pnk i
Less than Tto 2to Over
Current Tmonth  2months 3 months 3 months Total
BE ARMMEA 1Z2@A  2Z3EAR BB3EA &t
1.4% 1.7% 3.3% - 87.2% 13.1%
66,312 9,751 2,106 - 12,289 90,458
935 167 69 - 10,712 11,883

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables, net of provisions,
are denominated in the following currencies:

HK$
RMB
us$
Others

s
N
%5
Rt

REEEWERFRME ARG ZEEENL TR

RREAL

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BETT
1,046 309
71,445 70,193
4,933 8,070
23 3
77,447 78,575
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

21.

194

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 21.

ASSETS

Prepayments FET I

Deposits b

Right-of-return assets REREE

Other receivables EAtb EUK

Impairment B

Long-term prepayments and deposits NERERBEEZ
classified as non-current assets ROBENRRIZES

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by applying a
loss rate approach. Except for an other receivable of HK$6,847,000 (2023:
HK$7,046,000) for which the Group has recognised loss allowance of
HK$6,847,000 (2023: HK$5,780,000) as at 31 March 2024, no other loss
allowance was provided because management estimated that the ECLs as
at 31 March 2024 and 2023 were minimal.

The movement in loss allowance for impairment of other receivables is as
follows:

At beginning of year REH]
Impairment losses HE RSB
At end of year RER

AR AU EMEE

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BB
12,526 6,238
70,102 85,624
1,973 5,755
12,716 12,968
97,317 110,585
(6,847) (5,780)
90,470 104,805
(28,145) (32,672)
62,325 72,133

AEERESREOHEABBREETRED
Mo RASESE — S H b BULKIEE 6,847,000
7T (20234 : #¥E7,046,0007T) R FEABE
6,847,0007T (20234 : ##5,780,0007T) b » B
BiEst2024F K 2023F3 A3 EMEHEEEER
N B AR RS 1B E o

Hih USRS BB RE ST

2024 2023

Note 2024 % 20234
=S HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT

5,780 5,780

1,067 -

6,847 5,780




22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

DEPOSITS

RE MRTEFR
EHEMERER

Cash and bank balances
Pledged time deposits

Less: Pledged time deposits for certain
short-term banking facilities (note 33(d))

RekReEEY

Cash and cash equivalents

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
and time deposits of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$394,249,000 (2023: HK$549,362,000). RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Regulations and Administration of Settlement Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods of between
one day and one year depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time
deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's time deposits denominated in RMB
amounting to HK$294,143,000 (2023: HK$366,216,000) have been
pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note
33(d)).

PLEDGED TIME 22.

B ERETERRRTHERE
ZEMEHR (533 (d))

MHBEME(E)

ReRRcEENREEREHRER

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
179,967 348,282
294,143 366,216
474,110 714,498
(294,143) (366,216)
179,967 348,282

RBEHER  NEEUARBABUZRS KBS
SEYMRTEBFERY BB 394,249,0007T (2023
F : B%549,362,00070) - ARBETREEREIRA
HaEE - R o RIEP B A M2 INE BRG]
REEBRESBEREETINEEE ZRITBAR
SR ABEMEE -

FHRIRTT 2R e R E ARITHER T B F HERER
ME - BFARENNFRSFR - BHEHMFR
ZERBRIREVE - WIRARE B 5N X R
B RITEREENEROERAMEERF BT
I IR WA R 2 RTT

B 1E2024F3A3H - AEBUARK BBAAER
F1£294,143,0007T (20234 : 75#366,216,0007T)
ZEBGEHEEREUNBSAE®R S TRTEE (H
FE33(d)) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

23. TRADE PAYABLES 23. ERER
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting RIMEER  EBNEABBEZZAHAEZRED
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: W :
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Within 1T month MEA A 140,167 156,514
1to 2 months 122 AR 21,427 44,438
2 to 3 months 2ZE3AAN 17,745 23,051
Over 3 months HRiE3E A 158,642 104,534
337,981 328,537
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on EREFEIAREUARE—MAI0ER0BERE -
30 to 120-day terms.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are denominated in AEBRMNERZEAENTIEE BEA -
the following currencies:
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
HK$ B 99,373 52,316
RMB AR 91,728 77,604
Us$ ETT 146,480 196,669
Others HAth 400 1,948
337,981 328,537
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Other payables
Customer deposits

Provision for liabilities
Contract liabilities (note)

Refund liabilities
Accruals

Other payables and accruals classified as

non-current

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HAf A 5K
EFR]®
BEEE
BRaE ()
BREE
fERtE B

DIERIENE Z MR

K st E A

Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing.

Note:

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

Short-term advances received from customers

Sale of goods

Customer loyalty program

KEEP ZEHEWHE
HESM

P BHMERE

Hi AR R EE

MBBEMECE)

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
27,592 56,986
71,571 80,487
3,425 14,600
12,970 16,488
2,711 8,027
115,201 83,048
233,470 259,636
(1,938) (1,957)
231,532 257,679
HEMENRREFEREABEE -
FMizE -
ARABEFBAT -
31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2024
20244 20234 2024%F
3A31H 3A31H 481R
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
BETT BT BETT
12,626 15,909 16,370
344 579 3,064
12,970 16,488 19,434
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B IS sk R M 52 ( )
25. GOLD LOAN
Gold loan EEEK

198

Gold loan was borrowed to reduce the impact of fluctuation of gold
prices on gold inventories. However, the criteria for hedge accounting
were not fully met. Gold loan was designated as financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss as they are managed and their performance
are evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk
management and investment strategy, and information about the gold
loan is provided on that basis to the Group’s top management. The gold
loan is unsecured, interest-free with an original maturity within 1 year.

25.

HEEEX
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BB T T
16,185 -

EARSERNENRAREESEREDEHESR
B2RE - R FRESEFRETEMA HH
BT RBZIGN  c ERNBERERDNRERERRE
BREERBREATEERZLEEERTERE - &
BEEREBEATEEICABUBAE MEH
ZERCERZENDERA-EERHTAEEZ
SEEEAR E2EREEMARES  XIN—F
MEIH -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEMECE)

All bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and RMB.

PRARITE R LAEE R ARBIEEN -

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 26. FTERITER
2024 2023
2024 20235
Contractual Contractual
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
EHFIE%) B8R BETT | BOFIE®%) 31588 BETT
Current e
Bank loans and trade financing - BIENRESBE 3.70% - 8.16% 2024 506,000 | 2.13%-7.91% 2023 521,822
secured - BHEA

Bank loans - unsecured BITER — BILH 3.00% - 8.36% 2024 62,527 | 3.08% - 7.81% 2023 50,000
568,527 571,822

Non-current FRE
Bank loans - secured RITER - BHEA 5.40% - 8.16% 2025 - 2028 491,682 333%-791% 2024 - 2028 601,755
Total et 1,060,209 1173577
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Repayment within one year or on demand ARF AN HEENIREREE 568,527 571,822
Repayment in the second year AR2FNEIHREE 448,040 147,577
Repayment in the third to fifth years, inclusive ANRIFESFREHEE 43,642 454,178
1,060,209 1173,577

Note: MizE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

26.

200

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The interest-bearing bank borrowings, including the bank loans and trade
finance repayable on demand, are carried at amortised cost. None of the
portions of the bank loans due for repayment after one year contains a
repayment on demand clause which would result the bank loans being
classified as current liabilities. This evaluation was made considering the
financial position of the Group at the date of approval of the financial
statements; the Group’s continuing compliance with the loan covenants;
the lack of events of default; and the fact that the Group has made all
previously scheduled repayments on time.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had available borrowing facilities
amounting to HK$1,199,615,000 (2023: HK$1,347,836,000), of which
HK$1,060,209,000 (2023: HK$1,173,577,000) had been utilised as
borrowings above as at the end of the reporting period. Certain borrowing
facilities are secured by certain assets of the Group as disclosed in note
33 to the financial statements.

26.

SFERTER @)

HERTEN (BERELEE RTRRRE S
BOR) o ARSI o AT R BB
BROSREXHERARSEARDARELHS
SRATEAI I F OB - (EULFHER B E BT
H : AEERAMBRELMED ZHHHR | A%
BREETERER DUEROE  AREBE
EEERZER -

MR2024F3A3H - AEBAIS A MEERHABE
1,199,615,0007T (20234 : B#1,347,836,0007T)
H A %1,060,209,000 T2 B EE R (2023 4F : /&
#1,173,577,00070) RIREHKRESHH - BETREE
HAALEEE TEEFERFPTEENIEREM T
330



27.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
Long service payments

The Group is obligated to pay long service payment to qualifying
employees in Hong Kong with a minimum of 5 years employment
period upon retirement or termination of employment under certain
circumstances, in accordance with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance
(the “Employment Ordinance”). Long service payment is calculated
based on the last monthly salary of the employees and the number of
years of service. There are provisions under the Employment Ordinance
permitting employers to offset employees’ long service payment against
the accrued benefits attributable to employer’s contributions to the MPF
Scheme. In 2022, the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Bill 2022 (the “Amendment Bill")
was enacted by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region, such that the Company can no longer use accrued benefits arising
from MPF mandatory employer contributions to offset employees’ long
service payment accrued as from the transition date (i.e, 1 May 2025). The
enactment of the Amendment Bill is treated as a plan amendment. Except
for the statutory right to offset as described above, the long service
payment benefits are unfunded.

The plan is exposed to interest rate risk, the risk of changes in salary
increase rate and the expected return on MPF scheme balances.

The actuarial valuation specifically designated for the Group’s employees
was completed by a qualified actuary, Towers Watson Hong Kong Limited,
as at 31 March 2024 using the projected unit credit method.

27.

MBBEMECE)

BERANER
RS2

BREEB(RERD)  WEAERERBELSFNE
TERAIAEEEETBERTELER - BANUE
EFRENPARNZEFEIXNRAREE - B2
BHREINSKHFNREFHRFE - LHE M
AL BR8P R ARG P B AR E LR
BB o 120225 - FBEFRTTRERBUFEM(=
T FREREMRKGBUER (B ) (BFT)
By (TMERTRBI L) - @K A # (202555 A18)
% RETACEABGIERESHIMELNRE
R E R RBIRE S o BT RPN R IRR R
FERT o B LiUEE R BRI RERB SR AL

ZAtBIERAERER - RFEESCRRES T
rEre IR R 2 B -

R2024F3A31H - AAEEEEMRNBEMGHED

MAERBEMBTENEER D ARMEAEN
ERETEK °

201



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

27. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 27. RERAZH @
Long service payments (continued) REIRBE 2 (8
The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial EERAUBARNREERONSTENAT ¢
position are as follows:
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BET T
Present value of defined benefit obligations ~ REBFZEFHIRE 3,407 3,894
The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the reporting NSRRI EREU TEERE
period are as follows:
2024 2023
2024%F 2023%F
Discount rate LR 4.30% 3.60%
Expected rate of salary increment (%) TEEAER & FHIE (%)
Year 2023 20234 - 3.30%
Year 2024 20244 3.30% 3.30%
Year 2025 and thereafter 20259 K LA1& 3.30% -
Expected annual return of the MPF scheme  FEHARTE S HEIEE
assets BEWREE 5.00% 5.00%
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27.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
Long service payments (continued)

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions at the end of
the reporting period is shown below:

MBBEMECE)

Eé%%ﬂ%ﬁ%(%)
KA % (4
REEHRABABRNT BERESTARMAT :

Increase/
Decrease in (decrease) in
defined defined
Increase benefit Decrease benefit
in rate obligations in rate obligations
RERA REEF
B EKZED WAE &JE2EMOED)
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
BT T BT
2024 2024 %F
Discount rate ARIR = 0.25% (142) 0.25% 150
Future salary increase RERFE LM 0.25% - 0.25% m
Future expected rate of return KRIEBIESETEI4
on MPF balances B R 78 HA B W $ 0.25% m 0.25% -
2023 20234
Discount rate ALER & 0.25% 175) 0.25% 185
Future salary increase RRFE LM 0.25% ) 0.25% -
Future expected rate of return RIME S 52l
on MPF balances #Y) 3 TE A o] i 28 3 0.25% ©) 0.25% -

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a method
that extrapolates the impact on employee benefit obligations as a
result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end
of the reporting period. The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in
a significant assumption, keeping all other assumptions constant. The
sensitivity analysis may not be representative of an actual change in the
defined benefit obligations as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions
would occur in isolation of one another.

tt’éﬁl@&? PR EENREAREZBRREL

EZHHESRINZBEOZEERE - IRED
MEE%EAIEEE@P’LE‘%“EU ifi E At 2 2R R 3R
ARS8 - RNE TREME S A A BRI
BAHY - H&l@ﬁl”?ﬁ?"*ﬁfkb RERFRERNEBRE
RIS &
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

27.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 27.
Long service payments (continued)

The total expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss in respect of the plan are as follows:

Current service cost
Interest cost

Net benefit expenses

Recognised in administrative expenses

R ERTERA
FEER

FRAFEX
ERtATTHER

The movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are

as follows:

At beginning of year
Remeasurements:

- Actuarial changes arising from experience

adjustments

- Actuarial changes arising from demographic

assumptions

- Actuarial changes arising from financial

assumptions
Current service cost
Interest cost
Benefit paid

At end of year

204

NG
Eff
—RIEHPEMEENEEE

— AP SRR BT A A
REEED
— REABRBBTEENEEE D

REFZRBRA
MEER
SN

RER

BEBFZ=® @)
RHRES (@)
BRSNS BERTERNEBRHNT ¢
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BET T
508 3,611
137 27
645 3,638
645 3,638
ARERHNEBARE2ZSHOT -
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
3,894 1,301
(57) 1,894
4 1
(443) (1,946)
508 3,611
137 27
(636) (994)
3,407 3,894




27.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Long service payments (continued)

The movements in the defined benefit obligations and the fair value of

plan assets are as follows:

2024

Defined henefit obligations

RERHET

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

27.

BEENER @)
RHRBE @)

REBHEBRABEENAFEEZZHOT :

20244
Cost charged to profit or loss Remeasurement gain in other comprehensive income
FABRRZAA FTAGEREREZRENA
Actuarial Actuarial Acturial
changes changes changes
Sub-total arising from  arising from ~arising from Sub-total
Net included changes in changes  changes in in other
At1 April Service interest in profit Benefit demographic infinancial  experience comprehensive 31 March
2023 cost expense or loss paid  assumptions  assumptions  adjustments income 2024
fADSHE fHERRE  SRER
R2023% A REBMEL  BMELN MELH FARE  M0uE
4B1R i BRE  BRRM BRER  MEEZE L E REZD B 3R31R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEIR BETn IR BETn BEIR BBTR BEIR BRTR TR BBTR
3,894 508 137 645 (636) 4 (443) (57) (496) 3,407
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B 7% R & P sE ()
27. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 27. RERAZH @
Long service payments (continued) ARG € (4#)
2023 20234
Cost charged to profit or loss Remeasurement gain in other comprehensive income
SABERLNE A2 ENE CBEMA
Actuarial Actuarial Acturial
changes changes changes
Sub-total arising from arising from~~ arising from Sub-total
Net included changes in changes changes in other
At T April Service interest in profit Benefit  demographic infinancial inexperience  comprehensive 3 March
2022 cost expense or loss paid  assumptions  assumptions  adjustments income 2023
RADGHER fUBRRE  EREE
R0NE A FOmELR  BWELW EER FARE ROBE
4F1R A RS BRI BfRE  MEEED BEEY Y o) 3A3A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETT BETT BETTL BRI BETTL BRI BETT BRI EETT
Defined benefit obligations ~ REBHEH 1301 360 7 3,638 (994) 1 (1,946) 1894 (51) 3,894
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
Long service payments (continued)

Expected contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years are as
follows:

Within the next 12 months RERRI121EA
Between 2 and 5 years R2E5FE 7 [
Between 5 and 10 years AR 0K S
Total expected payments FESER e

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and
not previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

The Group also participates in defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes for all qualifying employees in the PRC, Japan and Malaysia.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of independent trustees.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to profit or loss
during the year ended 31 March 2024 amounted to HK$7,022,000 (2023:
HK$5,953,000) (note 7), representing contributions payable by the Group
to the schemes at the appropriate rates set by the local governments of
its subsidiaries.

MBBEMECE)

27. EEEANZEK @

RHRGE (8)
FERHI AR SUERAE TS 2 T

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
192 188

160 13
1,399 617
1,751 918

FE HAR NGB

AEEZBREBCEFIERAES BRI WRE -
AREFE(ERREIDEANER M2 TEEE
REBFEAABNES - 2EBESE - 91E
DEFEIR—EREHFRAE - ABINTTEA
B2 - RIFAESLFE - EEREREBHARRE
EHRBABNS% R EELHER - AT AEHEK
AB#30,000TT A LR © SEHEINHRTERRE -

FEBNAAERE  BARSRATSEENIE
E2HE— AR EHRFEARTE - AEANEEBIRN
AEBENBEEYERBBYIZEARERLER -

REZE2024F3ABIEFE - AEE R EETE
FirtE 2 3k 48 58 57886 7,022,000 7T (20234 : B
5,953,00070) (FI5E7) » WEEBmFP G o HHEHR
Th £ EHR 5T B /A B4R B8 b [ BT 3 AR WO bt R AF
'dj °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

28.

208

DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax assets

At 31 March 2022

Effect of adoption of
amendments to HKASI2

At 1 April 2022
(restated)

Deferred tax credited/(charged)
to the statement of profit or
loss during the year (note 11)
(restated)

Deferred tax charged to the
statement of comprehensive
income during the year

Exchange realignment (restated)

At 31 March 2023 (restated) and
1 April 2023

Deferred tax credited/(charged)
to the statement of profit or
loss during the year (note 11)

Deferred tax charged to the
statement of comprehensive
income during the year

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2024

R202243 8318
RmEAGsER
B125E
202264418
(Z&5)
FRRBERITA/
(k) BETH B
(7T (2 EF))

FAREERARE
Bt i 1A

R EE (EEY)

R2023F3 /31 (REZ)

NK202354 818
FRRBERITA
(108 BIEEH I
GED)
FRRZERARE
Mk 2 EEFIBE

EREE
20243 A31H

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as
follows:

28. EIEHIER
FRNRELEHEEERAEZEHOT
B IBEE
Employee Impairment Other
Lease benefit of Tax temporary
liabilities obligations inventories losses differences Total
EEEH HithE R
HEEE &% FEER HEFSR R wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BT BT BETT
965 215 14,226 1628 22,145 39,179
19,513 - - - - 19,513
20,478 215 14,226 1628 22,145 58,692
1,036 436 (1,418) 5,029 (5,964) (881)
- 8 - - - 8
(1,286) - (186) (99) (14) (1,585)
20,228 643 12,622 6,558 16,167 56,218
(9,593) 1 3,285 985 (3,236) (8,558)
- (82) - - - (82)
(703) - 691 (520) (416) (948)
9,932 562 16,598 7,023 12,515 46,630




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MHBEME(E)

28. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 28. IEIEFIIE (@)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEHIEEE
Depreciation  Withholding
allowance taxes on
in excess undistributed
Right-of-use of related profits of
assets depreciation  subsidiaries Total

ERE B AR
BHERE ROEFRZ

FREEE WENSE AR PR

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETIT BETIT BET T BET T

At 31 March 2022 F2022F3A31H - 3,559 20,609 24,168
Effect of adoption of amendments to HINB A ERIE125%

HKAS12 19,513 - - 19,513
At 1 April 2022 (restated) H2022%4 18

(4 &%) 19,513 3,559 20,609 43,681
Deferred tax charged to the statement FARBmENEZ

of profit or loss during the year (note 11) EERTE (FEE)

(restated) (&= E5) 910 697 3,500 4,907
Exchange realignment (restated) M =5 (K ES) (1,229) (269) (1,125) (2,623)
At 31 March 2023 (restated) and M2023FE3A31(KRET)

1 April 2023 AR 202354 H1H 19,194 3,987 22,784 45,965
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the FRMIEZREMR

statement of profit or loss (FFA) ZIRER T8

during the year (note 11) (B &EM) (7,018) (3,415) 12,232 1,799
Exchange realignment PE =% (635) m (751) (1,387)
At 31 March 2024 202493 A31H 11,541 571 34,265 46,377
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

28. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)
Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset in the statement of financial position. The following is an
analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting
purposes:

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the

FEfr & B RN R FERR Y

consolidated statement of financial position — MEIEFHIEE & H5E
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the E?%éﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁxﬂiﬁ%ﬁ&w
consolidated statement of financial position — EEFIE & EF58

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respects of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable tax rate is 5%.

At 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in the PRC for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
HK$420,134,000.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following
items at applicable tax rates:

Tax losses BiEEE
Others HAh
Deferred tax assets not recognised AERZIEERIEEE

210

EIEFIE ()
FIEFHIBEE @)

HRERBNME BETELCHBEERBBERY
BARRKAEE - AT RAFBIRE BT F AR
BT IR A ER DA -

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
(34,518) (34,081)
34,265 23,828
(253) (10,253)

ANEBEA ST A B 2 M B AT R200841 A
THREEZZFADEZ BREHMNTEMMEE - &
FABE A% o

MR2023F3A31H - BARWBLAGIRERTBHHAR

MRCEEHBEEENEREZE 2 RBEHXOAE
#5420,134,0007C °

THEECEEHRBEEEREBRAREIL R T AR

o
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT B¥TT
187,732 125,999
31,592 16,690
219,324 142,689




28.

29.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)
Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

The above unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong Kong as at 31 March
2024 of approximately HK$887,142,000 (2023: HK$722,336,000) are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of
the companies in which the losses arose. The Group had unrecognised
tax losses arising in Mainland China and Macau as at 31 March 2024 of
approximately HK$133,719,000 and HK$47,061,000 (2023: HK$8,246,000
and HK$39,603,000) that will expire in five and three years for offsetting
against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries
that have been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the above
items can be utilised.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised: VETE

1,500,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each  1,500,000,000 f% & % I (&8 % 0.25 7T
2 EmEk

Issued and fully paid: BRTRER

249,182,030 ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each 249,182,030 R B EEE0.257T
ZERE

28.

29.

BRI ECE)

EERIE (&)
RIETHIBEE (&

202438318 » LA EABEES87,142,0007T
(20234 : B#722,336,0007T) REBEL 2 KHE
REEEE  JERPBEREZSEERERIE
NAIZRKRERTAF - R2024F3A31H  &£E
RAEEBRMEEZ RERRBEEROBEE
133,719,000 7T B # 47,061,000 7T (20234 : B
8,246,000 7T M /& #39,603,0007T) R AFE R =4F
BEBAKEZEEENBEBB AR Z RRERB
BF - ARAEWHE ABEERHENTER L
MIBEERE  MESRATARLFTEE BRE
ERAIBEE ©

R A B R ROR 2 i B S S PR S 7t o

¥
2024 2023
2024% 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BET T
375,000 375,000
62,296 62,296

Al



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

30.

212

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme was adopted by shareholders of
the Company on 21 July 2016 (“2016 share option scheme”). The purpose
of the 2016 share option scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to
participants thereunder for their contribution to the Group and/or to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group and any equity interest
(“Invested Entity”).

Under the 2016 share option scheme, the directors of the Company
are authorised, at their discretion, at any time following the date of
the adoption of the 2016 share option scheme but before the tenth
anniversary of that day, to offer options to any person belonging to any
of the following classes of participants to subscribe for shares of the
Company:

- any employee (whether full time or part time employee(s), including
any director or executive director but not any non-executive
director) of the Company, its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

- any non-executive director (including independent non-executive
directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity;

- any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

- any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

- any person or entity that provides research, development or
technological support or other services to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

- any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity
or any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity;

30.

BRETE

NRATE 2 BT ZIN2016F7 A21BEAR T K
BRI ([2016 FHEMERTE]) - 2016 FREAXHERT &
MEMEART HERETEBETHREEHAE
ENEEE SAEEAEESURERKREBESE
B URAXASERZERENTE ([HREER])
WMAREEANA ©

RIF2016 FHREE - AAREFHREAIRE
RERM2016 FREREE 2 AREZBEHZE TR
FRIZ EARRE - mER TIER2EERROA
TEHNAHBEAR BN A ERE

- ARAE - HEANBARSERREEERED
FAREE (THIZZBIRMEES - B FF
HITERETREEMNIERTES);

—  ARA - AEAMBARSKEIAKREEERD
EFFFMITES (BRBELIFNTES);

- AEEEMKE R BREARREEBAER
B ARG H R

- AKEREMEREEBNEAES

-  ARREREARIEEBRERTRT  FER
B SRR EA R HEMALTHERE

- ARESEARRE BT AR
BRAE - RAEEERKE R R R EMBIRE
ERNEMNEHTESNITEA



30.

31.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

- any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any  member of the Group
or any Invested Entity; and

- any other group or classes of participants who have contributed or
may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other
business and/or financial arrangement to the development and
growth of the Group.

The exercise price of options is the highest of the nominal value of the
shares, the closing price of the shares on the stock exchange on the date
of offer of the grant and the average closing price of the shares on the
stock exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of offer of the grant. An offer of an option shall be deemed to have
been accepted within 28 days from the date of offer upon acceptance
of the option duly signed by the grantee together with a remittance of
HK$1. The maximum number of securities available for issue under the
2016 share option scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued capital of
the Company. The maximum entitlement of each grantee in any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the ordinary shares in issue of the Company.
The option period will not be more than ten years from the date of grant
of the option and the Company’s board of directors may at its discretion
determine the minimum period for which the option has to be held or
other restriction before the exercise of the subscription right attaching
thereon.

The 2016 Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10
years, which will expire on 21 July 2026, and at the date of this report, no
share option has been granted under the 2016 Option Scheme since it has
been adopted (2023: Nil).

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the
years are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 93 to 94 of the financial statements.

30.

31.

MHBEME(E)

BRETE ()

— AEEEAKERARREREREERZEMA
EBRREBRRBE 2EMNER (BXSHEM
) HFEREME &

- BEAEL¥E EBBBAHMEBKR %
MM L TR AN E B R MR RIED
B2 B AR SR 28 o

BRENTEERSRMNERE  RONERERZ
WRTEHREBRIMESHRTERRONEEE
PeiEZ AR T B IR T E 2 % H B R P EiS a0 F
R HE=ETHNRSSE - AR THBRER28
BR - EMAEBITERNAS AL RENRBR
AT EUE - R FREIREC WEM - RIE
2016 B AR HE ST BRI IR 2 FE IR P S I 2 Bt 4
B RETEBBARBEEITRAZI0% - FH&
ZANNBRRGAEERN T @A RERRARF
ERITEBRRMN% - BRENERFHARDER
BEREATSBATE - ARFESGARBER
TE 2 B3 FE 1T B AR HE P B 5 8 40 T A ZE R A B I
R RS BIR SR I -

2016 FHEMAET B MEBI0E - WiHEEN20264F
7A218ER - BEARER - ARRIR2016 FHER
TERTEI T W ER BT BEARE - (20234 : )

f#E

AEBEZHEEE FARMNEFEZEBNEHNY
BRRFIINMAZGEEEHEHRNA -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 32. #ERE&RERMKE
FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (@) TEIFBRERH
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use FR - ZFE EREFHEZENERESR
assets and lease liabilities of HK$40,680,000 and HK$40,680,000 ERHESBENERSEMS B BB
(2023: HK$47,654,000 and HK$47,654,000), respectively, in 40,680,0007T K& ¥ 40,680,0007T (2023
respect of lease arrangements for buildings. F B8 47,654,000 A 47,654,000
JL) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b)) MEETHELZBEEH
2024 20244
Interest-bearing Lease
Gold loan bank borrowings liabilities
HEERX STEBRITER HEAE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BETT BETT
At 1 April 2023 R2023% 4 A1H - 1,173,577 153,659
Changes from financing cash flow B &R &M% 12,693 (113,368) (115,807)
Fair value loss on gold loan B2 ERNARBEER 3,492
New leases s - - 40,680
Modification [Eg - - 40,758
Exchange realignment SN B - - (2,363)
Interest expenses FERL - - 7,889
Interest paid classified as NEREERSREN
operating cash flows BT A - - (7,889)
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3A31H 16,185 1,060,209 116,927
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

(continued)

2023

At 1 April 2022

Changes from financing cash flow

New leases

Modification

Exchange realignment

Interest expenses

Interest paid classified as
operating cash flows

At 31 March 2023

(c) Total cash flow for leases

R202254 A1H

WARSRER
B

e

SNER B
BB

DHERBEERERED
BERAE

#2023 A3 A31H

The total cash outflows for leases included in the consolidated

statement of cash flows is as follows:

Within operating activities
Within financing activities

REEHN
BEEHA

MBBEMECE)

32. HMEREREBRMT @

(b)

(©

REETHELEZABEEH (B

20234
Interest-bearing Lease
bank borrowings liabilities
FTERIRITER HERRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BB
920,409 149,194
253,168 (129,369)
- 47,654
- 92,097
- (5,917)
- 9,105
- (9,105)
1,173,577 153,659

HER R LA

AGERSRERNEERSRL AT
T~

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETR BETT
18,228 12125
115,807 129,369
134,035 141,494
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

33. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

216

(@)

()

(©

(d

On 6 May 2022, the Group entered into a facilities agreement with
Hang Seng Bank Limited, China CITIC Bank International Limited,
United Overseas Bank Limited, Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited,
Bank Sinopac, Hong Kong Branch and China Construction Bank
(Asia) Corporation Limited acting as mandated lead arrangers and
original lenders, pursuant to which certain loan facilities, comprising
a term loan and a revolving loan, in the aggregate amount of
HK$820,000,000 (“New Facilities”) has been granted. The New
Facilities was used to repay the previous facility, on 17 May
2022, the legal charge of the land and buildings and investment
properties under previous facility was released. The Group’s land
and buildings and investment properties in Hong Kong with a
carrying value of HK$31,218,000 (31 March 2023: HK$37,405,000)
and HK$151,910,000 (31 March 2023: HK$69,300,000), respectively,
were mortgaged by way of a first legal charge, as securities for,
inter alia, all obligations and liabilities, actual or contingent, from
time to time owing by the Group to those banks.

The Group entered into a banking facility arrangement with a
bank pursuant to which the Group’s land and buildings in Hong
Kong with a carrying value of HK$20,000,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$25,902,000) were mortgaged by way of a first legal charge,
as securities for, inter alia, all obligations and liabilities, actual or
contingent, from time to time owing by the Group to that bank.

The Group entered into a banking facility arrangement with a bank
pursuant to which the Group’s land use right and construction in
progress in Mainland China with a carrying value of HK$27,356,000
(31 March 2023: HK$28,910,000) and HK$90,657,000 (31 March
2023: HK$53,886,000), respectively, were mortgaged as securities
for all owing by the Group to that bank.

As at 31 March 2024, pledged time deposits of the Group
denominated in Renminbi and totaling equivalent to approximately
HK$294,143,000 (31 March 2023: HK$366,216,000) have been
pledged to secure standby letters of credit relating to cross border
treasury arrangements (note 22).

33. EEEM
(@ M2022%F5A60  AEEBEBAERITARA

()

()

()

Al - REIRT (BER) BRAR - KERTTA
RAGE - BHRIT(EB)BERAR - KL
HXRTBROBERAFTNEESITRPEHERIE
TN BRHERRATEARITEELHET
MREEA I —HEEmRE  BULERT
A 820,000,000 THE TEE (81
THERLERER) ([FEERE]) o 1L
BEERMERIESEBEEERE  N202F
5178 BEBERE TN 2T REFMNE
BEMELTHLERR - AEBMBUE AT
R ILEREE D B A% 31,218,000 7T
(72023938318 : B#37,405,0007T) &
75 1151,910,0007T (R2023F3 4318 : B
69,300,0007) TEH B L RIEFFIZEY)
¥EEA - DMEAR (AP EE) AR
RZERTZIMBEERSREABEREH 2K
e

AEEE-FRIBITFVRITEERETE &
bz AEBENE AT REHNA NIEE
H{EE#20,000,0007T (A2023F3 /318 :
7E125,902,00070) TE BB i REFER
o DMER (P 8IE) REE TR &RZIE
TZMBERRREEEREFS AR -

MAFEER  AREEE-RIRITAILRITEE
BMELHE - BUTHE - AEBIPERED A
75 1£27,356,0007T (R2023F3 318 : Bk
28,910,0007T) K /8% 90,657,000 7T (122023
F3H31H : B#53,886,0007T) AR E A
Wi AERERTREMARNERLRZ
IRITHAT A ER 2 IR o

20243 A3H - REBUARBIERENM
R KRB 294,143,000 7T (FA202343 A 31
A : E#366,216,0007T) 2 BB EHREFHRE
VEIRH  LAERISERTT 8 D8 A (= B 1S 52 B
Bz A (KisE22) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

COMMITMENTS

(@) The Group had the following capital commitments for property,
plant and equipment at the end of the reporting period:

BEL - BR1ERE

Contracted but not provided for

(b) The Group has various lease contracts that have not yet
commenced as at 31 March 2024. The future lease payments for
these non-cancellable lease contracts are HK$3,430,000 (2023:
HK$8,276,000) due within one year and HK$4,287,000 (2023:
HK$16,080,000) due in the second to fifth years, inclusive.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions with related
parties during the year ended 31 March 2024:

(i) Purchase from related companies () HEEARREE
(i) Sales to a related company (i HET—FHRBEEQR

Balances due to these related companies amounted to
HK$77,665,000 (31 March 2023: HK$75,921,000).

These related companies are fellow subsidiaries of Rosy Blue
Overseas Holdings Limited, a preference shareholder of Partner
Logistics Limited (“Partner Logistics”), whose board of directors
is controlled by Mr. Tommy Tse, the ultimate controlling party and
substantial shareholder of the Company.

3

35.

s

MHBEME(E)

REBEZTHE
(@) AEERBEPRREYE  BEMRENER
AEPEIR
2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
22,888 57,976
(b) M2024F3A31H > REBEBBHAFBENS
BHEAY ZETARHENHESON XK
REEFBEBA—FANRHNBENS 430,000
JC (20234 : #5%8,276,000T) N E—FE
FEF|EIE B 4,287,000 (20234 B
16,080,0007T) (BIEEEME) °
BEALRS
@) BERATBERREMIEDFRH RSN K

EEREHZE2024F383H L FEEMEA T
EBITUTRS -

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BT
98,285 169,982
71,378 174,998

JERT LA ERBB A BIRIB BB 77,6650007T
(72023F3A318 : ##75,921,0007T) °

A FRERGF Y ARosy Blue Overseas
Holdings Limited (E APartner Logistics
Limited ([Partner Logistics]) BI& 5 AR AZER )
Z R ZKME AR ° Partner LogisticsE S & H
MRS AR - AN ARSI AT
REBRR -

217



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

218

(a)

(continued)

(iii) (@) Mr. Tommy Tse, the spouse of Ms. Yau On Yee, Annie (“Ms.
Annie Yau”), an Executive Director of the Company, has been
employed by a subsidiary of the Company as the Deputy
Chief Executive Officer of the Group; (b) Mr. Tse Sui Luen
(“Mr. Tse Senior”), the father of Mr. Tommy Tse and father-
in-law of Ms. Annie Yau, has been employed by a subsidiary
of the Company as the Founder of the Group. During the
year ended 31 March 2024, remuneration and benefits in kind
of HK$2,419,000 (2023: HK$2,419,000) and HK$1,596,000
(2023: HK$1,815,000) were paid to Mr. Tommy Tse and Mr.
Tse Senior, respectively.

The above transactions in respect of items (i) and (ii) were not
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
transactions were carried out on normal commercial terms and in
the ordinary course of business.

The related party transactions in respect of items (iii)(a) and (iii)
(b) above constitute continuing connected transactions as defined
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since the amount in respect of
items (iii)(a) and (iii)(b) is below the de minimis threshold for the
purpose of Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules, items (iii)(a) and (iii)(b)
are fully exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all
disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules.

35. BEALRS @)

(a)

(#&)

(i) (FEBLERARRET RSB
NEEEAAEETREE - HiEE
LEBRABNTESSLELLT2E
1B (b)FAIEB WA QAIET —
MEBARETAAEERIRA  Hind
S BWEEREAZRXBIEZERZL
ZRE c REZE2024FE3A31BILEE
A Bl 32 A H i 1 St A 62,419,000
7¢ (20234 : ##2,419,0007T) Kl
B 4 HE 7B 51,596,000 7T (20234 « B
1,815,0007T) BN & FE W F 2= ©

ERBORMGYER SRS _EBRBIEUATYL
THA—BRERERS - ARTEFRA -
ER S E S LB RE B EEERE
7
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)  Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

Total compensation paid to key
management personnel

rRHEREN

1E R 1EER

XNFEREBAEN
hleaEct

Further details of directors’” emoluments are included in note 9 to

the financial statements.

35. BEALRS @)

)

MHBEME(E)

AEBTIBEEEASHSE
2024 2023
2024 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
1,136 1,312
36 4
1,172 11,353

BEEMeE - SEBERNTBMEMEI -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MBEWMEME(E)

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

220

at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2024

Financial assets

Trade receivables

Financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets

Pledged time deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Trade payables

Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals

Gold loan

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Lease liabilities

36. BERSEZEMITA

R|ERR - FER 2B TAREENT

2024 %
BSEE
Financial assets at
amortised cost
R E AR
ZEHBEE
HK$’000
BT T
JE W R 3R 77,447
BEEEMNR - At EUARR R
HihEE 2 WBERE 75,971
B AT B R 294,143
RENREEEY 179,967
627,528
upy =R
Financial liabilities
at fair value through Financial liabilities
profit or loss at amortised cost Total
BRARBERA RE SR
BENESHAE ARZHBEE GES
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BET T BT T BT T
FERTRR X - 337,981 337,981
BETEMENRR
EEtERZHBEE - 142,792 142,792
HoEMN 16,185 - 16,185
FTRRITER - 1,060,209 1,060,209
HEaR - 116,927 116,927
16,185 1,657,909 1,674,094




36.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MBBEMECE)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED) 36. IRERHEoEMIEAE (@)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (continued)

2023

Financial assets

Trade receivables

Financial assets included in prepayments,

other receivables and other assets
Pledged time deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Trade payables

Financial liabilities included in other payables

and accruals
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

20234
MIBEE
& Y AR R
BEEBRMNR - EMEEIRR R
HibEEZHMBEE
BHEIRE K
RekReEEY
MBaE
JESER R

BEEREtENREESFERZ
HBaE

FHERTTREMER

HERE

RBEMR - ZHER2EMTAREENT : (8&)

Financial assets
at amortised cost
RE AR ARR 2
M AE
HK$'000
BT T

78,575

92,812

366,216
348,282

885,885

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REHEN AR 2
W%aE
HK$'000
BT T
328,537
140,034

1173,577
153,659

1,795,807
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 37. 2¢RIEBE> AT EERAFEEESH
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments, BRETHREEESAEMEQNFEEREZYHITA
other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to S AEEMNBMBTAZRAEEEQATEBNT ¢

fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
REE ATEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 % 20234 2024 % 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BETIT BET T BT T
Financial liabilities g S =N

Gold loan =R EN 16,185 - 16,185 -
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEIRTTE 1,060,209 1,173,577 1,060,209 1,173,577
Total At 1,076,394 1,173,577 1,076,394 1173,577
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy:

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the
Group’s financial instruments:

Liabilities for which fair values are measured:

As at 31 March 2024

MHBEME(E)

37. SRITAZAFYEERAFEESH @

DR EESH
TERZIAKENSBMI AL AT EEEEM :

BAFPEEREZAE
R2024%3A318

Financial liabilities Bxas
Gold loan ELER

Quoted
prices

in active
markets
EIE

IS HME
(Level 1)
(E—E&R)
HK$’000
BET T

Fair value measurement using

AFEEHESE

Significant Significant
observable unobservable

inputs inputs Total
BAT BARE

B BB &
(Level 2) (Level 3)
(B=B&R) (B=BHR)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

BETT BT BETR

16,185 - 16,185
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MBEWMEME(E)

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 37.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy: (continued)

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the

Group’s financial instruments:

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

As at 31 March 2024

Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing bank borrowings

224

MBAE
FHRRITER

NEEBESEL @)
TESINALEENSRTEY AT BETESH

BAFPEERKEZAE
R2024%3A318

PRIAEZATFEERAFEEESH @)

Quoted
prices

in active
markets
TEEE

TS RE
(Level 1)
(EF—B&)
HK$’000
BET T

Fair value measurement using

AT EEFESE
Significant Significant
observable unobservable

inputs inputs

BAT EpN N

BReE BRI

(Level 2) (Level 3)
(B=E&R) (B=BHR)
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BET T

- 1,060,209

Total

Bt

HK$’000
BT T

1,060,209




37.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy: (continued)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: (continued)

As at 31 March 2023

Financial liabilities BBas
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFERITER

MHBEMECE)

37. SRITAZAFYEERAFEESH @

NEEEEZEH  #)
BAFEEHREZEE @ (#H)
202343 A31H

Quoted
prices

in active
markets
VR

M5 MmE
(Level 1)
(B—E&)
HK$'000
BT T

Fair value measurement using

ATREFEHE
Significant Significant
observable unobservable
inputs inputs Total
BAA EAREIA
HRH® B iR &
(Level 2) (Level 3)
(BB (B=ER)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB T T BB T T BT T

1173,577 1173,577

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for
both financial assets and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged time deposits, trade receivables, trade payables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets and financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to short term
maturities of these instruments.

FRELBRATEEAEZHBEERNE - ERARE_E
2 A - REARERE=ER (2023F : &) -

ERECHERSMRSEEY  CEBTHER - B
B BNERS  BEEENT - AR EEMEE
ZHMBEENESEAMENRALEMN BRI BAEAZ

AT EERLEAGERE

BIH -

FTEHRZEFTEBRRESAN

225



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

37.

226

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value hierarchy: (continued)
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: (continued)

The Group’s finance department headed by the Chief Financial Officer
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for their fair
value measurement of financial instruments. The finance department
reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer. At the end of each reporting
period, the finance team analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the Chief Financial Officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair value of the gold loan is based on the open market price of gold.

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial assets included in
prepayments and deposits and non-current portion of interest-bearing
bank borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair value of
non-current portion of financial assets included in prepayments and
deposits approximated to their carrying amounts. The Group’s own non-
performance risk for the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
borrowings as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 was assessed to be insignificant.

37.

ERMIAZAFEERAFEEER @)

NEEBESEL @)
BAFEEHEEZER @ (&)

HAKRENERMBRAETENVBEERARETE
TMTANDFEERFEZBRMER - B 75 EK
ERAERYBEERR - E8RXBEHAR - B
oo T ANEEZHNETHERANE
2HE - HESKERVBEE 2 EHMUAE -

UHBEERBBEZATEE BTRAIERY
B DU ERENEARSTRIANRBKZS
AR © T R FEERER TR TIERRR

BE2ERNATEERAESN MM BSERR/E

o

SRARMNRENERO S REEFRD D Lt L
RITERFERDBONATEEREBEREEHR
PEF  ERERRS T ANE A AN EEAHAR
REEREBETHRRAESHN « ANFKBEMER
THREEERDERMEEN A TEEEREEEE
HRST - R2024F3 318 R2023F3A31H - A%EE
HERITEFERB AL D 1T E K AR AT (4 R 8
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38.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing bank
borrowings, lease liabilities, gold loan, pledged time deposits and cash
and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables and
trade and other payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s long term debt obligations with a floating
interest rate.

The following sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
change in interest rates had occurred at the year end date and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rates for financial instruments in
existence at that date. A 1% increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates.

If interest rates had been 1% higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023:
loss for the year) would increase/decrease (2023: increase/decrease)
and the retained profits as of 31 March 2024 would decrease/increase by
HK$10,602,000 (2023: HK$7,367,000). This is mainly attributed to the
Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings.

38.

MBBEMECE)

MEEEREERREREGR

AEHTRZeRTARTEAERTER  HEE
B 'welE CEMERERLRRE MRS EE
Mo MELMTAZIEMRDAAEEZ XS
SES  AKBERETHOMUBEENEE W&
R BEEBES 2 ERIRR R BN IR -

TRTEAMEEZIERBRAMERER - SMER
B EERRBREADHECRR ZFEESBRMALEE
N A e R A TRt R 2 IR

JESE

AEBRRAFBREGF S 2 RABEB ZFXEE
i S T 5 ) R R o

AT 2 SEE DT I BRRFI R E BN F 4B ELEM
BE UEHKARZAEGFENMBIAMEYH
ZHERER - ERETEEEABARI2HAXER
- SRA T RA M T RE 2 BRER - NERE
AR Z & IR A B B (F H ORTAE ©

RFRIL I, TB1% - MATA H b BB RIE T
AEEBHZE2024F3A3BILFE 2 E1E (2023
R B R A (20234 - #an R )
RR2024 3 A3IB 2R BENE R /1808
10,602,0007T (20234 : ##7,367,0007T) ° I JE
DRRAEBREZSEEMEY 2 FIRFE o

227



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

38.

228

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures mainly arising from
sales and purchases by operating units in currencies other than the units’
functional currencies. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily US$.
The Group does not hold or issue any derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes or to hedge against fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates. The Group mitigates this risk by conducting the sales and purchases
transactions in the same currency, whenever possible.

In the opinion of the directors, US$ is reasonably stable under the Linked
Exchange Rate System with HK$ and accordingly, the Company does not
have any significant foreign exchange risk.

Credit risk

The Group’s exposure to credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to
customers in the ordinary course of operations. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk on recognised financial assets is limited to their
carrying amount at the end of the reporting period.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
reviews the recoverability of receivables individually and collectively
periodically and at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment loss is made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the management of the Group considers that the Group’s credit
risk is significantly reduced. The Group has no significant concentration
of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of counterparties and
customers.

38.

B EREE B EZERBEK (@)

SN [

AEEZRXSIERBREZREEBEMIALD B
RN ERETZEE - SRRz BT
BRET - AEETEFARBETEMITERBT
B DEEERGgE hEX R RS - REBEF
BEFRBER TAR —EBETEER ZRELEA
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38.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 38.

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-ending staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is available without undue
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 March 2024 and
2023. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial

assets.

As at 31 March 2024

Trade receivables*

Financial assets included in prepayments,

other receivables and other assets
- Normal**
Pledged time deposits
- Not yet past due
Cash and cash equivalents
- Not yet past due

FEYER R
BEEEMR - ERYER
LEMEEZHEEE

BEMEHER
— WAREH
ReRBLEEY
— WAREH

MHBEME(E)

BEREEEZREBUR (#®)

EERE (&)

REBBRERFERSE
TERBREASENEEBR I REEEREES
EERE  BIFEBBAKANKE HERESEM
BEr BAITREBUAHER - RHR2024F &
2023FIANAZERDBER D EAERE - 2HHT
BUBEENRDAE -

R20245F3 /8318

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 R
FEFE 2HREEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
SR 2R SE3MER fEb s E &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BETRT BT T BT T BT T
- - - 89,278 89,278
75,971 - - - 75,971
294,143 - - - 294,143
179,967 - - - 179,967
550,081 - - 89,278 639,359
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 38. HM¥EMEEBEREX @)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (continued) EERR (&)
Maximum exposure and year-ending staging (continued) REBRBRERGEERSE (H)
As at 31 March 2023 HR2023F3 A31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 AEH
EEEE > HEHEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
EIFER EOMER EIMEE Kbz Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETFIT BETIT BT BT
Trade receivables* JEL R R - - - 90,458 90,458
Financial assets included in prepayments, — BIEETEME - Hi UK
other receivables and other assets MEMEEBMKERE
- Normal** —E&* 92,812 - - - 92,812
Pledged time deposits BEHEAEHETER
- Not yet past due — ARE 366,216 - - - 366,216
Cash and cash equivalents BehBReEEYD
- Not yet past due — AR A 348,282 - - - 348,282
807,310 - - 90,458 897,768
- For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach . AE B FEARSL 7T AT FEU AR SRR E - LA

BB BT B R BRI B R & M5 20 -

for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in
note 20 to the financial statements.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other * WEESEEMNK - HtEURREMEENIT
receivables and other assets is considered to be “normal” when they EEVESHBVEEMBTIXEVBEEZE

ERR B R ERZRIRIEN - BIZEMEEE
ZEEEEWRAIER] - BR  2REENE
BERWRAIAIE] -

are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
“doubtful”.
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38.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

MBBEMECE)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 38. BI¥EMREEBEREX @
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk MENE 2R
The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade AEEREMNEMNER UK aEREEMEMNK
payables, financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals, LEFTER  FERTER =2ExX - HEARE
interest-bearing bank borrowings, gold loan and lease liabilities, and also UEFReETEEERERDESRR - AEE 2
in respect of its cash flow management. The Group’s policy is to regularly BEABTHERTHELE KX EOREAEREH
monitor its liquidity requirements, its compliance with lending covenants ZHRERHERITZER  BREESEHANRER
and its relationship with its banks to ensure that it maintains sufficient WMAFSHBENES T ZARERNE  UEMNHE
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major HEAERRBARBEST K -
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the PRMERR - AEBIREFTNERFTERBIFEZ
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as HaEsBBAERNT
follows:
On demand
or less than
1 year 1to 5 years Total
REREER
RIFELUT 1E5%F PR
2024 2024 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T BET T
Trade payables FERTERRR 337,981 - 337,981
Financial liabilities included in BETEEMERNKE
other payables and accruals EErERZMEEaE 142,792 - 142,792
Gold loan EFELER 16,185 - 16,185
Interest-bearing bank borrowings &t 2IRITER 609,032 524,222 1,133,254
Lease liabilities HEAE 77,197 44,793 121,990
1,183,187 569,015 1,752,202
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

38.

232

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 38. B¥EKEEBEZREEE (&)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (continued)

REELRR (8

On demand

or less than
1 year 1to 5 years Total

RERER
FIFUAT 1254 s
2023 20234 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BB T T
Trade payables FETERK 328,537 - 328,537

Financial liabilities included in BETEMENRE

other payables and accruals EAERAZUEEE 140,034 - 140,034
Interest-bearing bank borrowings s+ ERITE K 610,858 657,447 1,268,305
Lease liabilities HEAE 108,232 76,645 184,877
1,187,661 734,092 1,921,753

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s term loans with a repayment on demand
clause in the amount of HK$422,527,000 (2023: HK$425,000,000) were
repayable within one year in accordance with the terms of the loans. The
loan agreements contained a repayment on demand clause giving the
bank the unconditional right to call in the loan at any time and therefore,
for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the total amount was
classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe that these
bank loans will be called in its entirety within 12 months, and they consider
that these borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the maturity
dates as set out in the loan agreements. This evaluation was made
considering: the financial position of the Group at the date of approval
of the financial statements; bank waivers were obtained before the end
of financial reporting period for breaching certain financial covenants;
the lack of events of default, and the fact that the Group has made all
previously scheduled repayments on time.

HZE2024F3A8218  AEEZEREZEKRZ
REERABHBEE422,527,0007T (20234 : B
425,000,0007T) * JHZBEZHIERAER —FAE
B ZERBEESREREEGRR  BTRITE
IR REFIBERS 2 EEZER - Fib gt b at B HR
NZERZBeBWIERRERERE] -

BE LR EEATBAZSFRITETERI2
BEARKER2PER - MEOCMRRELERS
ERENERBHEOD A EE - WFESZEN
THRE: AEERAPBRRZOER 2P BAHOR
AEERPBREFNERNERIZRNETER
RERFRITHE O RERNERAEE BT ER
BRZEBR -



38.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares.

The Group monitors capital using net gearing ratio, which is total
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and pledged time deposits
divided by total equity of the Group. Total borrowings include interest-
bearing bank borrowings and gold loan. The net gearing ratios as at the
end of the years were as follows:

Total equity BRI

Total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents — EEERBE RBEELZED
and pledged time deposits REHER

Debt to equity ratio FRERE

38.

MBBEMECE)

BEREEEZREBUR (#®)

BEARERR
AEEEATE Y TBEEARBAEERBEFY

EBZREN  UHFKREBZERLE  UXHEZE
B RIG IR 2 (BE -

REHEREEARE  WREBEERRE B K AE
MEEZRBRSEHEFELFE - BEFIRAEE
RER  AEETERAEANRIRNG RS - EQ
BARTBREREIEITHR

FEENAFAELXERER - AREEOEE
ERReRReEBYREEMENER - RUAE
B  REEERRBAESRTEREEEZER -1
WERRFAELEOT -

2024 2023
2024% 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
552,962 893,464
602,284 459,079

108.9% 51.4%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 39. Bt#iRRsR&

(a) Information about the statement of financial position of the (a) ARTHHBARTBENBERRAT :
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BETT BB
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE

Interest in subsidiaries NG 2 513,119 692,159
513,119 692,159

CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments and deposits BRREES 268 217
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBELEEY 297 287
565 504

CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Other payables and accruals Hip e R ERE R (2,493) (2,294)
(2,493) (2,294)

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RB S EFE (1,928)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERREARE 511,191 690,369

NET ASSETS 511,191 690,369

EQUITY

Issued capital (62,296)
Reserves (628,073)

TOTAL EQUITY (511,191) (690,369)

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 EESN2024F6 A28 BFZ AW A FIEE o .
June 2024,

Yau On Yee, Annie EBZ
Director %

AN NN
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY  39.

(CONTINUED)

(b) A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

At 1 April 2022

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Dividend paid during the year

At 31 March 2023
and 1 April 2023
Total comprehensive loss for the year

At 31 March 2024

202264 A1R
HEFEEHWEER
FRIRBE

R2023F3A3IAK
2023%4A1H
AEEEHEERAR

2024463 A31H

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBBEMECE)

B FE AR R 3R 3% (®)

(b) AARZEEREMT

Share  Contributed Retained Proposed

premium surplus profits dividend Total
B 17 (E ERRH REBRAF FIRAR S B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT BT T BT T BT T
122,0M 14,770 490,281 4,984 632,046

- - 1,0Mm - 1,0m

- - - (4,984) (4,984)
122,01 14,770 491,292 - 628,073
- - (179,178) - (179,178)

122,011 14,770 312,114 - 448,895
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
MBEWMEME(E)

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

@

(i)

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of
shares at a price in excess of their par value per share.

Capital reserve include the difference between the aggregate
nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries and
their combined net assets acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation and restructuring.

Other reserves include statutory reserve, exchange
fluctuation reserve and asset revaluation reserve. Statutory
reserve is appropriated from the profit after taxation of
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries under the applicable laws
and regulations in the PRC, while exchange fluctuation
reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. Exchange reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the material accounting policies set out in note 2.4 to
the financial statements. The asset revaluation reserve arose
from the changes in use from owner-occupied properties to
an investment properties.

40. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

236

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 28 June 2024.

39.

40.

B A AR OR #R 3k (®)
(o) REMERE®
() ROEEEEREBEREEY BE%

(i)

TR FESEE

ERBEREMNBAR ZARAEE
RBEEEERRERR 2 FEE -

HivEHBIBAERE  INELBHEE
MEEEMRHE R TRHEZRIET
TR AR FROEMR B AN B R B
BRARZBREBFEN - o EE
PRBEEREFIEBYBHRRESL
ZPREERERE - ZREHRRMBHEER
fist24prEiER G ERRE - BAY
EXERBREULTBEFEZHRED
¥ EMELEESMHRHE

UL E oA 1]
R B WER 202456 A28 BIEE FE UL RIFTE

FigE -



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LFEHMHGHR

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling AEBRBERETKRFE 2 EEREE - BERIEER
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the MRFEHZ @ WA AMHZEERUBRRELEY &
published audited financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate,  #0#8 (2@ ) - HFWMF -

is set out below.

RESULTS 4
Year ended 31 March
BE3ANBLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20224 20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETIT BT BT T BT T
TURNOVER F S 2,654,627 2,590,936 2,767,788 2,648,600 2,913,827
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX B#Hial (F5#8), &F (347,822) (47,177) (60,028)
Income tax expense st & A (26,524) (24,366) (45,088) (43,078) (29,726)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A& (F#) &7 (374,346) (44,089) (89,754)
Attributable to: R -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE Z SN (374,198) (71,435) 15,546 (43,980) (89,670)
Non-controlling interests SEIERR IR R S 148) (108) (132) (109) (84)

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ZEE (F#8), &2 (374,346) (44,089) (89,754)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
TFEHMBHMEE)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS EE BERFEZERBRREES
As at 31 March
MW3A31H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

20244 20234 20224 20214F 20204

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BET T BT T BT T BET T

Non-current assets ERBEE 488,620 497,098 371,349 310,730 495,091

Current assets MENEE 1,872,652 2,347,120 2,335,818 2,220,290 2,213,824

2,361,272 2,844,218 2,707,167 2,531,020 2,708,915

Current liabilities nBAE (1,233,606) (1,259,588) (1,571,121) (1,103,964) (1,135,351)

Non-current liabilities FERBEE (574,704) (691,166) (88,001 (485,100) (673,477)

Net assets BEFE 552,962 893,464 1,048,045 941,956 900,087

Issued capital BEITRA (62,296) (62,296) (62,296) (62,296) (62,296)

Reserves i (491,429) (831,762) (986,183) (879,911 (837,918)
Equity attributable to owners RAEHER A

of the Company fEIG S 48R (553,725) (894,058) (1,048,479) (942,207) (900,214)

Non-controlling interests FEFE AR AR R AE 2 763 594 434 251 127

Total equity S4B R (552,962) (893,464)  (1,048,045) (941,956) (900,087)
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Owner-occupied Properties

EREEYES

Address

b

Private Car Parking Space Nos. 43-50 and 73, Basement, and
Lorry Car Parking Space Nos. 1-6, 11and 14, st Floor Summit
Building, 30 Man Yue Street, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BRNEIWRAREI0ONEEIHAEMEIZ-S0RK
TIRAFERBA L2165 - 1 R4FEE RS

Units AT - A7, B, Front and Rear Portion,
Storeroom No.3 and 5, Ground Floor;
Units AT- A3 and B, Ist Floor;

Unit E - H, 2nd Floor, and

Units F - K and Flat Roof, 3rd Floor
Summit Building, 30 Man Yue Street,
Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BRNEOMRAEI0OFAEETIHAE
MTA-ATER - BB - AIAE S - IRSHRDE
—BA-AZE RBEN  ZIBE-HER R
B KB RTS

Flat A, 21st Floor, Block 7, Parc Palais, No.18 Wylie Road
Kowloon, Hong Kong

BBNEAEBBEERIETENBAZR

No0.248 Fuyong Village, Shawan Town, Panyu District,
Guangzhou

ENTERRD ERBRIERERK 2405

Unit ATon Level Tand 2, Block 2, Heng Chang Garden, Beijing,
PRC
PR RMEE LR E—EZEAIE

Use
)=

Own use

a8

Own use

B8H

Own use

BH

Own use

=R

Own use

am

SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES

Gross

Floor Area
(Square Feet)
BEEE
(£FR)

N/A

77170

1,245

377,748

1,654

Percentage
interest in
property

ES S

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

MR E
Tenure Type
FHNDE BE
M C
M
M R
M F
M R
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SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
MEBE(E)

Address

it

Use

R#&

Flat 01, 23rd Floor, Block F, Beijing Rome Garden, Cao Hui Own use

Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC
FEERTHEEEERESER
FE-+=B15Z

Investment Properties

BREME

N/A:

240

Address

3k

Unit C, Ist Floor and Units A - E, 3rd Floor
Summit Building, 30 Man Yue Street, Hung Hom,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
EENEAHRMEIORELIEAE
—BCEMR=IEA - EBA

Units A and B, 1st Floor, Shui Ki Industrial Building, No.

18, Wong Chuk Hang Road, Aberdeen, Hong Kong
BREBBHEMNEBT R IEAE—BAZBEN

Long term lease
Medium term lease
Carpark

Industrial unit
Residential

Not applicable

Factory

BA

Lot number

HBERET:

Kowloon Marine
Lot No. 40

ABERDEEN INLAND
LOT NO. 343

Gross Percentage
Floor Area interest in
(Square Feet) property Tenure Type
BEHE

(FAR) NEEBLE  FHNIE 0 EE

Use

itk

Rental

et

Rental

st

N/A:

1735 100% M R

Gross Percentage

Floor Area interest in
(Square Feet) property Tenure
EEHE

(FER) xgibE FHNIE

16,819 100% M
10,716 100% L

REOBEZY

FHEIEERY

pEE s

IXA

FEMA

NiER

[t

Type

ER






T S L | # ¥ %

VA

FSC

www.fsc.org

MIX

Paper | Supporting
responsible forestry

FSC® C021898




	COVER
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
	AWARDS AND ACCOLADES
	THE TSL | 謝瑞麟 FOUNDATION
	REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	SUMMARY OF PROPERTIES
	INSIDE BACK COVER
	BACK COVER



